Resource-Constrained Pathways to Carbon-Neutral Aviation in Germany

Assessment of Sustainable Aviation Fuel (SAF) Strategies



In partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree Master of Science in Power Engineering at the Chair of Renewable and Sustainable Energy Systems (ENS) of the Technical University of Munich.

Advisor	Dr. Pablo Silva Oritz, Prof. Dr. Agnes Jocher		
	Assistant Professorship of Sustainable Future Mobility, TUM Campus Garching		
	Thushara Addanki, M.Sc., Prof. Dr. Thomas Hamacher		
	Chair of Renewable and Sustainable Energy Systems, TUM Campus Garching		
Submitted by	Syed Zohaib Ahmed		
	Matriculation Number: 03736110		
	sz.ahmed@tum.de, engrzohaibahmed63@gmail.com		
Submitted on	Munich, 18.12.2023		

Abstract

In the aviation sector, there is a collective vision for achieving "net-zero" operations by midcentury, aligning with global decarbonization targets such as COP21 and regional goals, such as the EU's "Fit for 55" Package and "ReFuelEU Aviation" directives. Despite this vision, it is acknowledged that the current pace of development and advancements may not be sufficient to meet the set targets within the given timeline. Cognizant of the need for GHG emission reduction in the aviation sector, the German government is actively advocating for measures to decrease overall emissions. This advocacy is anticipated to drive a substantial increase in demand for Sustainable Aviation Fuels (SAFs) in the years to come. The focus extends beyond traditional Power-to-Liquid fuels, with consideration given to the production of biogenic SAFs. The current status of the aviation sector entails a global or country-level analysis of specific requirements for fuels, infrastructure, and regulatory frameworks. While numerous publications delve into SAF production, there is a need for a comprehensive exploration of supply-side constraints, economic considerations, and other sustainability drivers within the sector. To address these gaps, this contribution aims to evaluate the potential of producing biogenic and non-biogenic SAFs in Germany. The analysis will encompass environmental, technical, and commercial aspects of various aviation fuel production pathways, adhering to approved ASTM D7566 standard and expected amendments.

The objective is to provide a thorough understanding of current and future SAF aspirations in Germany. Additionally, this investigation seeks to optimize emissions and costs, identifying potential pathways that may contribute to the decarbonization of aviation in Germany. The focus is on harnessing the potential of the German market to produce SAFs from indigenous biogenic feedstocks and e-fuels from renewable electricity. Importantly, this approach eliminates reliance on international imports of feedstocks or fuels, aligning with the country's commitment to developing a self-reliant energy market that supports its decarbonization targets. The findings underscore certain growth limitations, particularly regarding land use and regulatory frameworks in Germany. These constraints restrict the maximum potential of biogenic fuels to 12% (average) until 2050, with most scenarios falling short of exceeding 10% (average) energy substitution. Therefore, a significant contribution of non-biogenic SAF pathways is expected to meet the German aviation targets.

Keywords: Sustainable Aviation Fuels, Regional Demand, Biofuels, E-Fuels, Regulation

Statement of Academic Integrity

١,

Last name:	Ahmed
First name:	Syed Zohaib
ID No.:	03736110

Hereby confirm that the attached thesis,

Resource-Constrained Pathways to Carbon-Neutral Aviation in Germany – Assessment of Sustainable Aviation Fuel (SAF) Strategies

Was written independently by me without use of any sources or aids beyond those cited, and all passages and ideas taken from other sources are indicated in the text and given the corresponding citation.

I confirm to respect the "Code of Conduct for Safeguarding Good Academic Practice and Procedures in Cases of Academic Misconduct at Technische Universität München, 2015", as can be read on the website of the Equal Opportunity Office of TUM.

Tools provided by the chair and its staff, such as models or programmes, are also listed. These tools are property of the institute or of the individual staff members. I will not use them for any work beyond the attached thesis or make them available to third parties.

I agree to the further use of my work and its results including programmes produced and methods used for research and instructional purposes.

I have not previously submitted this thesis for academic credit.

Munich, December, 18, 2023.

(Bearbeiter: Ahmed, Syed Zohaib)

Declaration for the Transfer of the Thesis

I agree to the transfer of this thesis to:

• Students currently or in future writing their thesis at the chair:

Flat rate by students

- □ Only after particular prior consultation.
- Present or future employees at the chair:

Flat rate by employees

□ Only after particular prior consultation.

My copyright and personal right of use remain unaffected.

Munich, December, 18, 2023.

(Operator: Ahmed, Syed Zohaib)

Foreword



"A picture is worth a thousand words."Napolean Bonaparte (1769-1821)

The work done originates from a place of passion, driven by an acute sense of responsibility, and frankly, from a sense of debt that we collectively owe to the generations to come. The decisions and policies we make right now, and the path we take would come under scrutiny by our successors – a realization that demands our collective attention.

I am certainly wishful that this scientific contribution, no matter how trivial, may guide someone, someday, somewhere, to make a decision that would enable us to steer away from the climate calamity that lies directly ahead of us.

The writing of this master thesis has been an enlightening journey and would have not been possible without the unrelenting love and support of my beloved parents, family, and friends.

In particular, I would like to thank Dr. Pablo Silva Oritz and Thushara Addanki for their continued support, patience, and more importantly their time. I am deeply obliged by your generosity and sense of professionalism.

For all the people involved, I extend my sincerest of gratitude.

Syed Zohaib Ahmed December 2023

Table of Contents

Abstract	t	I	
Stateme	ent of Academic Integrity	II	
Declarat	tion for the Transfer of the Thesis	III	
Forewor	rd	IV	
Table of	f Contents	V	
Table of	f Figures	VIII	
Table of	f Tables	XI	
Abbrevia	ations	XII	
1. Intro	oduction	1	
1.1.	Global Alignment to Sustainability	1	
1.2.	The Path Towards Sustainability in Aviation	2	
1.3.	Aspirational Targets	2	
1.4.	Market-Based Measures: CORSIA and EU ETS	3	
1.5.	Original Contributions	5	
1.6.	Structure of the Thesis	6	
2. Stat	tus Quo in Germany	8	
2.1.	Aviation in Germany	8	
2.1.	.1. Energy Consumption	8	
2.1.	.2. Aviation Related Emissions	9	
2.2.	German Aviation in the Light of Climate Targets		
2.2.	.1. Legislative Framework		
2.2.3	.2. Effects on the Aviation Sector		
2.2.3	.3. Existing SAF Production Facilities		
2.3.	Renewable Energy and Expansion Targets		
2.4.	Biofuels Production in Germany		
2.5.	Energy Crops Cultivation – Land Usage and Potential		
2.0.	Availability of Feedstocks	10	
2.0.	2 2 nd Concration/Advance Ecodetocks	10	
2.0.	2 Competing Sectors		
3 Pote	ential Sustainable Aviation Pathways		
3.1	Conventional let Fuel	22	
3.2	Certification of Aviation Fuels	22	
3.3	Drop-in and Non-Drop-in Alternatives	22	
3.4	3.4. Sustainable Aviation Fuels 24		
3.4.	.1. Biomass-based SAF		

3.4.2.	Electricity-based SAF	29
3.4.3.	Hybrid SAF	30
3.5. SA	F Assessment Framework	30
3.5.1.	Availability Dimension	30
3.5.2.	Viability Dimension	30
3.5.3.	Sustainability Dimension	31
3.6. She	ort-listed Pathways	33
4. Aviatior	energy Demand Modelling	38
4.1. Pre	amble	38
4.2. For	ecast Model and Key Variables	39
4.2.1.	Description	39
4.2.2.	GDP Growth vis-à-vis Aviation Demand	41
4.2.3.	Fuel Efficiency Improvements vis-à-vis Aviation Demand	43
4.2.4.	Population Growth in Germany	46
4.2.5.	Cost of Flying impact on Aviation Demand	46
4.2.6.	Seasonality in German Aviation Sector	47
4.3. Mu	Itivariate Regression Analysis and Modelled Demand	48
4.4. Avi	ation Demand Forecast	51
4.4.1.	Demand Curves	51
4.4.2.	Comparative Analysis	52
4.5. Alte	ernate Propulsion Technologies' Impact on Forecasted Demand	53
4.5.1.	Technical Parameters	53
4.5.2.	Adjusted Demand Curves	55
5. Assess	ment of Biogenic Pathways in the Light of Foreseeable Aviation Demand .	57
5.1. Pre	amble	57
5.2. Bio	genic Pathways	57
5.2.1.	Hydroprocessed Esters and Fatty Acid (HEFA) Pathways	58
5.2.2.	Alcohol-to-Jet (ATJ) Pathway	63
5.2.3.	Gasification and Fischer-Tropsch (GFT) Pathways	66
5.3. Co	nfigurations of Biogenic Pathway Scenarios	68
5.4. Lim	nits to Growth for Biogenic Pathways in Germany	69
5.4.1.	Maximum Substitution Potentials	69
5.4.2.	Specific Emissions	72
5.5. Ra	nking Criteria and Short-listed Pathways	74
6. Non-Bio	ogenic Pathways and Development of Energy Model	76
6.1. Pre	eface	76
6.2. No	n-Biogenic Pathways	76
6.2.1.	Methanol Synthesis	76
6.2.2.	Fischer-Tropsch Synthesis	80

	6.2.	3.	Electrolyser Technology Selection	
	6.2.	4.	Carbon Capture Technology Selection	
(5.3.	Alte	rnate Aviation	
(6.4.	Ene	rgy Modelling Framework	
(6.5.	Maj	or Techno-Economic Modelling Parameters	
	6.5.	1.	Conversion Technology Capital and Operation Costs	
	6.5.	2.	Renewable Power Plant CAPEX and OPEX	92
	6.5.	3.	Plant Life Assumptions	
	6.5.	4.	Energy Storage	
	6.5.	5.	Carbon Pricing	
	6.5.	6.	Hydrocarbons and Co-Products Price Estimates	
	6.5.	7.	Economic Parameters	
(6.6.	Wat	er Consumption	100
(6.7.	Defi	nition of Scenarios	100
7.	Ene	rgy N	Nodel Results	102
-	7.1.	Tota	al Costs	102
-	7.2.	Cos	t and Carbon Intensity	104
-	7.3.	Tota	al Energy Mix and Renewable Generation	105
-	7.4.	Dyn	amics of SAF Production and Renewable Installations	108
-	7.5.	Stor	age Requirements	112
-	7.6.	Co-	products	113
-	7.7.	lder	tified Short-Comings and Limitations	114
8.	Con	Iclusi	ons	116
Re	feren	ces		119
Ap	pendi	x A:	History	135
Ap	pendi	x B:	Feedstock Data	139
Ap	pendi	x C:	Pathways Assessment	
Ap	pendi	x D:	Base Demand Results	143
Ap	pendi	x E:	Low Demand Results	
Ap	pendi	x F:	High Demand Results	151

Table of Figures

Figure 1: ICAO/IATA aspirational goals for carbon-neutral aviation growth with measures
and their expected impact
Figure 2: Country-wise participation status in Market-Based Measures (MBM) for
CORSIA and EU ETS5
Figure 3: Graphical representation of the major segments of the research (thesis) along
with key inputs and results7
Figure 4: German aviation activities carbon footprint breakdown by scope and destination
Figure 5: EU targets for Sustainable Aviation Fuels (SAF) and E-fuels (left axis) against
German aviation carbon budget to achieve climate-neutrality by 2045 and the observed
emission (right axis)12
Figure 6: Approximate Location, Technology, Size and Status of Sustainable Aviation
Fuel (SAF) production facilities in Germany13
Figure 7: Germany renewable energy installations (Onshore-, Offshore wind, and Solar
PV) status quo, planned expansions and assumed expansion14
Figure 8: Amounts of agricultural raw materials used for biofuel production in Germany, in
tons (2015-2020)
Figure 9: Land-usage of sustainable crops by sector of usage in 1000 hectares [1000 ha]
Figure 10: Second generation feedstocks sustainable technical and unused potential in
Germany
Figure 11: Jet fuel composition by weight fraction and hydrocarbon distribution, with
important properties and functions23
Figure 12: Overview of possible fuel conversion pathways by feedstocks' primary input
type, preliminary processing, and main conversion processes, along with ASTM approval
status
Figure 13: Aviation Fuel Consumption in Germany - in 1000s tons; including Aviation
Fuel, Jet Fuel and Petroleum, without lubricating Oils and Greases
Figure 14: Aviation energy demand forecast model with key variable and steps40
Figure 15: Simplified relationship between aviation demand (in terms of RPK) and GDP
per capita of a country41
Figure 16: 20-year historical data for aviation energy demand and GDP per capita in
Germany, linear trend plotted as dotted-line

Figure 17: Curve-fitting results of long-term fuel efficiency improvement in the global
aviation sector
Figure 18: 20-year historical data for aviation energy demand and extrapolated fuel
efficiency improvements in Germany, linear trend plotted as a dotted-line
Figure 19: 20-year historical data for aviation energy demand and cost of air travel, linear
trend plotted as a dotted-line47
Figure 20: Monthly distribution of controlled flights in Germany, 2019
Figure 21: Relationship between aviation energy demand observed and modelled values
from Multivariate Regression Analysis50
Figure 22: German aviation energy demand forecast, 2020-2050
Figure 23: Fleet-weighted energy requirement per passenger-km, in KWh/pkm, 2030-
2050
Figure 24: Assumed fuel share by plane propulsion technology, 2020-205054
Figure 25: Adjusted aviation demand forecast with kerosene, electric and hydrogen
propulsion technologies along with non-adjusted demand forecast
Figure 26: Product-slate (by mass) of selected biogenic pathways and their configurations
Figure 27: The process flow for HEFA conversion pathway with fallow land cultivation,
max jet recovery, and 50% blending (HEFA_8) along with key parameters
Figure 28: The process flow for HEFA conversion pathway with biodiesel export ban, max
jet recovery, and 50% blending (HEFA_8) along with key parameters
Figure 29: The process flow for ATJ conversion pathway with fallow land cultivation of
bioethanol and 50% blending (ATJ_1) along with key parameters65
Figure 30: The process flow for GFT conversion pathway with second generation
feedstocks, 100% blending and maximum jet fuel recovery (GFT_8) along with key
parameters
Figure 31: Total energy substitution potential of biogenic scenarios for low, base, and
high aviation demand forecasts70
Figure 32: 5-yr energy substitution potential of biogenic scenarios in comparison with
REDII/ReFuelEU Aviation Targets71
Figure 33: Overall score for biogenic scenarios and short-listed scenarios for energy
modelling75
Figure 34: The process flow of methanol synthesis pathway with integrated hydrogen
electrolysis and carbon capture along with key parameters79
Figure 35: The process flow of Fischer-Tropsch pathway with integrated hydrogen
electrolysis and carbon capture along with key parameters
Figure 36: The process flow of hydrogen production along with key parameters

Figure 37: The process flow of electric aviation charging along with key parameters 85
Figure 38: Base demand - Total costs for modelled scenarios (2025-2050) 103
Figure 39: Cost- and carbon intensities of base, low, and high demand scenarios 104
Figure 40: Base demand - Total energy mix of the modelled scenarios, 2025-2050 106
Figure 41: Base demand - Breakdown of renewable electricity supply, 2025-2050 107
Figure 42: Base demand - Timeline of SAF production capacities by technology at 5-yr
intervals, 2025-2050
Figure 43: Base demand - Timeline of solar PV, onshore- and offshore wind capacities at
5-yr intervals, 2025-2050
Figure 44: Base demand - Scenario-wise breakdown of co-products: diesel, naphtha, and
oxygen, 2025-2050

Table of Tables

Table 1: Comparison of Market-Based Measures in relevance to the aviation sector: EL	J
ETS and CORSIA	4
Table 2: Germany renewable energy expansion targets and assumptions, 2025-2050	15
Table 3: ASTM D7566 approved drop-in SAF technologies with common feedstocks an	ıd
maximum allowable blending	26
Table 4: Various Power-to-Liquid pathways with their respective technology readiness	
level, ASTM approval and limiting factors	28
Table 5: SAF sustainability eligibility criteria under EU REDII and ICAO CORSIA	32
Table 6: Short-listed pathways for Germany selected for further modelling	34
Table 7: Multivariate Regression Analysis modelled scenarios and summary of results.	49
Table 8: Summary of various aviation demand forecast cases	51
Table 9: HEFA process land and rapeseed requirements for jet fuel production	60
Table 10: ATJ process land and bioethanol requirements for jet fuel production	63
Table 11: Biogenic pathways' scenarios for environmental and substitution potential	
assessment	68
Table 12: Specific emission of biogenic scenarios inclusive of blending with fossil jet fue	el
	74
Table 13: Comparison of Electrolyser Technologies	82
Table 14: Summary of CAPEX and OPEX for HEFA process	87
Table 15: Summary of CAPEX and OPEX for ATJ process	88
Table 16: Summary of CAPEX and OPEX for GFT process	88
Table 17: Summary of CAPEX of non-biogenic technologies for 2025-2050	89
Table 18: Summary of CAPEX for electrolyser in 2025-2050	90
Table 19: Key parameters for OPEX calculation for e-SAF pathways and hydrogen	
electrolysers	91
Table 20: Summary of OPEX of non-biogenic technologies for 2025-2050	91
Table 21: Summary of OPEX of electrolysers for 2025-2050	92
Table 22: CAPEX and OPEX for solar PV, offshore- and onshore wind power plants,	
2025-2050, including system cost improvements	93
Table 23: LOHC hydrogen storage techno-economic parameters, 2025-2050	95
Table 24: Battery CAPEX and OPEX assumptions, 2025-2050	97
Table 25: Reference prices for jet fuel, diesel and naphtha, July 2023	99
Table 26: Detailed description of energy modelling scenarios 1	01

Abbreviations

ACF	Annual Capacity Factor	DFS	Deutsche Flugsicherung GmbH
AEL	Alkaline Electrolyser Cell	DIN	German Institute for Standardization
ASTM	American Society of Test- ing and Materials	DME	Dimethyl Ether
ATJ	Alcohol-to-Jet	EC	European Commission
AvCPI	Aviation Consumer Price Index	EU ETS	European Emission Trad- ing System
BDL	German Aviation Associa- tion	EU	European Union
BMDV	German Federal Ministry of Digital and Transport	Eurostat	European Statistical Office
BOE	Barrels of Oil Equivalent (1.7 MWh)	FNR	Fachagentur Nachwach- sende Rohstoffe e.V.
CAGR	Compound Annual Growth Rate	FOG	Fats, Oil, or Greases
CAPEX	Capital Expenditures	FRL	Fuel Readiness Level
СС	Carbon Capture	FT	Fischer-Tropsch
CCU	Carbon Capture Unit	GDP	Gross Domestic Product
CGH2	Compressed gaseous Hy-	GFT	Gasification + Fischer- Tropsch synthesis
СНЛ	Catalytic Hydrothermolysis	GHG	Green-house Gases
	Jet Fuel	GW	Gigawatt (1000 MW)
CIS	Carbon Intensity Score	GWh	Gigawatt-hour (1000 MWh)
COP21	ence of the Parties (Paris Agreement)	HEFA	Hydroprocessed Esters and Fatty Acids
CORSIA	Carbon Offsetting and Re- duction Scheme for Inter- national Aviation	HVO	Hydroprocessed Vegeta- ble Oil
CPI	Consumer Price Index	ΙΑΤΑ	International Air Transport Association
DAC	Direct Air Capture (Car- bon)	ICAO	United Nations' Interna- tional Civil Aviation Organ- ization
DENA	German Energy Agency		International Energy
DESTATIS	Federal Statistical Office of Germany	IEA	Agency

Introduction

ILUC	Indirect Land Use Change	REDII	EU Renewable Energy Di- rective II
IRENA	International Renewable Energy Agency	RFNBO	Renewable Fuels of Non- Biological Origin
KJ	Kilojoules	RPK	Revenue Passenger Kilo- meter
KW	Kilowatt (1000 W)	RWGS	Reverse Water Gas Shift
LCA	Lifecycle Assessment	SAF	Sustainable Aviation Fuel
LCOE	Levelized Cost of Electric- ity	SIP	Synthesized Iso-paraffin
LH2	Liquid Hydrogen	SMR	Steam Methane Reforming
LHV	Lower Heating Value/Net Heating Value	SOEC	Solid Oxide Electrolyser Cell
LOHC	Liquid Organic Hydrogen Carriers	SPK	Synthetic Paraffinic Kero- sene
LPG	Liquidized Petroleum Gas	SPS	Substitution Potential Score
MBM	Market-Based Measures	TRI	Technology Readiness
MEA	Mono Ethanolamine		Level
MJ	Megajoule (1 million Joule)	TW	Terawatts (1000 GW)
MRA	Multivariate Regression Analysis	UK	United Kingdom
MW	, Megawatt (1000 KW)	US	United States
	Megawatt bour (1000	USD	United States Dollars (\$)
MWh	KWh)	WACC	Weighted Average Cost of Capital
NDC	Nationally Determined Contributions		oupiui
NREL	US National Renewable Energy Laboratory		
OPEX	Operation Expenditure		
PDI	Personal Disposable In- come		
PEM	Proton Exchange Mem- brane Electrolyser Cell		
PJ	Petajoules (1000 Giga- joules)		
PV	Photovoltaics		

RE Renewable Electricity

Introduction

1. Introduction

"Those who have the privilege to know have the duty to act." - Albert Einstein (1879-1955)

1.1. Global Alignment to Sustainability

The perspective on climate change underwent a significant shift after the 21st session of Conference of the Parties (COP21) in 2015, also known as the *Paris Agreement*. Before COP21, climate change was recognized as a global problem – with limited consensus and commitment to address it comprehensively, with discussions and debate only limited to the scientific and academic circles. Post-COP21, there has been a growing recognition of climate change as an existential threat to humankind and all the species living on earth at large, requiring immediate and coordinated remedial action(s). COP21 represented a collective acknowledgment of the urgency to mitigate climate change's impacts, particularly for vulnerable nations and ecosystems. These actions were articulated in the Article 2 of COP21 as [1]:

- Holding the increase in the global average temperature to well below 2 degrees Celsius above pre-industrial levels and to pursue efforts to limit the temperature increase to 1.5 degrees Celsius above pre-industrial levels, recognizing that this would significantly reduce the risks and impacts of climate change;
- Increasing the ability to adapt to the adverse impacts of climate change and foster climate resilience and low greenhouse gas emissions development, in a manner that does not threaten food production;
- 3. Making finance flows consistent with a pathway towards low greenhouse gas emissions and climate resilient development.

COP21 was hailed as a diplomatic success as it took more than 20 years after the Earth Summit – 1992 in Rio de Janeiro to come to a global, multilateral consensus on the severity and urgency of the climate crisis, including the largest emitters such United States, Europe, China, and India [2]. That being said, the implementation of these measures was left to the individual nations to decide, commit, and implement under nationally determined contributions (NDCs). It should not come to no one's surprise that this open-ended approach led to a variety of timelines and strategies to combat climate change; several nations with developed economies striving to decarbonize their economies and decouple them from emissions by 2050 or even sooner, while developing nations in Asia, Africa, and South America committing to reach these goals in the latter half of the 21st century. Germany being one of the most developed nations on the planet aims to achieve this goal by 2045 with an accelerated approach to have at least 42.5% sustainable energy mix by 2030 under the ambitious EU Renewable Energy Directives [3].

1.2. The Path Towards Sustainability in Aviation

While the COP21 agreement has provided a crucial roadmap for global climate change mitigation, it is disheartening to note that the emissions stemming from the aviation sector have received relatively limited attention in this forum [2]. This might be attributed to the fact that aviation's contribution to global emissions is relatively small, accounting for approximately 2% of the annual global emissions, totaling around 800 million metric tons (Mt) [4].

However, it is imperative that these emissions are not overlooked. The demand for aviation is projected to escalate in the coming years due to factors such as population growth, globalization, and improved living standards. As aviation demand increases, so too will its emissions. It is estimated that by 2050, due to decarbonization of other sectors, aviation sector will contribute 27% of the remaining global emissions [5]. Therefore, it is crucial to address this issue with thoughtful consideration and proactive measures, under a globally collaborative environment. This highlights the need for a global forum, which is presently being addressed by the International Civil Aviation Organization (ICAO) as a United Nation's Agency and International Air Transport Association (IATA). These institutions are spearheading the discussion on global aviation sector's decarbonization and its collateral impacts on the aviation markets.

However, the progress on this front is rife with bureaucracy, diplomacy, and sluggishness due to the involvement of multi-lateral, multi-national, multi-stakeholder agreements with competing, and often diverging interests. This has pushed regional agencies to implement their own remedies with significant backlash from the international community. A detailed account of these developments is presented in History

1.3. Aspirational Targets

Moving forward the IATA has called for a carbon-neutral growth from 2020 and 50% reduction by 2050 in reference to 2005 emission levels. These have been reiterated by ICAO in resolution A40-18 with a set of measures outlined to reach these "aspirational" goals. The ICAO expects emission savings from Sustainable Aviation Fuels (SAFs) in coordination with market-based measures (MBMs) under the CORSIA framework to provide almost two-thirds (2/3) of emission reduction by 2050, with the rest of the improvement provided in terms of operational improvements and aircraft technologies - this will offer 2% per annum (p.a.) fuel reduction [6]. However, ICAO acknowledges that the rate of development and incremental gains are diminishing and will not be sufficient to effectively meet these targets and recommended that, other approaches, including changes in aircraft configurations, mission specifications, air traffic management, operational improvements, sustainable aviation fuels, and market measures should be introduced [7].



Figure 1: ICAO/IATA aspirational goals for carbon-neutral aviation growth with measures and their expected impact Source: Original data by ICAO [6, 8], illustration by author

1.4. Market-Based Measures: CORSIA and EU ETS

In light of the Paris Agreement, ICAO resolutions, and the EU's commitment to internalize the cost of emissions, two market-based measures (MBMs) are particularly relevant to the aviation industry: the EU's **Emission Trading System** (EU ETS) and ICAO's **Carbon Off-setting and Reduction Scheme for International Aviation** (CORSIA). While these systems differ fundamentally in design, implementation, and scope, their shared objective is clear: to reduce global aviation emissions by internalizing the cost of emissions through a market-based pricing mechanism, primarily targeting carbon dioxide emissions. While EU ETS applies to the 27 member nations of the EU with mandatory participation, the

geographical application of CORSIA is global with participation mostly being voluntary – EU member nations participate in both systems. One key aspect is that 2021 onwards, the allocation for aviation sector in EU ETS is being reduced linearly by 4.2% per annum. The key differences between these systems and their inclusion in the analysis is provided in Table 1 and status of countries in regards to their participation in MBMs are illustrated in Figure 2.

 Table 1: Comparison of Market-Based Measures in relevance to the aviation sector: EU ETS and CORSIA
 Source: Compiled from [2, 9–14]

Dimensions	EU ETS	CORSIA
Modality	Cap-and-trade	Offsetting
Coverage	Broad; covers various sectors in- cluding aviation	Specific to aviation section; focuses on international aviation emissions
Emission Cap	Sets a limit on emissions allow- ances issued with reduction over time	Aims to stabilize global emissions at 2020 levels.
Allocation	Airlines/Operators must buy al- lowances within the system. 4.2% p.a. reduction for the avia- tion sector 2021 onwards.	Requires airlines/operators to pur- chase offset credits or use CORSIA Eligible Fuels
Interoperability	EU ETS allowances not accepted under CORSIA	Credits not accepted under EU ETS
Emission Reduction Goal	Aims to reduce emissions by 61% in 2030 compared to 2005- levels	Aims to achieve carbon-neutral growth, with no net emissions in- crease post-2020
Cost Structure	The price of allowances is driven by supply and demand within the system	The cost of CORSIA eligible emis- sion units varies depending on pro- ject category
Monitoring & Reporting	Both include similar <i>Monitoring,</i> <i>Reporting, and Verification</i> <i>(MRV)</i> systems to ensure robust and reliable emissions data	Airlines must draft <i>Emissions Moni- toring Plans</i> , monitor emissions, re- port annually, and undergo third- party verification
Region	EU-27 (mandatory)	Global (voluntary)
Timeline	In place, currently in Phase 4 (2021-2030)	Pilot phase: 2021-2023 First phase: 2024-2026 Second phase: 2027-2035
Inclusion in the Energy Model	Yes, as a CO2 cost factor per unit of energy	Yes, as a CO2 Budget/Cap in cer- tain scenarios



Figure 2: Country-wise participation status in Market-Based Measures (MBM) for CORSIA and EU ETS Source: Author's own graphic based on data from [15, 16]

1.5. Original Contributions

During the literature review, it is observed that the existing research known to the author largely focuses on global- or country-level analyses, and reduced assessment has been done on the requirements specific to the aviation sector. On the other hand, several papers focus on the production of SAFs fail to address the supply-side constraints, economics, and other drivers of sustainability in the sector. However, with the active push from the EU and German government, and general guidelines from international bodies such as ICAO to reduce the overall emission of the sector, it is expected that the demand for SAFs would significantly increase. That being said, the sole topic of production, supply, and consumption of these fuels for aviation purposes in Germany is largely undiscussed and is often discussed in tandem with the transportation sector as whole – leading to many unaddressed concerns of the sector.

By this research, effort is expended to address the aviation sector in a manner that provides a clear analysis and understanding of the current and future aspirations of carbon-neutral aviation in Germany - taking into consideration technical and commercial aspects of decarbonization of various aviation fuels. Moreover, the research aims to optimize these parameters, in terms of cost and emissions, and obtain some probable pathways that may be undertaken to completely decarbonize the aviation sector by 2050.

Introduction

1.6. Structure of the Thesis

The structure of the thesis can be broken down into 4 major segments, i.e., (1) data gathering and processing of acquired information, (2) translation of obtained data into inputs for the energy and demand model, (3) modelling of the aviation demand and energy requirements under various scenarios and finally (4) assimilating the results and drawing meaningful conclusions (see Figure 3).

For data collection, scientific papers, reports of international and national organizations, and, databases from trustworthy sources such as national and European statistic offices are selected. In addition to this, hourly timeseries of renewable generation is obtained from the tool developed at TUM-ENS called PyGRETA [17]. Wherever possible, region-specific values for Germany are used, and in the case of non-availability of such values European or global estimates are used consequently.

The data undergoes transformation and synthesis from diverse sources for analysis. Applying fundamental thermodynamic and chemistry principles, including stoichiometry calculations, yields numerical values. Key vectors in the analysis include regional energy generation potential, land usage and availability, crop cultivation and yields, fuel conversion processes, their technical and commercial viability, economic factors like capital requirements and operational costs, emissions intensities, and their alignment with global and regional emission targets. The modeling period spans from 2025 to 2050.

With these aspects taken into consideration, a comprehensive demand forecast model is developed using statistical tools based on regression analysis. Concurrently, the technoeconomic inputs are used to develop an energy model to establish an optimal system expansion under cost and environmental considerations; based on the urbs energy modelling framework developed at TUM-ENS [18]. The results from these models provide a sustainability assessment framework for various SAF pathways envisaged to decarbonize aviation and an outlook for the coming 25 years of energy requirements of the aviation sector in Germany, with estimates for costs and incumbent emissions from the sector, and may serve as tool for policy development and decision-making.

Introduction



Figure 3: Graphical representation of the major segments of the research (thesis) along with key inputs and results

2. Status Quo in Germany

"When you don't know where you are going, all roads will take you there." - Yiddish Proverb

2.1. Aviation in Germany

The aviation in Germany is largely dominated by passenger traffic – in line with the global trends; in total approx. 2.3 million landings and take-offs were recorded in Germany in 2021 out of which 896,000 occurred at one of the 12 largest airports [19]. The largest/busiest airport in Germany, Frankfurt/Main, has reported an annual traffic of 70 million passengers in 2019 [20]. Apart from passenger traffic, approx. 5.5 million tons of freight is also transported through flights originating from or terminating in Germany [19]. The distribution of these flights is certainly not homogenous, with 65% of the flights occurring at the top 5 airports. Most of the passenger volume is presently handled by the top 2 airports, namely, Frankfurt/Main and Munich airport. Apart from the impact of COVID-19 pandemic on the global aviation industry, which is also reflected on the German sector, the number of flights occurring in Germany has remained relatively stable; fluctuating around the baseline value of 3 million flights per annum [19]. This trend is also observable in the overall energy demand of the sector.

2.1.1. Energy Consumption

In the context of Germany's transportation energy consumption, aviation-related fuels, specifically aviation jet fuel (kerosene) and petroleum, have historically accounted for a notable portion, ranging from 10% to 16% of the annual energy demand. According to the most recent data for the year 2021 published by Kraftfahrt-Bundesamt [19], this share was recorded at 11%. In absolute terms, this amounted to 258 PJ or 71.66 TWh of energy. Notably, this figure represents a substantial 40% decrease from the highest recorded value (2018) spanning a 20-year period, which stood at 437 PJ or 121.3 TWh. That being said, this share falls short in comparison to diesel and gasoline consumption; accounting for approx. 80% of the end-energy consumption, the rest being accounted by electricity and renewable fuels. In terms of growth, the aviation sector energy demand has increased steadily over the last 10- and 20 years at 1.69% and 2.22% CAGR¹ respectively. Meanwhile, the overall demand of the transport sector has observed negative growth over the last 20 years.

The aviation sector energy demand serves as one of the key variables to forecast the aviation demand for the period 2025-2050 and is further discussed in Chapter 4. However, due to major deviations caused by the COVID-19 pandemic the source data is terminated at 2019 values. The 2019 aviation energy consumption in Germany stood at 434 PJ or 120.5 TWh.

2.1.2. Aviation Related Emissions

Statistics published by the Eurostat [20] and European Alternative Fuels Observatory [21] highlights that the aviation demand in Europe has steadily risen by 60% over the period between 2005 and 2017, alongside a 24% improvement in the fuel efficiency during the same period. Thereby, gains in fuel efficiency have largely been negated by the increased demand from higher traffic resulting in overall higher emissions. These direct emissions from the aviation sector accounts for 3.8% of the total EU emissions which is higher than the global contribution of around 2%, and embodies approx. 14% of the total transport sector emissions in EU [21]. However, the emissions from on-ground activities and airport operations are largely ignored in these stats. The report published by German Aviation Association [22] classified the overall CO₂ footprint from aviation activities into 3 scopes. Scope 1 emissions directly account for the emissions as a result of the airport activities, encompassing energy production (heating, cooling, and electricity) and transportation of goods and people within the airport. Scope 2 emissions arise from purchased energy for airport operations. Together, they are responsible for 17% of the CO₂ footprint for aviation-related activities and are reported by the airports, the rest of the contribution (Scope 3) is attributed to the flight activities at the airport and fall in the domain of the airlines. Scope 3 emissions also includes transportation to the airport including personal and public transportation, in spite of this, due to the completely different order of magnitude in comparison to aircraft emissions these are not explicitly discussed further.

Most databases for fuel consumption and associated emissions known to the author focus on end-energy consumption as a function of energy or mass of the jet fuel and tend to ignore the scope 1 and 2 emissions. If these emissions are included in the analysis the resultant emission will be notably higher. However, for sake of simplicity, and the fact that

¹ Compound Annual Growth Rate (CAGR) represent the mean growth rate over the specified period

scope 1 and 2 emissions can be eliminated through the decarbonization of the heating and electricity infrastructure which is already underway, thereby these are also excluded from this analysis.

According to the data published by Eurostat [20] it is evident that most flights are international in nature, either to EU countries or non-EU-countries. This is also corroborated by Siemons et al. [23] which claims that 94% of the refueling activities are carried out for international flights, with a 75:25 distribution for non-EU- to EU-bound flights. As aviation is predominantly supplied by fossil fuels, this translates into similar distribution for emissions. Figure 4 provides an illustrative summary of the above discussion. Based on the emission intensity of fossil fuel of 94 g_{CO2eq}/MJ or 0.3384 ton_{CO2eq}/MWh provided in Annex V of REDII (EU Renewable Energy Directive II) [3] and energy consumption discussed in previous sections, the overall emissions from fuel consumption equates to 40.8 Mt_{CO2eq}. The emission intensity provided in REDII is 6.4% higher than the "Well-to-Wheel" default values provided in EN 16258:2012/DIN EN 16258:2013 standard, which assumes an emission intensity of 88 g_{CO2eq}/MJ [24]. For modelling purposes, REDII values are used as the benchmark for the fossil-based fuel emissions.



Figure 4: German aviation activities carbon footprint breakdown by scope and destination Source: Originally reported by German Aviation Association (BDL) [22] and Siemons et al. [23], illustrations by the author

2.2. German Aviation in the Light of Climate Targets

2.2.1. Legislative Framework

The EU climate and energy policies directly affect the German climate target and are often transposed into German law. Thus, they cannot be isolated and have to be looked into from the perspective of overarching pan-EU climate targets and directives. Following the research, various estimates, targets, and milestones are discovered – with various dates and

subsequent amendments which makes the estimation difficult. A case in point being the German government aim to reduce the greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions from 80% to 95% by 2050 compared to the 1990-baseline values. Thereby, variations in the analysis should be expected based on when it is conducted, published and when it is read. For the calculations, it is decided to utilize the targets outlined in three key EU directives: the "Fit for 55" Package, "REDII" Directive, and "ReFuelEU Aviation" Directive. These directives collectively establish the overarching goals of the EU to achieve a 55% reduction in GHG emissions by the year 2030. Furthermore, they provide specific guidance on achieving net-zero emissions by the year 2050, as well as sector-specific objectives.

2.2.2. Effects on the Aviation Sector

Based on the transport-related target set under REDII and 'Fit for 55' package, which are further complemented by more aviation specific guidelines under 'ReFuelEU Aviation', in Germany and EU, there is an obligation to have at least 2% SAF either by volume or mass in aviation fuel supply by 2025. This limit increases stepwise to 6% by 2030 following the goals derived from transport-related REDII targets, then increasing to 20% in 2035, 34% in 2040, 42% in 2045 and finally to 70% in 2050 respectively. This entails a pre-defined target specifically for e-fuels, with obligations starting at 1.2% in 2030 leading to 35% aviation fuels based on electricity by 2050 – side-by-side trend comparison is illustrated in Figure 5. Under these legislative mandates, for Germany, it is expected that a minimum of 200,000 tons p.a. of kerosene will be produced from Power-to-Liquid sources by 2030 [25]. Notwithstanding, the current supply of SAF in the EU only accounts to 0.05% of the annual jet fuel demand, with Frankfurt, Munich and Dusseldorf Airports in Germany being the few airports in EU to regularly offer SAF within their facilities [26].

In the context of aviation emissions in Germany, the current emissions level stands at 40.8 Mt_{CO2eq} (see section 2.1.2). According to Siemons et al. [23], aviation-related emissions in 1990 amounted to 14 Mt_{CO2eq} , indicating an alarming increase of nearly 290% over the past three decades. This substantial rise in emissions is a matter of grave concern, especially when juxtaposed with the ambitious emissions reduction targets outlined in the EU's "Fit for 55" initiative, which aims to achieve a substantial reduction in GHG emissions by 2030 and net neutrality by 2050. It is important to note that, in contrast to the desired trajectory, the German aviation sector is not merely falling behind but rather moving in the opposite direction. If the aviation sector had managed to decarbonize at a pace similar to what is envisaged for other modes of transportation, the resultant emissions would have been approximately 9 Mt_{CO2eq} . Figure 5 depicts the starkness of the diverging trend of envisaged vis-à-vis observed emissions. This stark divergence from the decarbonization trajectory

Status Quo in Germany

underscores the pressing need for comprehensive measures and strategies to curb emissions within the aviation sector, aligning it with the broader sustainability goals and climate targets outlined by the EU.





Source: Calculated by the author based on REDII, ReFuelEU Aviation and 'Fit for 55' targets [3, 23, 27, 28]

2.2.3. Existing SAF Production Facilities

From the production point of view, there exists only two commercial, one demonstration and two pilot projects to produce SAF in Germany, with only Power-to-Liquid (PtL) and Alcohol-to-Jet (ATJ) being the dominant technologies [26, 29]. These projects are, namely:

- 1. PtL- Shell, Wesseling (commercial)
- 2. PtL Gevo/HCS, Speyer (demonstration)
- 3. PtL Caphenia, Frankfurt (pilot)
- 4. ATJ-SPK Global Bioenergies, Leuna (pilot)
- 5. PtL Atmosfair, Emsland (commercial)

Status Quo in Germany



Figure 6: Approximate Location, Technology, Size and Status of Sustainable Aviation Fuel (SAF) production facilities in Germany

Source: Data from [26, 29], graphical representation by the author

Moreover, it is observed that only Fischer-Tropsch synthesis and alcohol synthesis is used to produce PtL kerosene in Germany, with methanol-to-olefins and subsequently olefinsto-distillate being used for alcohol synthesis [25]. PtL is observed to be the preferred technology for commercial plants in Germany.

2.3. Renewable Energy and Expansion Targets

Apart from the aviation sector, there is a constant push for the electrification of the German economy and decoupling the economic growth from the energy demand under various initiatives and regulations; most notably being the "Energiewende". This has led to a significant increase in the demand of electricity in the partially electrified sectors, such as industry and transportation, and would further increase the demand due to the sectors which are not even electrified yet, such as heating. As depicted earlier, the aviation demand falls short in terms of the overall transport sector demand and even less significant when compared to the overall German energy demand. Despite being a trivial part of the overall emissions, the sector is poised to grow (see Chapter 4). Due to technical limitations, such as energy density, aging fleet, and global momentum, it is expected that the sector remains dependent on liquid fuels for the foreseeable future. Consequently, many resources researched

during the course of the analysis classified aviation as a '**hard-to-abate**' sector in terms of electrification or potential to reduce GHG emissions, which may significantly limit the ability to reach the climate targets underlined in the Paris Agreement [30–36].



Figure 7: Germany renewable energy installations (Onshore-, Offshore wind, and Solar PV) status quo, planned expansions and assumed expansion

Source: Based on the plans provided in the Easter Package [37] and further assumptions made by the author

Based on datasets provided by the German Federal Statistics Office [38], renewable sources contribute to 44% of the total electricity production in Germany, from sources such as wind, solar, hydro, biomass and geothermal energy; while the rest is produced from conventional sources including coal, natural gas, and now diminishing nuclear energy. According to the statistics, in 2022, wind-based electricity emerged as the single largest source of electricity in Germany contributing 21.7% to the total supply – surpassing all the conventional sources. As for the installed capacity, according to SMARD platform, in August 2023, the total system capacity stands at 232.8 GW of which 63 GW is solar PV, 57.6 GW is onshore wind and 8.2 GW is characterized by offshore wind [39].

Due to the already established demand, existing capacity of RE is not made available in the analysis, rather future expansion plans are taken as available capacity to be used for the production of various aviation related fuels and co-products. Various sources provide various estimates for the expansion of the German renewable electricity supply from 2025 onward. However, for the sake of trackable targets, the capacity expansion is limited to the forecasts provided in the "Easter Package" by the German Federal Ministry for Economic

Affairs and Climate Action and the co-revised pertinent acts to achieve 600 TWh of renewable electricity by 2030. The key targets till 2050 provided in the Easter Package and future expansion plans are tabulated in Table 2 and are graphically presented in the Figure 7.

As for the assumption made for the capacity expansion, these are categorized as "conservative" estimates, given the urgency and ambitions to reach climate neutrality. This point can be bolstered by the calculations provided by the Fraunhofer ISE [40], in which the technical potential of various solar technologies are discussed. As an example, for Agri-PV² alone a 1000 GW plus potential is concluded by the report. Similar estimates in the range of 800-1200 GW for onshore wind installations are provided by Amme et al. [41] and Lütkehus et al. [42], provided that the acceptance of wind turbines increases and land is appropriately used [43, 44].

Table 2: Germany renewable energy expansion targets and assumptions, 2025-2050

Technology	Targets	Assumptions
Solar PV	Now-2025: additional 50 GW 2025-2035: 22 GW additional per annum	2036-2050: 10 GW installed each year
Onshore Wind	Now-2025: additional 26 GW 2025-2035: 10 GW additional per annum	2036-2050: 5 GW installed each year
Offshore Wind	Now-2025: additional 15 GW 2025-2030: further 15 GW ex- pansion 2031-2035: additional 10 GW to be added 2036-2045: 3 GW per annum ex- pansion	No assumption

Source: Based on the 'Easter Package' [37] and author's assumptions

2.4. Biofuels Production in Germany

Despite the infancy of the SAF sector, the production of other biofuels is relatively substantial in Germany; primarily used for the blending with gasoline and diesel fuels. According to the latest statistics by the German bureau of statistic [45], biodiesel production through methyl esters stood at 3.2 million tons per annum in 2017, while 640 kilotons of bioethanol was produced in the same period - for which, wheat, rye, sugar beet and rapeseed is

² Agri-PV are Solar PV installations deployed on land co-used for agricultural purposes, either on-ground, elevated structures, buildings, or some other available space

cultivated locally. The breakdown of various important crops used for the production of biofuels, i.e., biodiesel and bioethanol, is illustrated in Figure 8.



Figure 8: Amounts of agricultural raw materials used for biofuel production in Germany, in tons (2015-2020) Source: Published by Fachagentur Nachwachsende Rohstoffe e.V. (FNR) [46]

2.5. Energy Crops Cultivation – Land Usage and Potential

As of 2021, 180,590 sq. kilometers (18,059,000 hectares) of area is under cultivation for agricultural-use, accounting for 50.5% of the total land coverage of Germany [47]. In addition to that, it is observed that the proportion of this usage has remained stable over last decades as well (1960-2021), hovering around 50% [48]. As Germany has one of the highest land-usage in the world, and with strict regulations for redesignation of pre-specified land-use; this makes it difficult to expand existing land for additional cultivations, be it for energy- or food crops. As of 2021, only 3,731 sq. kilometers of fallow land is available in the country, which may be used for additional cultivations without affecting the existing crops [49].

Data published by FNR in Figure 9 illustrates the breakdown of land usage of crops for industrial and energy purposes. It is clear that biogas accounts for the highest land area usage, followed by biodiesel and bioethanol respectively; adding up to 2.3 million hectares out of the total 18 million hectares used for agriculture. FNR further provides additional data on the specific yield of various feedstocks used in Germany, which are pivotal in

establishing the area and biomass requirements for various feedstock-based pathways – these are appended as Appendix B-4 for easier reference.



Figure 9: Land-usage of sustainable crops by sector of usage in 1000 hectares [1000 ha] Source: Published by Fachagentur Nachwachsende Rohstoffe e.V. (FNR) [46]

For bioethanol production, sugar beet crop offers the highest specific yield and is the most land efficient crop for the indigenous production of bioethanol in Germany. As SAF can be synthesized from alcohols, this pathway would yield the most effective land usage for bioethanol pathways. Additionally, for the biodiesel production palm oil offers the most efficient land use scenario. Despite this, the palm oil cannot be used further for biofuel production due to legislative reasons stemming from environmental concerns. In addition to that, there is no major cultivation of palm oil in Germany and the feedstock needs to be imported.

The analysis is extended for various crops listed above, with total production and harvest on an annual basis, along with specific yields listed as Appendix B-1. It is observed that the specific yield of these crops may vary from year-to-year, however, the annual production has maintained a similar level. Moreover, overwhelming majority of the rapeseed production is accounted for by the winter rape harvest.

The other major non-agricultural land use comprises of forest, urban, or water, as well as permanent grasslands. From Asam et al. [50], for the year 2018, it is observed that the arable land in the northern Germany appears to be the hotspot for the cultivation of sugar beet and rapeseed crops, while in the south only rapeseed cultivation in a scattered manner

is observable; with hops being the dominant crop in the state of Bavaria with a hot spot of sugar beet cultivation in the east of Munich.

2.6. Availability of Feedstocks

2.6.1. 1st Generation Feedstocks

1st generation feedstocks are primarily derived agricultural products i.e., energy crops or crops cultivated specifically for the production of fuels. From the crops, which are readily cultivated in Germany and having an already established acceptance among farmers, supply chain, and expertise are the prime candidates for pathways based on 1st gen. feed-stocks. Hence, already cultivated crops provide the most optimum selection under these conditions. Moreover, these crops should also have relatively high crop yield to ensure optimum use of the land; for bioethanol production sugar beet is the clear choice as it has the highest yield in comparison to its peers. Meanwhile for biodiesel, even though palm oil offers a better yield, however, it is not endogenously cultivated and currently facing a ban; resultantly, rapeseed is short-listed.

Other cultivated crops do not offer any specific advantages over the selected crops and in conjunction with the above-mentioned reasons, rapeseed and sugar beet are selected as 1st gen. feedstocks for this analysis. In terms of land to cultivate these crops, only fallow land is made available in this analysis, i.e., 3,731 sq. kilometers or 373,000 hectares. As these crops are seasonally overlapping, the land cannot be used back-to-back and only mutually-exclusive land-usage is possible. In order to improve the availability of feedstocks, more stringent methods such as export ban on biodiesel from rapeseed can be considered.

It is paramount to highlight that the selected crops compete with food and feed crops and are not in compliance with the Article 2 Point 34 of REDII directive [3] and thus does not comply with the SAF requirements under the ReFuelEU Aviation directive [28]. That being said, they are explored further as possible feedstocks due to commercial-scale facilities already operational in Germany and the rest of the world, and may offer a frictionless transition path to more advanced feedstocks.

Yield improvements and population change impact on crop production are not considered in the model. That being said, in the analysis by Majer et al. [51], it is estimated that steady population and decreasing livestock number in tandem with steadily increasing agricultural yields would reduce the area demand for food and feed production; this would in turn appropriate this land for potential energy crop cultivation. Following a simplistic analysis, this potential gain is not accounted in the calculations.

2.6.2. 2nd Generation/Advance Feedstocks

The meta-studies for Germany conducted by Thrän et al. and Majer et al. in 2011 and 2013 respectively [51, 52] serve as the foundation of the technical potential³ discussed further for various advance feedstocks. The findings of the short-listed feedstocks from the studies are summarized below. It is further assumed that the land use does not change, thus the distribution of these resources remains constant throughout the analysis. However, climate change, among other influencing factors, may have significant impact on the potential of these feedstocks.

2.6.2.1. Forestry Biomass

The overall technical potential for forestry biomass in Germany lies in the range 511 PJ/annum, accounting for logging residues, fuel wood, unutilized logs and barks, and unharvested annual growth. The fuel wood is already utilized for energy purposes and thus cannot be considered for the production of aviation fuels. Thereby excluding the fuel wood from the calculations, theoretically, only 13.7 million tons_{air-dry} (265 PJ/annum) of biomass is available for energy purposes per annum, majority of this potential is located in the regions of Bavaria, Baden-Württemberg and Hessen [51, 52].

2.6.2.2. Straw

The studies [51, 52] estimate the straw from cereal and rapeseed production for the year 2020 to be 184 PJ/annum. The production of the straw is directly related to the cultivation area of cereal and rapeseed crops and grain-straw ratio. Despite this, due to the lack of data actual correlation factor cannot be developed and the estimation is assumed to be the technical potential for further analysis. Furthermore, it is stated that the sustainable potential lies at 20% of the maximum due to the considerations for humus formation and sustainable soil functions. This limits the technical potential to 36.8 PJ/annum. The regional distribution is correlated with the cereal and rapeseed production areas – mostly in northern Germany [50].

³ [52] defines the technical fuel potential as the total energy content of the biomass to be used for energy purposes, expressed in terms of lower heating value (LHV).

2.6.2.3. Biodegradable and green waste

Generation of biodegradable and green waste feedstock is correlated with the population density. The overall potential stands at 23 PJ/annum – discounting for contaminants, loss during collection, and water content [51, 52].

2.6.2.4. Waste and industrial wood

Studies [51, 52] claim that approx. 7 million tons_{air-dry} of waste wood could be utilized for energy production. However, due to significant downstream uses, majority of this resource is utilized for additional production. Afterwards, only 58 PJ/annum remains available for energy uses.

2.6.2.5. Total Advance Feedstock Available

Summing up all the short-listed feedstocks in Germany yield an overall technical potential of approx. 328 PJ/annum. Despite this, the usable potential is significantly lower due to the existing utilization of these feedstocks in various energy and non-energy processes. According to Brosowski et al. [53], 26.9-46.9 million ton_{dry-mass} of usable technical potential exists [53], corelating this range with the mentioned maximum potential of 92.7-122.1 million ton_{dry-mass} results in an available potential of 22% to 51% this is then used to adjust the above listed feedstocks. Thereby, the available technical potential for future energy usage lies in the range of 84.3-193.7 PJ p.a. (23.43-53.84 TWh). Appendix B-5 provides further information as graphs for feedstocks discussed above to established this potential.

It is worth noting that, there is no consideration made for the use of these feedstocks in other applications such as for diesel or biogas production. Although, diesel is generally produced as a co-product in most conversion pathways. Therefore, while developing the economic-model, considerations can be made to sell these by-products for improving the economics and faster returns of such projects.

Under the European law, advanced biofuels are classified as fuels produced from feedstocks listed in Part A of Annex IX of REDII such as algae, municipal waste, straw, animal manure, bagasse etc. [3] – these are in contrast to conventional crop-based biofuels enjoy certain regulatory benefits in terms of taxation, carbon emissions etc. That being considered, 3rd generation and 4th generation feedstocks i.e., algae and hybrid feedstocks are not discussed due to the lack of any commercial, large-scale deployment which is required for a comprehensive decarbonization of the sector. However, these may provide support in the future, once the technology is deployed at-scale.



Figure 10: Second generation feedstocks sustainable technical and unused potential in Germany Source: Author's own graphic, synthesized data from [51–53]

2.6.3. Competing Sectors

Apart from the availability there is a pressing concern about the diversion of potential feedstocks for other activities such as food and feed production, energy generation and/or heating. Due to the limited scope of the thesis these are not fully explored and are not included in the analysis. However, preliminary research indicates that due to the highly flexible nature of biomass plant there is an ever-increasing interest in expanding the installed capacities through auctions, and plans are being put forward to scale-up the biomethane production by 600 MW per year from 2023 onwards [37]. This will further limit the supply of these feedstocks for aviation specific needs.

In addition to this, a psychological argument can also be made here, as the refueling operation for international flights is the major demand vector, as established earlier, most of the produced fuel will be used for these purposes. As these emissions would occur outside the German border and may not directly impact the local population, while other competing sectors and their emissions, like heating, energy-intensive industries, or transport, which would directly and immediately affect the German population. This could lead to a widespread reluctance, or in worst case, resistance, to the allocation of these feedstocks for aviation related activities.

3. Potential Sustainable Aviation Pathways

"A complex system that works is invariably found to have

evolved from a simple system that works."

John Gall, Systemantics: How Systems Really Work and How They Fail (1977)

3.1. Conventional Jet Fuel

Woortman [54] defines jet fuel as "*a bulk product requiring substantial amounts of functional additives*". For aviation purposes, currently, jet fuel is the primary energy source and almost all of it is currently derived from fossil fuel and is similar to kerosene in composition. Thereby, during the course of the discussion jet fuel and kerosene may be interchangeably used. "Functional Additives" are added to base kerosene to improve it operational characteristics and performance. There is no specific formula for jet fuel composition as it is derived from middle distillates during the refining process - between gasoline and diesel [55]. According to the findings from Holladay et al., the composition of jet fuel (carbon length) lies in the range of C7-C17 (see Figure 11), with ideal length being C8-16 [56]. Hydrocarbon structures, namely, n-alkanes, iso-alkanes, cyclo-alkanes, and aromatics are normally distributed over this ranges, with the average carbon length being C11.

These hydrocarbons and their relative quantities define the thermo-physical properties of the jet fuel and standard-defined quantities are functionally necessary for the safety and longevity of the aircraft. For example, large quantities of aromatics are considered detrimental from the air quality and emissions perspective, however they cannot be completely eliminated for the airworthiness of older aircrafts, as the seals in the fuel handling system may degrade at an accelerated pace in their absence [57].

3.2. Certification of Aviation Fuels

Although there is a need for aviation gasoline (Avgas) for small aircraft, and jet fuel (Jet B) for military-related purposes, most of the aviation jet fuel (Jet A/A1) is used in civilian activities, and thus remains the focus of this analysis. Due to global nature of the supply and demand, and concerns regarding operational and storage safety; the production, supply, and storage of jet fuel is highly regulated and controlled by airline operators, aircraft manufactures and government regulators – this is achieved through standardization. The most recognized standard for regulating jet fuel production is ASTM D1655-21a (A/A1) along
with inter-compatible Def Stan 91-091 (UK), while jet fuel derived from alternate processes relevant for sustainable aviation fuels (SAF) are standardized under **ASTM D7566-21** [58]. Any new fuel, therefore, must meet ASTM specifications and be approved through the ASTM D4054 process [56]. As the focus has shifted towards developing SAFs due to environmental concerns and the fact that compliance under ASTM D7655 is relatively harder to achieve, thereby every batch of jet fuel proceed under ASTM D7655 specifications is by default fully compatible with existing facilities and can be used alternatively without any limitations in the aviation fuel supply chain [59].



Figure 11: Jet fuel composition by weight fraction and hydrocarbon distribution, with important properties and functions Source: Derived from the graphs in Holladay et al. [56] and additional information from [60]

The standards stated above clearly outline the required thermal, physical, and chemical properties of the fuel blends as minimum or maximum threshold for various parameters; the energetic content of the fuel and density are the most important property for this analysis - these are referred from the ASTM D7566 standards. For the energetic content the value of 42.8 MJ/kg or 11.89 MWh/ton and for density 0.8 kg/liter are taken as reference

values [61]. The energetic content is fixed as a minimum limit and any 'compatible' fuel must produce the minimum amount of energy for the fuel burn, otherwise reduction of power may negatively impact flight safety and operations [62, 63].

3.3. Drop-in and Non-Drop-in Alternatives

As the fuels produced under these specifications are fully compatible with the existing turbines, fuel handling and storage systems, and meet the technical requirements set under the standards, they are considered as "**drop-in**" fuels. However, the numbers approved are significantly limited by the conversion technologies, allowable feedstocks, and blending rates, thus limiting the options that can be used to decarbonize the aviation fuel supply.

As for the **"non-drop-in"** alternatives, they require either fundamental changes to the aircraft design and combustion technology to adapt for different kerosene-based jet fuels, or alter the complete architecture of the aircraft as in the case of hydrogen or electric airplanes. The latter is the least desirable option from the economic perspective, but both of these options are not ideal from the operators and airports perspective as they necessitate significant upfront investment to upgrade or replace the older aircrafts, overhaul the complete air-side fuel handling facilities, and develop newer systems and training protocols to handle the switch [64]. Notwithstanding, the alternate technologies are being developed and modern kerosene-based aircrafts are being tested/developed to be compatible with non-drop-in fuels [57, 65–68].

3.4. Sustainable Aviation Fuels

For the analysis, sustainable aviation fuels (SAFs) are defined as a drop-in or a non-dropin alternatives to conventional aviation fuels, which are produced from sustainable and renewable feedstocks, either from biogenic or non-biogenic sources [69]. The conversion of these feedstocks into usable fuel may involve biological, biochemical, chemical, thermal, and/or thermochemical processes [60, 70–74]. A more robust definition may also include the classification of feedstocks under certain sustainability criterion – these are presented in Section 3.5. Based on the broadness of these definitions, it is imperative that a classification framework is implemented; for this purpose the classifications in Bullerdiek et al. is used, and the SAFs are classified as, namely [69]:

- 1. Biomass based SAF (b-SAF) biogenic
- 2. Electricity based SAF (e-SAF) non-biogenic
- 3. Hybrid SAF (h-SAF)

3.4.1. Biomass-based SAF

In essence, the categorization is based on the primary source of energy for the production of these fuels. In the b-SAF production, biogenic feedstocks are used, such as 1st gen., 2nd gen. or even advanced feedstocks – the biochemical energy stored in the feedstock is converted to chemical energy through various processes. In the broader definition of biogenic fuels, b-SAF is a sub-class of biofuels with a specific application in the aviation industry. The production of b-SAF is standardized under the ASTM D7566 and its annexures. All of the pathways approved in the aforementioned standard requires blending of conventional jet fuel to meet specifications, thereby reducing the effectiveness of decarbonization potential [75]. Table 3 provides a descriptive summary of all the production pathways approved in ASTM D7566.

Apart from the below-mentioned production pathways, there exists two additional pathways approved under D1655 Annex A1 for co-hydroprocessing of easter and fatty acids, and Fischer-Tropsch hydrocarbons in a conventional petroleum refinery. The maximum allow-able blending of these fuel with conventional jet fuel is highly restrictive – only allowing 5%. That being said, it is reported that relaxations on the blending limits for co-processing are under consideration and higher blends will be allowed to maximize existing refineries utilization [34]. Moreover, it is also evident that the FT-SPK with aromatics (FT-SPK/A) and CHJ can potentially be used as standalone pathways (see Table 3) i.e., without the need for any blending, as these contains approximately 20% aromatic compounds which are currently required by ASTM certification [76].

Even though these processes are certified to meet the ASTM standards, it is worth noting that all the potential feedstocks may not be valid for Germany – due to concerns relating to agricultural, land- & water-use, and competition with food & fodder crops. For example, according to media sources [77], in 2023 Germany has banned the use of palm oil for biofuel production, citing concerns to global food shortages and deforestation. In addition to that, there is a proposal by the German Environment Minister, Steffi Lemke, to completely abolish the production of biofuels by 2030 from other crop-based feedstocks, such as wheat, rapeseed, corn, and soybeans [78]. This raises significant concerns regarding the long-term availability, and indigenous production of biofuels in Germany, be it for aviation or other sectors.

Table 3: ASTM D7566 approved drop-in SAF technologies with common feedstocks and maximum allowable blending

Source: [26, 55, 56, 59, 60, 64, 69, 70], with addition referenced in the table, author's inputs

Technology and Production Path- ways	Maximum Blending (%vol/vol)	Feedstock Exam- ple ^{4 5}	TRL ⁶	FRL ⁷	Comments	Approval	Global commercial Examples
Fischer-Tropsch Synthetic Paraf- finic Kerosene (FT-SPK) & Fischer-Tropsch Paraffinic Kero- sene with Aromat- ics (FT-SPK/A)	FT-SPK: 50% FT-SPK/A: 50-100% [76]	Waste (Municipal Solid Waste, coal, gas, saw dust)	FT-SPK: 7-8 FT-SPK/A: 6-7	FT-SPK: 7-9 FT-SPK/A: 7-9	FT-SPK/A is a variation of the FT process in which fully synthetic aviation fuel is produced Gasification is generally used to convert biomass to syngas	FT-SPK: 2009 FT-SPK/A: 2015	FT: Fulcrum Bioen- ergy (1 and 2), Red Rock Biofuels, SG Preston, Kaidi, Sasol, Shell, Syntroleum FT-SPK/A: Sasol
Hydroprocessed fatty acid esters and fatty acids (HEFA)	50%	Vegetable oils: palm, camelina, jatropha, used cooking oils, Rapeseed oil. Any lipid source: fats, oil, or greases (FOGs)	8-9	9	Palm oil banned from 2023 onwards [77]	2011	World Energy, Honey- well UOP, Neste Oil, Dynamic Fuels, EERC, Total, skyNRG, Philips 66, Preem
Hydroprocessed Hydrocarbons- synthesized iso- paraffinic kero- sene (HH-SPK or HC-HEFA)	10%	Oils from specific algae (botryococ- cus braunii)	5	7		2020	IHI Corporation

⁴ Feedstock according to the ASTM D7566 Certification, however there can be other feedstocks.
 ⁵ Could be limited by other regulations (e.g., ReFuelEU Aviation)
 ⁶ TRL: Technology Readiness Level classification based on [79]
 ⁷ FRL: Fuel Readiness Level based classification based on [80]

Technology and Production Path- ways	Maximum Blending (%vol/vol)	Feedstock Exam- ple ^{4 5}	TRL ⁶	FRL ⁷	Comments	Approval	Global commercial Examples
Synthesized Iso- paraffin (SIP)	10%	Sugar cane and Sugar beet	7-8	5-7		2014	Amyris, Total
Alcohol-to-Jet (ATJ)	50%	Sugar cane, Sugar beet, Saw dust, lignocellulo- sic residues (Straw)	7-8	7	Only isobutanol and ethanol pathways are applicable. Some ATJ pathways con- tain aromatic ⁸ compound which may enable 100% SAF certification [26].	2016 2018 (Ethanol)	Gevo, Cobalt, Honey- well UOP, Lanzatech, Swedish Biofuels, Byogy, Lanzajet
Catalytic Hy- drothermolysis Jet Fuel (CHJ)	50%-100% [76]	Waste oils or en- ergy oils	6-7 [76]	7	· ·	2020	Applied Research As- sociates (ARA), Readifuels

⁸ Aromatic compounds, even though considered bad from the emissions and air quality perspective, are still required for the rubber seals in aircraft engines, and a fuel blend lacking these aromatic compounds may affect the airworthiness of the aircraft.

Table 4: Various Power-to-Liquid pathways with their respective technology readiness level, ASTM approval and limiting factors

Source: Based on the analysis by Schmidt et al. [81] and Batteiger et al. [82], author's own inputs

Technology and Production Path- ways	Maximum Blending (Target) (%vol/vol)	TRL	FRL	Approval Status under ASTM D7566 and compatibility	Comments
Fischer-Tropsch synthesis (low temp.)	100%	7	6-8	- Not approved - Fully compatible	 Due to similarity with biogenic FT- SPK pathway, expected to be ap- proved in the future as a stand-alone process Scaling issue with reverse water gas shift process
Fischer-Tropsch synthesis (high temp.)	100%	5-6	3-5	- Not approved - Fully compatible	- Dependent on development of high temperature electrolysis
Methanol synthesis (low temp.)	50-100%	8	6-8	- Not approved - Potentially 100% compatible	 Due to similarity with biogenic ATJ pathway, expected to be approved in the future as a stand-alone pathway
Methanol synthesis (high temp.)	50-100%	7-8	3-5	- Not approved - Potentially 100% compatible	- Development of high temperature electrolysis and ASTM approval are lagging behind

3.4.2. Electricity-based SAF

For e-SAF production, non-biogenic, electricity-derived feedstocks are used, such as hydrogen from electrolysis and CO₂ from carbon capture (CC). The primary energy in e-SAF production comes from the electrical energy – preferably renewable electricity (RE), which is converted to chemical energy in the form of kerosene through various processes. This approach is known as 'sector coupling' and is enabled by various 'Power-to-X' (PtX) technologies – mostly focusing on fuel generation and substitution [83]. Consequently, in a broader definition, e-SAF is often referred to as Power-to-Liquid or PtL in literature, and as renewable fuels of non-biological origin (RFNBO) in legislations.

Hydrogen produced by electricity is used as a primary feedstock for the production of syngas, methane, and liquidized petroleum gas (LPG). The generated gases can be incorporated into existing supply chains and storages - providing additional flexibility and opportunity for renewable energy consumption. Syngas produced by Power-to-Gas (PtG) technology can be used to produce liquid fuels by means of Fischer-Tropsch (FT) synthesis or Methanol (MeOH) synthesis [84]. Liquid fuels, due to their innate higher energy densities and simpler (in most cases faster) refueling systems have considerable advantages in transportation sector, especially in the long-haul and bulk transport sectors such as shipping and aviation [85]. Thus, PtL can enable decarbonization in the aviation sector along with the promise of less disruptive changes to the existing infrastructure. There is developing consensus that in order to achieve deep decarbonization, the use e-SAF or PtL in the aviation industry is paramount – especially for resource limited countries like Germany [31].

While these technologies have been characterized as 'technologically competent' in numerous scientific literatures, it is contended that the primary challenge for achieving largescale commercial deployment lies in the realms of economics, efficiency, and, notably, technology readiness, intricately tied to ASTM approval. Table 4 provides an overview of the status quo to e-SAF production pathways. The low and high temperature distinction lies in the coupling of these technologies with low or high temperature electrolysers.

In theory, these technologies presuppose an excess of renewable electricity within the grid, which can be harnessed to generate and store diverse energy products during periods of low electricity cost. Subsequently, these stored energy products can be utilized to meet later demands. Theoretically, this surplus of renewable electricity should compensate for the relatively low conversion efficiencies inherent in these technologies. However, this scenario does not align with the current reality, as the grid continues to heavily rely on fossil-based electricity. The process of conversion and reconversion, therefore, lacks both technical and economic feasibility. This underscores the relevant connection between

indigenous e-SAF production in Germany and the widespread deployment of renewable energy sources [86].

For this analysis, the b-SAF would be interchangeably referred to as biogenic SAF or pathways, and similarly e-SAF as non-biogenic SAF or PtL pathways.

3.4.3. Hybrid SAF

In addition to these single-sourced SAFs, h-SAFs are derived from complementing b-SAF and e-SAF feedstocks. For example, to enhance the process yield of biogenic conversion processes, they may be supplemented with electrolytically produced hydrogen. The resultant fuel would contain the calorific content of both feedstocks [69]. Despite this, due to the broadness of their configuration, h-SAFs are not discussed further.

3.5. SAF Assessment Framework

3.5.1. Availability Dimension

The availability dimension focuses on the accessibility of feedstocks and potential competing demands that might divert feedstocks away from SAF production. These parameters have been defined and quantified in preceding chapters, and ongoing assessments will delve deeper into this aspect. For context, Germany already has an established agriculture industry along with a robust biomass and biofuels industry – this greatly mitigates the concerns regarding availability. That being said, there are only a limited number of feedstocks that can be produced indigenously and efficiently, given the land area constraints. For electricity-derived fuels this constraint is translated to the availability of renewable electricity.

Another factor that can affect the availability lies on the demand side. With increasing aviation demand, the previously available resources may not be sufficient enough to fully satisfy the fuel demand, thus limiting the ability to expand and ultimately increase the reliance on fuel or feedstock imports. In this pursuit, an aviation demand forecast is carried out in Chapter 4.

3.5.2. Viability Dimension

Within the viability dimension, both the economic and technical feasibilities of various SAF production pathways are scrutinized. While some pathways may already demonstrate technical feasibility, the inquiry into their economic and commercial viability remains open and will be subject to further investigation. Apart from low conversion efficiencies of existing pathways and technology costs – which are expected to improve. The economic viability is further directly affected by geographical factors, such as cost of feedstock and energy to

produce SAF are one of the biggest cost-drivers. Due to the limited scope of this thesis, the viability would only be assessed for German aviation demand with limited number of technologies and available feedstocks.

3.5.3. Sustainability Dimension

The sustainability dimension stands as a pivotal factor in the SAF assessment framework. The overarching goal of SAF development in Germany is the reduction of direct and indirect GHG emissions from the aviation sector. This dimension encompasses an evaluation of environmental sustainability. The sustainability assessment can be evaluated with standardized frameworks and tools; the most widespread being the Lifecycle Assessment (LCA) framework.

Given the complexity of assessing SAF options, particularly when considering various pathways, feedstocks, regions, and use-cases, a pragmatic approach becomes imperative. Rather than evaluating each individual combination in isolation, a regulatory framework emerges as a practical solution. Such a framework can establish emissions thresholds for each pathway and feedstock combination, alongside additional sustainability benchmarks encompassing factors such as water use, land use, and the potential impact on food and fodder production. The default values provided under the legislative framework are generally derived from LCA analysis using average values for the region under consideration. However, this pragmatism offsets the higher resolution offered by individualized analysis and evaluation, on the other hand enables a level-playing field for various developers to deploy their pathways in a time efficient manner.

It is opined that this approach not only streamlines the assessment process but also offers a standardized and comprehensive mechanism for ensuring the sustainability of SAFs in the context of GHG emissions reduction from the aviation activities. It is deemed extremely important that uniformity and clear decision-making tools are established to accelerate the decarbonization of various sectors, including aviation.

3.5.3.1. SAF Sustainability Criterion

Two regulatory frameworks are identified over the course of the analysis, i.e., CORSIA Sustainability Criteria and EU REDII Directive with direct applicability for the aviation sector. The key criteria are summarized in Table 5.

Table 5: SAF sustainability eligibility criteria under EU REDII and ICAO CORSIA

Source: Compiled from [3, 26, 87, 88]

Criteria	EU REDII	CORSIA			
	- Criteria for biofuels, including SAF				
Scope	- ReFuelEU Aviation further narrows the allowable feedstocks to REDII Annex IX	- Criteria for alternative aviation fuels, including SAF			
GHG emissions threshold	 Significant GHG emission reduction envisaged on a lifecycle basis over the fossil baseline of 94 gCO₂eq/MJ Biogenic fuels: 65% minimum Non-biogenic fuels: 70% minimum 	- Eligible fuels must demonstrate an emission reduction of at least 10% against fossil baseline of 89 gCO2eq/MJ on a lifecycle basis			
Land Use and Carbon Stock	- Biomass from primary, protected forests, peatlands, wetlands, grassla areas with high biological diversity are banned, as this can cause degra of high carbon stock areas and adversely affect flora and fauna				
Indirect Land Use Change		- ILUC emissions based on lifecycle analysis			
(ILUC) ⁹	- Not included in the criteria	- Max of ILUC and default emission value is considered			
Competition with food and feed crops	- Not eligible	- No explicit mention			
	- Defaults values provided for various feedstocks and pathways				
Default values	- For CORSIA, regional defaults are available but do not cover all the possible feedstock for each pathway				
Annlinghility	- Geographical: EU-27, mandatory	- Geographical: Global, voluntary			
Аррисаршту	- Temporal: Currently applicable	- Temporal: First pilot phase			

From the findings above, it is evaluated that, currently, the REDII criteria is more applicable for the German case, due to its apropos mandatory compliance and stringent GHG emission targets; any pathway meeting REDII standards would surpass the threshold set under CORSIA framework. Moreover, certain advantages for emission factors are allocated under REDII, based on land-use change, second generation feedstocks etc. This can positively impact the emission rating of the end fuel, making it viable to compete with emission

⁹ REDII defines ILUC as the adverse effect caused by the cultivation of crops for biofuels, bioliquids and biomass fuels as it displaces traditional production of crops for food and feed purposes putting pressure on existing land which may extend agricultural activities on land with high carbon stock and biodiversity.

savings limits set under the regulation. However, these are ignored in the analysis and the assessment is independent of any corrections over the calculated emissions.

3.6. Short-listed Pathways

As of writing this thesis, the biogenic pathways are the most technologically established and commercially-ready pathways for SAF production, and enjoy pre-existing certification under global normative frameworks. As Dyk and Saddler exclaims [55], there is no clearly winning technology. Thereby, efforts are necessitated to appropriately select a pathway based on geographical location, feedstock availability, upstream-, midstream-, downstream infrastructure, and fuel demand, among other reasons.

In this pursuit, the available biogenic feedstocks in Germany are mapped along with their potential and accompanying infrastructure as described in chapter 2, supported by the information regarding biogenic pathways in section 3.4 and graphically presented in Figure 12. It is observed that not all pathways are eligible for the German market, at scale, due to limitations imposed by land-use, regulations, low conversion efficiency of the processes, technology readiness, and/or low blending limits. These impress a "barrier to entry" encountered by various probable pathways. The findings from this exercise are presented in Table 6.

Furthering the analysis for non-biogenic pathways, the options are rather limited, as evident from the options listed in Table 4. Only 2 technologies based on low temperature electrolysis are observed to have reached commercial maturity; these are methanol synthesis and Fischer-Tropsch synthesis. In addition to this, a steady source of CO₂ is required by the synthesis process, for which high concentration sources of CO₂ are selected for further analysis, as direct air capture is extremely expensive and no breakthrough in terms of technological development is known to the author. Amine washing of concentrated CO₂ sources is an industrial-scale process, which has reached at-scale deployment and has been operational globally for decades. These two non-biogenic pathways are also appended in the Table 6 to provide a complete overview of the analysis, along with key observations.

The short-listed scenarios are further refined based on their techno-commercial limitations and merits, and further optimized for an efficient decarbonization model for the German aviation sector. Due to the broadness of the scope of techno-commercial study, the shortlisted pathways are discussed in-detail in Chapter 5 and 6 with more concrete justifications for the selection of these routes. In addition to these pathways, it is expected that alternate aviation technologies, namely, hydrogen and direct electrification, would play a significant role in the future, and any comprehensive decarbonization would be incomplete without addressing these pathways. Thereby, more light is shed on the generation of hydrogen and electricity for aviation in Chapter 6 in order to put forward a holistic strategy for decarbonization and study the macro-economic implications that may occur in pursuance of such a strategy.

 Table 6: Short-listed pathways for Germany selected for further modelling
 Source: Author's own analysis, additional references cited in the table

Pathways	Potential Feedstock(s)	Observations/Comments	Further Analysis
		- High TRL and FRL	
		- Established supply chain	
		- Limited potential for used cooking oil [89]	
HEFA	Biogenic: Rapeseed, Used cooking oil, Algae	- No existing potential could be identified [76], however can be a potential pathway in the future [54]	- Yes - Only rapeseed oil from fallow land and export ban
		- ASTM approved	
		- >=50% blending allowed	
		- Rapeseed not allowed un- der REDII	
		- High TRL and FRL	
	Biogenic: Forest residue, Agricultural residue, Sugar beet	- Established industry for bi- oethanol production	
ATJ		- Low recovery for biomass feedstocks [76]	- Yes
(Emanol)		- ASTM approved	- Only sugar beet
		- >=50% blending allowed	
		- Sugar beet not allowed under REDII	
		- High TRL and FRL	
		- Low recovery for biomass feedstocks [76]	
ATJ (Isobutanol)	Biogenic: Forest residue, Agricultural residue, Sugar beet	- Higher estimated cost of production [90] and already existing supply chain for bi- oethanol	- Not selected
	-	- ASTM approved	
		- >=50% blending allowed	
		- Sugar beet not allowed under REDII	

Pathways	Potential Feedstock(s)	Observations/Comments	Further Analysis
Gasification + FT	Biogenic: Forest residue, Agricultural residue, Mu- nicipal waste	 Technology with high TRL and FRL Ability to handle varied feedstocks with various ori- gins and calorific values ASTM approved >=50% blending allowed All feedstocks allowed un- der REDII 	- Yes
SIP	Biogenic: Sugar beet	 Technology with high TRL but relatively lower FRL Extremely low blending limits (10%) Single potential feedstock Sugar beet can be used more efficiently in other pro- cesses ASTM approved Sugar beet not allowed under REDII 	- Not included
FT synthesis	Non-biogenic: Concen- trated CO ₂ source and fresh water	 Coupled with low temperature electrolysers both technologies exhibit high TRL and FRL Blending in the range 50%-100% is expected with even 100% fully compatible status for newer aircrafts, however, both are not currently approved under ASTM standards If coupled with RE sources, both technologies 	- Yes, for e-kerosene production
Methanol synthesis	Non-biogenic: Concen- trated CO ₂ source and fresh water	 are considered 'zero emission' under regulations (REDII) Only limited by RE supply and can be scaled up to meet the demand, i.e., the ceiling is substantially higher than biogenic sources Can be deployed locally close to load centers and large airports or in a co-located setting with carbon-intensive industries such as steel and cement 	- Yes, for e-kerosene production

Pathways	Potential Feedstock(s)	Observations/Comments	Further Analysis
		- For FT, Reverse Water Gas Shift (RWGS) reaction is selected due to currently commercially operational production plants. Direct FT is still under development and no large scale deploy- ment is observed [36]	
		- Methanol synthesis is fun- damentally an ATJ process with synthesis of alcohol from CO_2 and H_2 generated by electricity.	



Figure 12: Overview of possible fuel conversion pathways by feedstocks' primary input type, preliminary processing, and main conversion processes, along with ASTM approval status

Source: Based on the findings of OR adapted from [55, 60, 70-75, 91-95]

4. Aviation Energy Demand Modelling

"Begin at the beginning, "the King said, very gravely", "and go on till you come to the end: then stop." Lewis Carroll, Alice in Wonderland (1865)

4.1. Preamble

During the literature review, various estimates for the future development of aviation demand in the German market have come to light, including from various government- and non-government bodies, technical reports, and scientific papers. Instead of using these estimates verbatim, it is decided to pursue an exercise to develop a deeper understanding of the dynamics and the factors at play, which may drive the energy demand of aviation in the region. To develop this understanding, historical trends are analyzed for various macroeconomic and technical aspects, and by employing statistical methods, correlations and dependencies among these factors are established, which are then used to forecast the energy demand for the period from 2025 till 2050.

Building upon the discussion in section 2.1.1 on the German aviation sector growth, within the period of 2004 to 2019, the aviation fuel consumption in Germany, including aviation fuel, jet fuel and aviation gasoline has increased with a CAGR of 2.15% per annum, with 2019 consumption standing at almost 10.2 million tons of fuel per year. Although, the pace of growth has tempered off due to the devastating impact of COVID-19 pandemic on aviation activities; the sector has shown remarkable resilience and has returned to 86% of the pre-pandemic level in 2023 in EU [96]. Thereby, it is expected that the historical trend would remain valid for the foreseeable future. Subsequently, the timeline for the historical data is terminated at 2019 to reduce the variance introduced by the pandemic and a common 20-year timeseries is selected for all the considered factors, except for Aviation Consumer Price Index (CPI) as it was only published from 2004-onwards in the selected database. The next sections provide a more detailed discussion on the key factors considered and the underlying relationships.



Figure 13: Aviation Fuel Consumption in Germany - in 1000s tons; including Aviation Fuel, Jet Fuel and Petroleum, without lubricating Oils and Greases

Source: Original data from [19], graphics by the author

CORSIA targets are global in-nature and does not necessarily apply to regional emissions. Hence, a local methodology should be developed taking into consideration the regionally significant variables. Thereby, the demand modelling step, undertaken during the course of the thesis provides valuable insights into the development of the German aviation market and offers a certain level of flexibility in creating additional scenarios and assessing their sensitivity on the pathways considered.

4.2. Forecast Model and Key Variables

4.2.1. Description

As illustrated in Figure 14, the aviation energy demand forecast is founded on various technical and macro-economic variables. Fuel demand is considered as a primary variable and used as a proxy for aviation demand, because of the status quo all aviation demand comes from fuel combustion technologies. The correlations between fuel demand and other variables are established, namely, population change, GDP per capita, cost of travel derived from aviation CPI, and fuel efficiency improvements. The correlations are based on 20-year historical datasets (where possible) and forecast is carried out for 30 years from 2020 till 2050, out of which 2025-2050 period is selected for further modelling. Additionally, the aviation market structure in Germany is assumed to be fully liberalized and competitive, and no asymmetry of information is assumed in the model.

Aviation Energy Demand Modelling

The datasets are filtered and processed to eliminate data corruption issues and subsequently indexed to 2010-levels, i.e., 2010-value for each dataset is considered as 100 and succeeding and preceding values are scaled accordingly. Indexing based on 2010-levels is done to save effort, as most of the datasets were already indexed with this benchmark. However, this is completely arbitrary and any reference point would result in identical results. The indexed datasets are analyzed with Microsoft Excel and a Multivariate Regression Analysis (MRA) is executed using built-in tools. The results are automatically evaluated using the ANOVA functionality in Excel, and consequently short-listed based on R-Square (R²) and p-value (Significance-F) values¹⁰.



Figure 14: Aviation energy demand forecast model with key variable and steps

By using the coefficients obtained from the MRA for the considered variables and the energy demand for 2019, the long-term demand forecast is established. The resultant annual demand values are adjusted for seasonal demand variations by means of an annual

¹⁰ Pripp [97] and Dahiru [98] provide a clear and concise description of significance tests for regression analysis and the associated benchmark p-values

distribution, resulting in monthly values for aviation fuel consumption which are divided by the number of hours of the respective month to obtain hourly values required for the energy model. The selection of influencing variables is largely based on the long-term forecast modelling conducted by ICAO [99], in the immediate case the model is adapted for the German market due to the limited scope of the thesis.

4.2.2. GDP Growth vis-à-vis Aviation Demand

The relationship between aviation demand and economic activity is clearly established in the scientific literature, however the magnitude is still under debate and is considered highly dependent on various regional and global factors [100–103]. In this analysis, economic activity is represented by GDP and its forecasted changed over the modelling period. It can be argued that personal disposable income (PDI) can be a better representative of economic activity for the aviation sector, as the individuals with more income may intend to travel more. Moreover, it has been identified that the PDI is not directly linked with GDP per capita and is often outpaced across multiple regions around the world [104]. However, it is concluded that it is extremely hard to predict as PDI is dependent on numerous other factors, including, average family size, number of bread earners etc. Due to overarching time-constraints, for this analysis, the relationship between GDP per capita and aviation demand were relied upon.



Figure 15: Simplified relationship between aviation demand (in terms of RPK) and GDP per capita of a country Source: Author's own illustration, with inspiration from ICAO [99]

Aviation Energy Demand Modelling

Furthermore, this simplification is not unrealistic, as reported by Hanson et al. [100], there is abundance of evidence available regarding the correlation between GDP/GDP per capita and aviation demand. As the overall economy develops the aviation market is poised to develop with it. The observed trend appears to follow an S-curve, initially the demand behaves inelastically to the economic growth and reacts slowly to the GDP growth, but tends to accelerate as the economies develop at a higher pace, before settling down to moderate values (see Figure 15). Aviation demand is represented as RPK (Revenue Passenger Kilometer) which is the total of revenue paying passengers and the distance travelled in kilometers. IATA/ICAO claims that the transition point where the demand elasticity settles down lies at 20,000 USD per capita [99]. As Germany's GDP per capita of approx. 52,000 USD is much higher than this benchmark, the reaction of the German aviation demand to GDP per capita change is expected to be 'moderate' in nature.

For Germany the aviation energy demand and GDP has risen steadily over the last 20 years, with aviation demand observing a slightly steeper rise, as observable in Figure 16. Despite this the correlation between the two datasets remain extremely high - 0.906 for the 20-year timeline and reducing to 0.885 if only the last 10 years are considered. This result further strengthens the assumptions and makes GDP per capita an appropriate yardstick to gauge the forecast the growth in the aviation sector.

Historically, the GDP per capita in Germany has risen at an average rate of approx. 3% per annum. A study conducted by German Federal Ministry of Digital and Transport (BMDV) forecasts a growth rate of 1.35% real per annum in GDP per capita until 2040 and afterwards slowing down to 1.26% real per annum until 2051 [105]. For this analysis, 3% p.a. growth is assumed for the base case, for low- and high demand growth cases, GDP growth of 1.5% and 4% are assumed respectively.



Figure 16: 20-year historical data for aviation energy demand and GDP per capita in Germany, linear trend plotted as dotted-line

Source: Author's own analysis, with original data from [19, 106]

4.2.3. Fuel Efficiency Improvements vis-à-vis Aviation Demand

Fuel efficiency improvements are associated with fuel burn rates of an airplane, thus directly corelated to the cost of operating a flight. Labor cost and fuel cost account for up to 60% of the total operational cost of a flight [107], it is therefore expected that the fuel efficiency improvements can significantly reduce the overall cost of flying thus making flying affordable for lower income groups; in return increasing the overall aviation demand and vice versa. It is observed that the overall fuel combustion rate in the airline industry is experiencing a downward trend since 1960s [108] – with estimates based on ICAO metric value a CAGR of -1.05% is observed for the period 1960-2014. This is conservative than the -1.24% CAGR observed when calculation are done based on fuel requirement per passenger-km. Nonetheless, there is a clear downward development of fuel consumption in the airline industry across all airplane types [108].

This fuel efficiency gain is observed to be offset by the average fleet age of an airline. Most modern airlines tend to maintain a fleet age of around 10-12 years, subject to regional development [109]. Afterwards, depending on the remaining life of the aircraft, they are either used for cargo transport or a completely retired – average retirement age of aircraft is predicted to be 25 years on average [109]. In the study by Kharina & Rutherford in 2015

[108], it is observed that, there exists a time-lag of 12 years between fuel burn improvement by the industry and time required to reach ICAO's goals. The study also explored the drivers of the slowdown in fuel efficiency after 1990, citing to the introduction of less efficient regional jets into the fleet, against newer, and more efficient aircraft types. Between 1999 and 2014, the fuel efficiency has increased by 0.57% CAGR.

In 2010, ICAO conducted a study [7] to determine various medium- and long-term fuel burn technology goals for achieving ICAO 's long-term goal of improving annual fuel efficiency by 2% and stabilizing global CO₂ emissions at 2020 levels. However, in the same report the independent experts have concluded only 1.4% per annum improvement by 2030, associating it with the aircraft design and technology improvement. Meanwhile, the ICAO study aims at a holistic system efficiency. For this instance, as other operational peripheries are not considered, the improvement claimed by the independent experts is much more relevant. This fuel efficiency improvement is also corroborated by the analysis done Ko-zuba and Ojciec [110].

As there is a clear lack of consensus, for the forecast model, it is assumed that the longterm historical trends will remain valid in the future and are also considered valid for the German market. For this reason, curve fitting technique is used to develop a numerical equation using long-term data and extrapolate the existing trends till 2050. Power curves are observed to provide the 'best fit' based on R-square (R²) values, with selected trendline based on ICAO metric value achieving 0.95 determination (see Figure 17). The following equation is used to calculate the relative increase or decrease in fuel consumption during the forecast period for all demand cases (base, low and high).

$$FE_{ICAO} = (2 \times 10^{79}) * x^{-23.47}$$
⁽¹⁾

For equation (1), *x* is the year in the range of 1960 to 2050, and FE_{ICAO} is the value for fuel efficiency based in ICAO Metric Value – indexed to 1968 = 100. The extrapolated trend is then re-indexed to 2010 = 100 for an easier assessment in relation to aviation energy demand in Germany. It is observed that there exists a clear negative correlation between fuel efficiency improvement and fuel demand in Germany and is characterized by a correlation factor -0.910 (see Figure 18).



Figure 17: Curve-fitting results of long-term fuel efficiency improvement in the global aviation sector Source: Original data from [108], trendline and projections established by the author



Figure 18: 20-year historical data for aviation energy demand and extrapolated fuel efficiency improvements in Germany, linear trend plotted as a dotted-line

Source: Aviation energy demand from [19], analysis conducted by the author

4.2.4. Population Growth in Germany

The population of a region is directly associated with aviation demand, as a higher number of people equates to more potential flyers and higher economic activities. In the case of Germany, the population and the age demographics is not expected to change [105]. Even with stagnant population growth, German aviation demand has consistently risen over the considered time period, highlighting a decoupling between aviation demand and population in German market. Thereby, population change is not considered in the aviation forecast modelling. However, in a region with evolving population and demographics, this factor would play a significant role in forecasting the long-term aviation demand.

4.2.5. Cost of Flying impact on Aviation Demand

Aviation Consumer Price Index (AvCPI) is a sub category of the general Consumer Price Index published by the Federal Statistical Office of Germany (DESTATIS). The AvCPI tracks the cost of air travel over years, accounting for fuel costs, salaries, taxes, and duties among other factors affecting the costs. For the purpose of reasonable simplification, AvCPI for intercontinental travel is used as metric of aviation costs. It is assumed that the intercontinental travel generally reflects higher direct variable costs such as fuel, salaries, and maintenance, while the landing and airport fees are minimized as they plane spends comparatively more time in-flight. That being said, the trend between domestic, within Europe and intercontinental CPI is comparable and generally follows similar ebbs and flows [19].

As it is clearly evident from the graph (see Figure 19), despite both of them having a positive slope, there is a clear contrasting behavior, highlighted by point 1 and 2 in the figure – as the AvCPI (cost of flying) increases, the aviation energy demand (aviation demand) drops and vice versa. From the statistical evaluation, the calculated correlation factor between the two datasets is 0.561. Despite the low correlation factor, AvCPI is considered in the model as it helps to evaluate the aviation demand from a consumer's perspective.

For the period from 2004-2019, a 2.5% CAGR is observed and is used as an input for the base demand scenario. However, it is observed that, there is a correlation between General CPI and GDP of a country, as both are a measure of inflation in an economy but from different perspectives [111]. As aviation sector is part of the larger economy, AvCPI is expected to follow a similar relationship with GDP. But, in order to have a growing aviation sector, the GDP must grow faster than the AvCPI, otherwise the effects from these factors are cancelled-out and demand would remain at similar levels. For this reason, for a high



demand scenario, AvCPI is assumed to be 2.2% per annum, and for the low demand scenario it is assumed to be 1.8% per annum as the GDP growth slows down as well.

Figure 19: 20-year historical data for aviation energy demand and cost of air travel, linear trend plotted as a dotted-line Source: Original data from [19, 112], analysis conducted by the author

4.2.6. Seasonality in German Aviation Sector

The German aviation sector experiences seasonal variations over the course of a year. The number of controlled flights increases during warmer months and quenches during colder months. This month-on-month variation between months with the highest and lowest values is 2.73% of the annual total flights. Similar behavior is also observed on datasets with longer timespans [96]. This distribution is assumed to be proportional to the aviation energy demand, due to the lack of any direct dataset addressing this need known to the author. It is acknowledged that, this does not necessarily mean that aviation energy demand behaves in a similar manner, as demand may be met by smaller or larger aircrafts, or longer or shorter routes, among various other factors that can have a completely different energy demand profile. Nonetheless, due to the lack of more specific datasets it is assumed that energy demand follows a similar monthly trend.

The distribution illustrated in Figure 20 is used as a scaling factor to transform the annual energy forecast to monthly forecast, and subsequently using number of hours of the respective month to transform to hourly values for energy modelling purposes.

Aviation Energy Demand Modelling



Figure 20: Monthly distribution of controlled flights in Germany, 2019 Source: Author's own analysis based on the data from DFS [113]

4.3. Multivariate Regression Analysis and Modelled Demand

Based on the key variables discussed above, 6 models are assessed to provide the best approximation of the observed historical data using Multivariate Regression Analysis (MRA), with various configurations of GDP, AvCPI, and fuel efficiency estimations. The results of the MRA are tabulated in Table 7. It is clearly evident that MRA 3 offers the best approximation of the underlying variables based on R^2 and p-values. It can be seen that, p-values for all the models are extremely low and are considered 'statistically significant' (p-value < 0.05), however the correlation factor (R^2) varies significantly across various models. MRA 3 offers the best parameters among the modelled scenarios and is, therefore, selected as the reference model for forecasting future aviation demand in Germany.

Figure 21 provides a graphical representation of the relationship between the aviation energy demand and the resultant time-series from various MRA models. This also leads to similar observations and conclusion that, MRA 3 offers the best fit among the modelled scenarios as both timeseries can be visually observed to follow each other closely. Only the period of 2004-2019 is plotted on the graph, as it is the common time period among all the considered variables.

	Key V	ariables		Regression Statistics			
Model	GDP	AvCPI	Fuel Efficiency	R ²	St. Error	F-value	p-value
MRA 1	Yes	Yes	Fuel/RPK method	0.828	4.483	9.267	6.99E-05
MRA 2	Yes	Yes	ICAO metric value method – linear forecast	0.828	4.483	19.267	6.99E-05
MRA 3	Yes	Yes	ICAO metric value method - power forecast	0.924	2.984	48.513	5.54E-07
MRA 4	Yes	No	Fuel/RPK method	0.712	5.576	16.059	3.07E-04
MRA 5	Yes	No	ICAO metric value method – linear forecast	0.712	5.576	16.059	3.07E-04
MRA 6	Yes	No	ICAO metric value method - power forecast	0.712	5.572	16.089	3.05E-04

Table 7: Multivariate Regression Analysis modelled scenarios and summary of results

Based on the short-listed MRA 3 model, the demand forecast for the future years is calculated using the following equation.

$$Demand_n = [210.9498 + (0.9392 * GDP_n) - (0.6908 * AvCPI_n) - (1.4871 * FE_{icao,n})]_{Index \ 2010 \ = \ 100}$$
(2)

Where, $Demand_n$ is the annual aviation energy demand for the nth year, GDP_n is the GDP of the nth year, $AvCPI_n$ is the Aviation CPI for the nth year and $FE_{icao,n}$ is the fuel efficiency for the nth year derived from the ICAO metric method using power curve fitting. It must be noted that all these parameters are Indexed to 2010 = 100 and resultant demand can be converted to absolute values using the 2010-reference energy consumption of 362 PJ or 100.55 TWh.

Aviation Energy Demand Modelling





Figure 21: Relationship between aviation energy demand observed and modelled values from Multivariate Regression Analysis

4.4. Aviation Demand Forecast

4.4.1. Demand Curves

Using equation (2) and the parameters defined in Table 8, the aviation energy demand for Germany is forecasted for the years 2020 till 2050. This energy demand is considered as a proxy for overall aviation demand. Based on the model, it is expected that German aviation sector will grow, albeit at various rates based on underlying economic conditions. The long-term forecast for these economic parameters is extremely difficult and often does not materialize, however, effort is expended to transparently define the assumption and present the most accurate possible outcome within the constraint of time and scope of this thesis.

	Demand Growth			
	Low	Base	High	
GDP Growth	1.5%	3.0%	4.0%	
AvCPI Growth	1.8%	2.5%	2.2%	
Fuel Efficiency Improvement				
Expected CAGR	0.6%	1.8%	3.2%	
Total Change ₂₀₁₉	19.9%	74.2%	167.0%	

Table 8: Summary of various aviation demand forecast cases

According to the prognosis, the aviation demand in Germany will grow by 1.8% CAGR and would be approx. 175% of the current values by 2050, provided that the historical trends remain valid in future. Under a suppressed demand growth, the sector would experience a sluggish 0.6% CAGR and would only be approx. 20% larger than it is currently. If permitted by favorable conditions and higher economic growth, the sector may expand 3.2% on average till 2050 and would be 2.7 times the current size. It is reiterated that these estimates are based on extremely simplistic assumptions and may not fully capture the underlying dynamics of the aviation sector in Germany. Despite this, these estimates are used to understand the constraints that may be imposed on the supply-side, if the forecasted demand is to be met in a sustainable manner within the framework of global, regional, and national legislations. Figure 22 provides a trendline for base, low, high demand scenarios.

It may be noted that, this demand forecast is only based on kerosene-based aviation and do not include the influence of alternate aviation technologies on the overall energy demand of the sector. In order to gauge the accuracy of the model, the obtained forecast is evaluated under the light of existing forecast by national and international bodies. The results of which are discussed in subsequent section.



Figure 22: German aviation energy demand forecast, 2020-2050

4.4.2. Comparative Analysis

In 2012, ICAO developed a 30-year forecast model for passenger and cargo air traffic demand; comprising of datasets from 1995 through to 2012, including considerations for disposable income, population growth (in conjunction with income growth), economic & business activities, global trade, airline networks, deregulation and the cost of air travel [99]. Through which ICAO expects an increase in RPK by 2.5% CAGR for 10, 20, and even 30 years for the European market, while the domestic demand is expected to remain relatively low [99]. Within the context of reference report, RPK values are used as an indicator of aviation demand, which is different from the immediate case as the forecast is based on energy requirement. Despite this, a correlation between these two measures can be established as more revenue generation would necessitate more flying customers, resulting in higher energy demand. In a different study conducted by the German Energy Agency (DENA) for e-kerosene use in aviation fuel [31], which forecasts long-term growth trends in aviation demand for global, European, and US markets. The forecast is at higher resolution compared to the ICAO study with demand values for each 5-yr period till 2050. Additionally, as the DENA study is published in 2022, the adversarial impacts of COVID-19 pandemic is accounted for in the long-term growth; a slower growth in 2020s and acceleration beyond 2030 in both scenarios developed by the agency. Regardless of that, for both of the studies, it is clear that the expected demand from 2019 till 2050 increases with a CAGR of approx. 2.4% in Europe, which is comparatively slower than the global aviation industry.

This estimate is more optimistic than the calculated estimate and falls in-between the baseand high-demand scenarios.

As both of the reports focus on the European market, which, understandably, can be different from the German market - due to inclusion of less mature economies, thus, the results of the developed demand forecast are compared with the forecast published by the German Ministry of Digital and Transport (BMDV) [105]. In this report, a detailed prognosis is developed catering to the dynamics of the German market and within the broader context of the whole transportation system in Germany. The report forecasts an increase of 68% within the period of 2019-2051, representing a CAGR of 1.63%; this estimate is extremely similar to the forecasted base case growth of 1.8% per annum.

Based on the above reasoning, it is deemed that the forecast carried out sufficiently address the dynamics of the German market and establishes a benchmark to evaluate the energy requirements to meet these demands.

4.5. Alternate Propulsion Technologies' Impact on Forecasted Demand

4.5.1. Technical Parameters

Due to the technical disparity between kerosene-based planes and alternate technologies, namely, hydrogen- and electric planes, it is expected that there will be a significant change in the holistic energy requirements of the sector as these technologies are introduced. The report published by DENA provides a comparison of these technologies and the energy requirement per passenger-km [31] - the values provided by DENA are also corroborated by other scientific literature [114–116]. As the DENA study also provides projected improvements in the fuel conversion efficiencies till 2050, for this analysis, these projections are taken as the reference values. From the data (see Figure 23), it is clearly evident that the alternate propulsion technologies offer much more efficient use of energy to serve a similar demand. Over the entire timeline, it is estimated that, hydrogen planes will be approx. 20%-30% more efficient than kerosene planes and electric planes. This will in turn drastically alter the energy requirements, subject to how much diffusion the alternate technologies can be achieved.



Figure 23: Fleet-weighted energy requirement per passenger-km, in KWh/pkm, 2030-2050

Source: Original data from [31]



Figure 24: Assumed fuel share by plane propulsion technology, 2020-2050

Source: Original data from [31]

The diffusion of alternate technologies is extremely hard to predict, as most of the design are in early stages of development and a specific release date is not yet publicized. Based on various estimates from airplane manufacturers, national regulators and scientific papers, it is forecasted that these technologies would be put into service around the middle of 2030s, approximately 2035 [31, 65, 117–121]. For this analysis, the study conducted by DENA [31] is used as the reference, as it is done by a German institution and would provide a more realistic estimate for the German market. The assumed shares of alternate propulsion technologies at a 5-year interval are presented in Figure 24 and is used to adjust the previously forecasted demand for all demand cases.

 $Demand_{n,adjusted}$

$$= (Demand_{n} * x_{kerosene,n})$$

$$+ (Demand_{n} * x_{hydrogen,n} * \eta_{hydrogen,rel,n})$$

$$+ (Demand_{n} * x_{electric,n} * \eta_{electric,rel,n})$$

$$(3)$$

For the adjustment pertinent to alternate technologies based on energy efficiency and fuel share, equation (3) is used. In which $Demand_{n,adjusted}$ is the adjusted aviation demand $(Demand_n)$ for nth year; $x_{kerosene,n}$, $x_{hydrogen,n}$, $x_{electric,n}$ are the share of kerosene-, hydrogen- and electric aviation respectively; $\eta_{hydrogen,rel,n}$ and $\eta_{electric,rel,n}$ are the relatively fuel efficiency w.r.t kerosene-based fleet for hydrogen and electric planes respectively.

4.5.2. Adjusted Demand Curves

With the adjustments formulated above, the forecasted demand is adjusted for base, low and high demand growth scenario using equation (3) along with the factors illustrated in Figure 23 and Figure 24. The adjusted final demand is plotted in Figure 25. From the figure it is clearly evident that, the alternative propulsion technologies would drastically alter the energy demand of the sector. As the hydrogen and electric planes are introduced in 2035, the demand for kerosene starts to drop and settles at levels well below of the 2020-levels by 2050. Based on the calculations, alternative technologies are forecasted to offer 20-30% reduction in annual energy consumption. It is worth emphasizing that, these values are based on projected trends, the actual deployment of these technologies is subjected to, including but not limited to, the development of these technologies at an accelerated pace, the range and capabilities of the aircrafts, regulatory policies, safety and air worthiness concerns, cost of transition and inherent cost of these technologies, and competition with railways due to shorter range.



Figure 25: Adjusted aviation demand forecast with kerosene, electric and hydrogen propulsion technologies along with non-adjusted demand forecast

5. Assessment of Biogenic Pathways in the Light of Foreseeable Aviation Demand

 There are many paths to the top of the mountain, but the view is always the same."
 Chinese Proverb

5.1. Preamble

In this chapter, the short-listed biogenic pathways are analyzed for their potential to sufficiently meet the demand under various growth scenarios. As previously established, biogenic pathways are already approved under the ASTM D7566 and have an already established global and local production capacity. Therefore, it is only sensible to assess the indigenous potential of the German market, under the constraints highlighted in previous chapters to meet or exceed the fuel needs of the aviation sector. In pursuit of which, firstly, a general overview is provided regarding the technical aspects considered when converting available feedstocks with their coupled conversion pathways. Secondly, the maximum substitution potential of HEFA, ATJ and GFT pathways are established. Thirdly, associated emissions are calculated for each pathway and finally a ranking criterion is formulated to rate the potential of each pathway under the technical and environmental constraints. The chapter also summarizes the techno-physical aspects of each pathway, that may be used to develop an energy optimization model later on. It is clarified that, the calculations instead of focusing on the individual steps of conversion processes, try to deal with the complexity of the analysis at a macro-level. It is acknowledged that simplifications are made that would come into play when a high-resolution analysis is carried out, however, justifications and clarifications for the simplifications are provided to the best of the knowledge of the author.

5.2. Biogenic Pathways

As previously discussed in section 3.6, the biogenic pathways listed below are already approved under the ASTM D7566 standard and have a diverse, well-established supplychain for feedstocks in Germany. Even though, as previously highlighted, the feedstocks selected for these pathways may not fully comply with the REDII directive, despite this they are selected as they offer the best land-use potential for cultivation and highest fuel yield per hectare. Over the course of the thesis, it is observed that land availability is one of the

Assessment of Biogenic Pathways in the Light of Foreseeable Aviation Demand

most constraining factors for Germany and in order to develop a "best case" scenario for biogenic pathways, feedstocks with most efficient must be selected. As it will be presented later, even under these favorable conditions the individual biogenic pathways fail to meet the aviation demand in any substantial manner. In order to further the discussion, the following pathways are discussed further and more light is shed on the information relevant to the analysis at hand, namely:

- 1. Hydroprocessed Esters and Fatty Acids (HEFA)
- 2. Alcohol-to-Jet (ATJ)



3. Gasification plus Fischer-Tropsch (GFT)

Figure 26: Product-slate (by mass) of selected biogenic pathways and their configurations Source: [93, 122]

5.2.1. Hydroprocessed Esters and Fatty Acid (HEFA) Pathways

Hydroprocessed Esters and Fatty Acid (HEFA) is also referred to as Hydrotreated Vegetable Oil (HVO) in particularly older literature. It is a thermochemical process in which oilbased feedstocks, such as vegetable oils and fats, are converted into straight chain paraffinic hydrocarbons by means of hydroprocessing. This process is considered as an alternative process to esterification. According to Tao et al., even with a 20% higher system cost than esterification, the HEFA conversion process can offer a better economic proposition due to its product slate, with high quality and clean burning combustion products [60, 123]. In a simplistic form, in the HEFA process the oils are reacted with hydrogen in the presence of a catalyst under high pressure and temperature, and in a step-by-step manner are converted to various alkanes, isomers and cracking products [72, 124].
These converted products are subsequently separated into various hydrocarbon products; in the **default** configuration the product slate of HEFA consists of 17% kerosene, 73% diesel and the light ends make around 10% [122, 124]. However, HEFA can be optimized for jet fuel production, in which the kerosene fraction is increased to 55% while diesel and light ends make up 27% and 18% respectively [122, 124]. For this analysis, the higher jet fuel configuration is referred to as **max jet** (see Figure 26). These products are then blended with conventional jet fuel to be compatible with existing standards, currently only 10% blend-in is allowed under ASTM D7566, but up to 50% blend-in is expected to be allowed soon [69] and this limit is also considered for this analysis.

From the feedstock perspective, plant-based as well as agal oils are compatible with the HEFA process. As discussed in 2.6.2, the supply of algal oils is extremely limited and projects only exist in pilot or demonstration phases, therefore, only plant-based feedstocks remain the focus of this process. Out of which, rapeseed oil produced from indigenously cultivated rapeseed in Germany is selected to provide the input for this process. That being said, if the algal oils become readily available in the future, the land can be better utilized through algae cultivations and can improve the energetic yield from the same land by 3-8 times [81].

As already elaborated, there are 373,100 hectares of fallow land available in Germany [49], with the specific yield estimates of 1.54 tons of rapeseed oil per ha provided by Majer et. al [51], it is calculated that 574 kilotons of rapeseed oil can be produced in Germany, without affecting the land use; this oil using the HEFA process with a conversion factor of 0.9 tons_{fuel oil}/ton_{rapeseed oil} can be converted to hydrocarbons [122]. Afterwards, consideration for product slate and blending ratio is observed to have a significant impact on the overall potential of the pathway along with its specific carbon emissions.

In order to provide a clear understanding of the processes considered, Figure 27 provides key parameters along with mass and energy values of converted products at each step for the HEFA pathway with max jet fuel recovery and 50% blending with conventional jet fuel (HEFA_8) – various pathway configurations are discussed later. For the same pathway configuration key parameters used for the development of the energy optimization model are appended in Table 9. The final rapeseed oil demand for the production of 1MWh of jet fuel is dependent on the blend-in ratios and product slate.

Parameter	Value [Unit]
Land required for 1MW of jet fuel output	9,863,041 [m²/MW _{Jet Fuel}] ¹¹
Rapeseed oil requirement of 1 MWh of jet fuel (mass)	0.1734 [t _{Rapeseed Oil} /MWhJet Fuel]
Rapeseed oil requirement of 1 MWh of jet fuel (energy)	1.8110 [MWh _{Rapeseed Oll} /MWh _{Jet Fuel}]
Rapeseed oil requirement of 1 MWh of jet fuel including	0 9055 [MWbBasesed ou/MWbAviation]

Table 9: HEFA process land and rapeseed requirements for jet fuel production

50% blending (energy)

U.9033 [IVIVVIRapeseed OII/IVIVVIAviation]

With the aim to improve the production to rapeseed oil, without affecting the land use is deemed paramount and effort is expended to identify opportunities to increase the output. It is observed that Germany currently exports 1.29 Mt of biodiesel per annum [49]. In a scenario, where this export is banned, it is calculated that additional 868,000 hectares of rapeseed production would be made available for jet fuel production – this fundamentally would triple the indigenous potential without affecting the land use and disrupting the established supply chain, as this land is already under cultivation for rapeseed and would result in a frictionless transition for the farmers of this crop. Figure 28 provides the potential that may be exploited if a ban on the export of biodiesel is practiced along with the potential to produce additional jet fuel from the redirected supply of rapeseed oil.

It is again reiterated that, the feedstock selection for this pathway does not comply with the REDII sustainability criteria, but due to lack of alternatives in Germany it is selected to provide a gauge to assess the maximum potential of biogenic pathways. Assessing the pathway emissions and maximum demand substitution is discussed in-detail in section 5.4.

¹¹ 1 hectare (ha) = 10000 square meter (m^2)



Figure 27: The process flow for HEFA conversion pathway with fallow land cultivation, max jet recovery, and 50% blending (HEFA_8) along with key parameters

Source: Author's own calculations based on own assumptions and various publications [3, 49, 125, 51, 61, 69, 124, 122, 126, 127]



Figure 28: The process flow for HEFA conversion pathway with biodiesel export ban, max jet recovery, and 50% blending (HEFA_8) along with key parameters

Source: Author's own calculations based on own assumptions and various publications [3, 49, 51, 61, 69, 122, 124–127]

5.2.2. Alcohol-to-Jet (ATJ) Pathway

Alcohol-to-Jet (ATJ) is a thermochemical process in which various alcohol feedstocks can be converted into hydrocarbons including jet fuel, these feedstocks may include methanol, ethanol, (iso) butanol, and even long-chain (C5+) alcohols. ATJ is also known as alcohol oligomerization [75], in which alcohol molecules are processed to olefins, paraffins, and ultimately hydrocarbons in various succeeding steps such dehydration, oligomerization, hydrogenation, and distillation [55, 60, 75, 81, 128]. The ATJ conversions take place in the presence of zeolite and metal oxide catalysts and hydrogen gas is required during hydrogenation [93].

The above-mentioned alcohol feedstocks are generally produced from fermentation of high sugar- and starch-containing cultivations such as corn, sugar cane, switch grass, and sugar beet [128]. In the case of Germany, there already exists an extensive supply chain of sugar beet, which is used for the production of refined sugar and bioethanol. Bioethanol is primarily used in the petrochemical industry for blending with gasoline to produce E10 grade petrol. In fact, the indigenous production for bioethanol in Germany exceeded 635 kt p.a. [49], primarily produced from local cultivations of sugar beet.

Parameter	Value [Unit]
Land required for 1 MW of jet fuel output	2,746,670 [m ² /MW _{Jet Fuel}]
Bioethanol requirement of 1 MWh of jet fuel (mass)	0.095 [t _{Bioethanol} /MWhJet Fuel]
Bioethanol requirement of 1 MWh of jet fuel (energy)	0.7069 [MWh _{Bioethanol} /MWh _{Jet Fuel}]
Bioethanol requirement of 1 MWh of jet fuel including 50% blending (energy)	0.7073 [MWhBioethanol/MWhAviation]

Table 10: ATJ process land and bioethanol requirements for jet fuel production

Based on FNR estimates, included as Appendix B-4, it is clearly evident that sugar beet offers the most efficient use of non-cultivated land for this pathway in Germany, producing 7,700 liter of bioethanol per hectare [125]. When calculated with available fallow land, Germany exhibits a potential of approx. 2.2 Mt p.a. of additional bioethanol production which, when processed through ATJ pathway, can produce 1 Mt p.a. of jet fuel, among renewable diesel and other lighter products. Numerous scientific articles highlight a relatively high jet fuel production from ATJ pathway, as high as 75% (mass) of the fuel oil production (see Figure 26) [93, 122, 123]. Due to an ASTM-mandated blending limit of 50%, through ATJ pathway approx. 2 Mt p.a. of SAF can be produced in Germany (see Figure 29). The Table

10 above and Figure 29 provide the key parameters used in the development of ATJ pathway potential for Germany.

Due to the dependency on the cultivation, the emission profile of the ATJ pathway is directly corelated with the emissions of the feedstock used. Even though 1st generation biogenic feedstocks remain the focus of this thesis, which require wide-ranging agricultural activities emitting non-trivial amounts of emissions, over the course of the analysis it is discovered that ATJ feedstock can potentially be produced from steel mill exhaust gases [129] – this has the potential to offer significant reduction in the emissions associated with this pathway. That being said, this potential feedstock is not commercially ready, citing technical and economic concerns, and is not further examined. For 2nd generation feedstocks, due to the spectrum of feedstocks considered, the GFT process is deemed more practical due to its flexibility, however, some 2nd generation feedstock can also be processed through ATJ pathway through fermentation and catalytic conversion [60].

It is acknowledged that the potential calculated above can only be materialized with complete use of the fallow land, however, due to the overlap between sugar beet and rapeseed crops, there exists a competition in exclusive land use. Therefore, a multi-criteria assessment needs to developed. For this reason, apart from total production potential, economic factors are also considered and an optimized approach to deployment of both pathways is exercised, which will be discussed in the next sections and chapter.

It is again reiterated that, the feedstock selection for this pathway does not comply with the REDII sustainability criteria, but due to the lack of alternatives in Germany it is selected to provide a gauge to assess the maximum potential of biogenic pathways. The assessment for the pathway emissions and maximum demand substitution are discussed in-detail in section 5.4.



Figure 29: The process flow for ATJ conversion pathway with fallow land cultivation of bioethanol and 50% blending (ATJ_1) along with key parameters

Source: Author's own calculations based on own assumptions and various publications [3, 49, 61, 93, 122, 123, 125]

5.2.3. Gasification and Fischer-Tropsch (GFT) Pathways

The third biogenic pathway considered in this study is different from the first two due to the selection of feedstocks. Instead of 1st generation feedstocks discussed for HEFA and ATJ pathways – which do not comply with the REDII sustainability criteria; Gasification coupled with Fischer-Tropsch synthesis (GFT) offers an extremely flexible approach to convert 2nd generation feedstocks to hydrocarbon products, as it is compatible with any carbon-based feedstock [60]. The Fischer-Tropsch (FT) process is the primary process in which thermochemical conversion of syngas (H₂ + CO) takes place, the FT process is preceded by gasification of the biomass feedstock, which is used to produce syngas. For this analysis, a co-located approach is considered.

The technology for GFT is extremely mature, however, the challenge lies in the assessment and sourcing of the feedstock. As established in section 2.6.2 on page 19, the available technical potential in Germany lies in the range of 84.3-193.7 PJ per annum and is geographically diverse, barring the competition from other sectors which would reduce the estimates even further. Even with the higher potential considered, the conversion efficiency of the GFT process is a limiting factor; based on LHV of the feedstock and converted fuel oil, only 40-50% of the energy is recovered [130–132]. For this analysis the conservative estimate is taken as the reference value. Similar to the HEFA pathway, according to Pavlenko et al. [122], the product slate of the GFT pathway can be adjusted to produce default or maximum jet output, which range from 27-50% (see Figure 26).

In addition to this, considerations regarding blending with conventional jet fuel must also be taken into account, from Table 3 it is evident that, based on the pathway configuration 50-100% blending can be carried out. Although, only 50% blend-in is currently approved by ASTM for FT-SPK and FT-SPK/A pathways. Nonetheless, it is expected that 100% blending is possible, especially for modern aircrafts. The blend-in limit is observed to directly impact the emission profile of the pathway, with higher blending offering the lowest well-to-wake emissions.

Based on above-mentioned points, multiple approaches for the GFT pathways can be configured resulting in various estimates for fuel production and resultant CO₂ emissions – these are discussed in the next section. The Figure 30 provides an overview of the conversion pathway considered for GFT processes. Even with highest potential, maximum recovery and highest blending limit considered, it is calculated that, approx. only 887 kt p.a. of SAF can be produced in Germany from second generation feedstocks – requiring 5.1 MWh of biomass feedstock input per MWh of jet fuel produced.



Figure 30: The process flow for GFT conversion pathway with second generation feedstocks, 100% blending and maximum jet fuel recovery (GFT_8) along with key parameters

Source: Author's own calculations based on own assumptions and various publications [3, 61, 122, 130–132]

5.3. Configurations of Biogenic Pathway Scenarios

Taking into consideration the variability introduced by conversion processes, jet fuel recovery potentials, ASTM-approved and pragmatic blending limits, and ultimately feedstock source, in total 17 distinct scenarios of the biogenic pathways are studied. The table below provides a detailed list of scenarios that are assessed for the determination of maximum energy substitution potential and their respective GHG emissions. Based on the product slate provided by Pavlenko et. al [122], the end-hydrocarbon stream can contain lower or higher concentration of carbon length that fall in the jet fuel (kerosene) range. In total 2 distinct strategies are considered, i.e., default and max jet recovery – the breakdown of each respective pathway is already provided in Figure 26.

In addition to this, ASTM approved blending limits also introduce a degree of variability into the scenarios, as it directly affects the carbon intensity and produced volumes of the jet fuel from each pathway. Wherever possible, higher limits are incorporated to develop the most favorable scenario for each pathway; these limits are referenced from scientific sources and are already discussed in the previous sections. Perhaps, most importantly, feedstock selection is the source of largest variability among various scenarios, as it defines the conversion process which encompasses the major distinction factors. For first-generation feedstocks, fallow land and export ban scenarios are taken into account, where possible. Meanwhile, for the second-generation feedstocks, only lower and higher limits are considered – these correspond to 84.3 PJ (23.43 TWh) and 193.7 PJ (53.84 TWh) per annum respectively. All three discussed pathways are considered for the analysis, to assess the overall potential and their GHG footprint.

	Scenario Name	Conversion Process	Jet Fuel Recovery	Blending [% of SAF]	Use of Fallow Land	Export Ban	Feedstock Gen. (Crop)
1.	HEFA_1	HEFA	Default	10%	Yes	No	First – Rapeseed
2.	HEFA_2	HEFA	Max	10%	Yes	No	First – Rapeseed
3.	HEFA_3	HEFA	Default	10%	Yes	Yes	First – Rapeseed
4.	HEFA_4	HEFA	Max	10%	Yes	Yes	First – Rapeseed
5.	HEFA_5	HEFA	Default	50%	Yes	No	First – Rapeseed
6.	HEFA_6	HEFA	Max	50%	Yes	No	First – Rapeseed
7.	HEFA_7	HEFA	Default	50%	Yes	Yes	First – Rapeseed
8.	HEFA_8	HEFA	Max	50%	Yes	Yes	First – Rapeseed

Table 11: Biogenic pathways' scenarios for environmental and substitution potential assessment

	Scenario Name	Conversion Process	Jet Fuel Recovery	Blending [% of SAF]	Use of Fallow Land	Export Ban	Feedstock Gen. (Crop)
9.	ATJ_1	ATJ	Default	50%	Yes	No	First – Sugar beet
10.	GFT_1	GFT	Default	50%	No	No	Second (lower potential)
11.	GFT_2	GFT	Max	50%	No	No	Second (lower potential)
12.	GFT_3	GFT	Default	100%	No	No	Second (lower potential)
13.	GFT_4	GFT	Max	100%	No	No	Second (lower potential)
14.	GFT_5	GFT	Default	50%	No	No	Second (higher potential)
15.	GFT_6	GFT	Max	50%	No	No	Second (higher potential)
16.	GFT_7	GFT	Default	100%	No	No	Second (higher potential)
17.	GFT_8	GFT	Мах	100%	No	No	Second (higher potential)

5.4. Limits to Growth for Biogenic Pathways in Germany

Due to the concerns regarding land usage for 1st generation feedstocks and a higher technical limit on the 2nd generation feedstocks, it is paramount to assess the limits of what biogenic pathways can offer to ameliorate the aviation emissions in Germany. A simplistic approach is devised to asses these limits, namely, the maximum substitution potential and specific emission for each pathway scenario.

5.4.1. Maximum Substitution Potentials

Maximum substitution potential refers to the ability of the pathway configuration to offset a certain energetic component of the final aviation demand. As the calorific value and density of the aviation fuels are standardized with a low threshold limit, this can also be translated into mass or volume substitution potential. For the assessment, the potential of each pathway is calculated based on the resource availability in relation to feedstock cultivation or export ban, along with the limitations imposed by the specific pathways in terms conversion efficiencies, fuel production and product slate, and finally adjusted for imposed blending limits.

The calculated potential is then compared with the total forecasted demand (2025-2050) i.e., with the sum of low, base, and high aviation energy demands for the entire modelling period individually. Due to various demand forecasts, there exists a range of energy substitution potentials that can be met by a single conversion pathway – this is represented as the error bars in Figure 31. The higher limit represents the ability of the respective scenario to meet the energy needs of the low aviation demand scenario, meanwhile the lower bound represent the potential under high demand scenario. This is due to the fact that, under low demand amidst production capacity limitations, a larger fraction of the demand can be substituted by the respective pathway and vice versa.



Figure 31: Total energy substitution potential of biogenic scenarios for low, base, and high aviation demand forecasts Evidently from Figure 31, all the modelled scenarios fail to a provide substitution potential above 12% of the total demand. This is due to the fact that <u>all the feedstocks are supply</u> <u>constrained</u> – imposing an upper limit of how much energy can be indigenously produced in Germany without importing feedstocks or changing the land use. Despite this, the substitution potentials, as depicted in Figure 31, are misleading. This is due to the fact that most scenarios rely on almost 50% blending of conventional jet fuel to be able meet the requirements set under various normative. This implies that the actual amount of sustainable fuel produced is significantly lower than the depicted values. This dependency on fossil fuels not only impacts the total volume of fuel produced but also reflected on the specific GHG emissions of each pathway.



Figure 32: 5-yr energy substitution potential of biogenic scenarios in comparison with REDII/ReFuelEU Aviation Targets

Due to the availability of demand forecast on an annual basis, the estimation of substitution potentials can also be carried out at a higher resolution than the one presented in Figure 31. In this pursuit, potential for each biogenic pathway is calculated on an annual basis and the resultant values at every 5-yr interval are selected starting from 2025 till 2050, as illustrated in Figure 32. The shaded area (light blue) represents the range of the aviation demand that can be potentially covered by individual scenarios. Furthermore, due to similar overall potentials, various pathways are observed to overlap one another and cannot be clearly depicted in the figure above. These are:

1.	HEFA_1 and HEFA_5	5.	GFT_2 and GFT_4
2.	HEFA_2, HEFA_3, HEFA_6, and HEFA_7	6.	GFT_5 and GFT_7
3.	HEFA_4 and HEFA_8	7.	GFT_6 and GFT_8
4.	GFT_1 and GFT_3		

It is notable that, the maximum demand potential gradually falls till 2035 and then slowly rises to around 18%. This is attributed to the development of kerosene demand as alternate aviation technologies are introduced in to the aviation market – as the fraction of kerosenebased aviation fades, the max potential of respective can cover larger fraction of the remaining demand. However, even with this change, <u>the overall potential to meet the forecasted aviation demand by biogenic pathways remains low, and even under most enabling</u> <u>conditions, biofuels are unable to fully cover the SAF demand targets. Therefore, need for</u> <u>non-biogenic (e-SAF) pathways and/or imports still exists in Germany.</u>

Detailed values regarding SAF produced and energy substitution potential are appended in Appendix C.

5.4.2. Specific Emissions

In addition to potentials, specific emission of various scenarios plays a decisive role in understanding the constraints. These constraints are imposed by regulatory and environmental concerns and are affected by cultivation and processing of various feedstocks. As this analysis is geared towards developing a macro-economic and sector-wide understanding of SAFs, the granularity regarding GHG emission calculations is reduced and do not strictly comply with standardized LCA protocols.

To calculate the emission intensity of HEFA conversion pathways, the reference values provided in REDII Annex V for biodiesel production from rapeseed feedstock are being adopted. The cultivation, processing and transportation emissions are included in the

reference value and it is assumed that the total process emissions are proportionally divided over the product slate of the HEFA process and is reflected in the functional unit. For the SAF produced from HEFA process, an overall specific emission of 50.1 g_{CO2eq}/MJ (0.1803 t_{CO2eq}/MWh)¹² is used as the base value [3]. Based on the blending limit, the base value is proportionally adjusted for the fossil fuel inclusion for each scenario, due to the fact the calorific values (LHV) for both streams are same, mandated by ASTM D7566. The fossil fuel specific emission of 94 g_{CO2eq}/MJ or 0.3384 t_{CO2eq}/MWh is also provided in REDII Annex V [3].

A similar approach is taken for the GFT pathways, and an equivalent diesel value is taken as the reference value for this analysis. The base value of 13.7 g_{CO2eq}/MJ (0.049 t_{CO2eq}/MWh) is inclusive of cultivation, transportation, and processing emissions [3]. Similar to the HEFA approach, the base value is then proportionally adjusted to include the effects of blending with fossil jet fuel.

The determination of ATJ specific emission is not so straightforward, as there is no directly provided estimates for SAF produced from ATJ pathway in REDII Annex V. However, reference values for bioethanol production from sugar beet is provided in the legislation, thus necessitating an indirect approach. According to REDII Annex V, the cultivation, processing, and transportation of bioethanol from sugar beet emits 19.5 g_{CO2eq}/MJ (0.0702 t_{CO2eq}/MWh) of GHG emissions. To process the bioethanol to jet fuel through ATJ process requires an additional 3.2-6.7 g_{CO2eq}/MJ of GHG emissions, pursuant to the nature of the feedstock [133, 134]. For this analysis, a conservative estimate of 5.7 g_{CO2eq}/MJ is selected based on the estimates by Hannon et al. [134]. Hence, the base value for SAF produced from ATJ pathway is taken as 25.2 g_{CO2eq}/MJ or 0.0907 t_{CO2eq}/MWh . The calculated specific emissions of conversion pathways falls in the same range as the estimates put forward by numerous scientific papers and reports, such as [60, 69, 81, 82, 88, 94, 133, 135–138].

Due to the disparity in terms of carbon emissions between conventional jet fuel and fuel produced from biogenic pathways, the specific emissions are adversely affected in the cases where large quantity of conventional jet fuel is mixed with biogenic SAF. GFT pathways clearly exhibit the lowest specific emissions out of all the modelled scenarios, mean-while HEFA pathways predominantly exist on the opposite end of the spectrum due to higher fossil component. Detailed tables regarding GHG emissions as a function of aviation

 $^{^{12}}$ 1 g_{CO2eq}/MJ = 0.0036 t_{CO2eq}/MWh

demand and potential avoided emissions for each scenario are appended in Appendix C: Pathways Assessment.

Scenario Name	Blending Limit [% of SAF]	Specific Emission [gco2eq/MJ]	Specific Emission [tco2eq/MWh]
HEFA_1	10%	89.61	0.3226
HEFA_2	10%	89.61	0.3226
HEFA_3	10%	89.61	0.3226
HEFA_4	10%	86.55	0.3116
HEFA_5	50%	72.05	0.2594
HEFA_6	50%	72.05	0.2594
HEFA_7	50%	72.05	0.2594
HEFA_8	50%	72.05	0.2594
ATJ_1	50%	59.60	0.2146
GFT_1	50%	53.85	0.1939
GFT_2	50%	53.85	0.1939
GFT_3	100%	13.70	0.0493
GFT_4	100%	13.70	0.0493
GFT_5	50%	53.85	0.1939
GFT_6	50%	53.85	0.1939
GFT_7	100%	13.70	0.0493
GFT_8	100%	13.70	0.0493

Table 12: Specific emission of biogenic scenarios inclusive of blending with fossil jet fuel

5.5. Ranking Criteria and Short-listed Pathways

Due to the numerosity of the studied scenario and the interdependency between maximum substitution potential and specific emissions, it is still unclear which biogenic scenarios offer a balanced approach between supply- and environmental constraints. Therefore, a ranking criterion is necessary where the scenarios can be compared with one another taking into consideration both of the above-mentioned factors. For this pursuit, a scoring system is formulated for **substitution potential score (SPS)** and **carbon intensity score (CIS)**. In order to calculate these scores following equations (4) and (5) are used.

$$SPS_{scenario_x} = \left| \frac{SP_{scenario_x}}{\max\left(SP_{scenario_1} \dots SP_{scenario_n}\right)} \right|$$
(4)

$$CIS_{scenario_x} = \left| \frac{SE_{scenario_x}}{\min\left(SE_{scenario_1} \dots SE_{scenario_n}\right)} \right|$$
(5)

$$Overall \ Score_{scenario_x} = \ SPS_{scenario_x} + \ CIS_{scenario_x} \tag{6}$$

For the calculation *SPS* of any scenario, a rounding function is used where the average substitution potential (*SP*) of the scenario is divided by the maximum of the average substitution potential among all biogenic scenarios. Similarly, for *CIS*, a rounding function is employed in which the specific emission (*SE*) of the respective scenario is compared against the least emitting scenario. The overall score is simply calculated using an arithmetic sum of both score by using equation (6). By employing this approach, scenarios with the highest potential and least emission are identified. Figure 33 illustrate the overall score and the rank order of all of the 17 biogenic scenarios modelled in this study.





As it is evident from Figure 33, various scenarios can potentially have a similar score. That being said, due to mutually dependent nature of the scenario development, scenarios stemming from a single pathway cannot be simultaneously considered. Therefore, only highest-ranking scenarios from each biogenic pathway are selected for energy modelling and economic assessment. These are: **GFT_8**, **ATJ_1**, and **HEFA_8** pathways.

The energy modelling approach is deemed necessary as the economic influences are thus far not included in this analysis. Moreover, due to variation in feedstock costs, technology costs and product slate, it is expected that the economic parameters would greatly impact the outcome of the analysis and define which scenarios can be developed. This is extremely important as the biogenic scenarios due to their limited ability to meet German aviation demand have to compete with non-biogenic sources, and parallelly, among themselves due to scarce land resource.

6. Non-Biogenic Pathways and Development of Energy Model

"Essentially, all models are wrong, but some are useful." - George E.P. Box (1987)

6.1. Preface

As it is clearly established in the preceding chapter; the inability of the biogenic pathways to fully meet the foreseeable aviation fuel demand by 2050 in Germany. It is therefore paramount that alternate fuel production pathways and propulsion options are studied in the context to fully meet the forecasted demand within the bounds of indigenous resources. In this pursuit, the current chapter develops an understanding regarding the production of SAF through non-biogenic pathways i.e., PtL or e-fuels. In addition to this, energy requirement of alternative propulsion technologies, namely, hydrogen and electric aviation are also given due consideration in this chapter. And finally, techno-economical parameters for the development of an energy model are compiled, such as, capital expenses (CAPEX), operational expenses (OPEX), storage costs, feedstock costs, carbon price, etc.

6.2. Non-Biogenic Pathways

Based on the TRL and FRL of various Power-to-Liquid and currently operational SAF projects in Germany summarized in section 3.4.2 and 2.2.3 respectively, two potential pathways are identified, namely:

- 1. Methanol Synthesis
- 2. Fischer-Tropsch (FT) Synthesis

6.2.1. Methanol Synthesis

According to Dieterich et al. [36], the industrial methanol synthesis (MeOH) process is extremely well-developed with over a century on industrial experience. Germany is a pioneer in this fuel production technology, as one of the biggest and oldest industrial plant i.e., BASF Ludwigshafen is located in Germany [36]. Moreover, almost 90% of the European methanol production capacity is contributed by Germany [139]. Similar to previously described processes, methanol synthesis is also a thermochemical process, but rather carried out in the presence of CuO/ZnO catalyst and is supplemented by low temperatures and pressures [36].

Apart from the biogenic feedstocks used in the fermentation of alcohols and production of fuels, the methanol (CH₃OH) can also be synthesized from H₂ and CO₂ [75, 91, 139]. The synthesized methanol can be simply processed in a similar manner used in the production of jet fuel through ATJ pathway. This is achieved by distinct intermediate processes, namely, DME (Dimethyl Ether) synthesis, olefin synthesis, oligomerization, and finally hydrotreating [91]. Due to this reason, the methanol synthesis pathway is similar to the ATJ pathway [140] and a similar product slate is assumed for the end products, including jet fuel/kerosene, renewable diesel, and light ends (see Figure 26). Based on this, a product slate split of 75%-9%-16% between jet fuel, diesel and light ends is assumed.

Despite having a similar process to ATJ pathway, under the ASTM normative there does not exist any direct approval regarding methanol synthesis pathway. Rather, it is envisaged that a separate certification for this pathway will soon be established [141]. Thereby, it is assumed that newer aircraft complying with this certification will be fully compatible with the jet fuel produced from methanol synthesis and no jet fuel blending would be necessary.

As of writing this analysis, practically all the methanol production in Germany relies on steam methane reforming (SMR) of natural gas to obtain their primary feedstocks, i.e., H_2 and CO_2 [139, 142]. However, in order to make the process comply with the sustainability criteria established previously, production of H_2 and CO_2 feedstocks should be derived from renewable and sustainable sources.

For hydrogen gas, direct production through electrolysis using renewable electricity is deemed practical and with a developing hydrogen economy in Germany and the neighboring countries, a large regional supply chain is expected in the coming years. Use of renewable electricity eliminates any direct emissions originating from the electrolysis process, thereby making it complaint with REDII directive.

For CO_2 production, plethora of biogenic and non-biogenic options exists, for this analysis carbon capture using amine washing from concentrated sources is used as a primary source – justifications for which a provided in the later section. Therefore, using green hydrogen and CO_2 capture, the methanol synthesis does not release any direct GHG emissions.

Using stoichiometric relations in accordance with equation (7) for an average carbon length of C11¹³, alongside estimates and procedures provided in various sources [36, 71, 73, 81, 82, 95, 122, 141, 143–146] technical parameters of the process including input and output streams are established. For the conversion process, an integrated plant approach is assumed and 10% of the light ends production is redirected for process heating to avoid additional use of natural gas [85, 141, 147] – this is based on the energetic losses and power input required to run the process [148]. The Figure 34 provides an overview of the process flow used for calculations along with key values.

$$12H_20 + 11CO_2 \to C_{11}H_{24} + 17O_2 \tag{7}$$

The overall process efficiency lies in the range of 49.4-54% for the year 2025 and 2050 respectively and is directly dependent on the electrolyser efficiency. As the electrolyser technology is further improved, citing to efficiency gains, the renewable energy input is expected to fall from 2.02 MWh to 1.86 MWh.

¹³ Average carbon length of C11 is based on the assumption that the process is optimized for the production of kerosene and justification for which are discussed in section 3.1 based on the work of Holladay et al. [56]

Non-Biogenic Pathways and Development of Energy Model



Figure 34: The process flow of methanol synthesis pathway with integrated hydrogen electrolysis and carbon capture along with key parameters

Source: Author-calculated values based on [36, 71, 73, 81, 82, 95, 122, 132, 141, 143-146]

6.2.2. Fischer-Tropsch Synthesis

Similar to GFT pathway defined for biogenic fuels, the Fischer-Tropsch synthesis, is a thermochemical conversion process where syngas (CO + H_2) is converted to hydrocarbons. The key difference being the source of syngas, in the biogenic pathways, the gasification of biomass is used to obtain these feedstocks. However, similar to MeOH synthesis, H_2 gas can be produced through electrolysis. For CO production, CO₂ gas is captured from concentrated sources and by using Reverse Water Gas Shift (RWGS) is converted to CO [71, 91].

Similar to biogenic pathways, the direct FT process, in which CO₂ gas is directly used in the conversion is still in its infancy and is not considered for this analysis [36]. Similar to MeOH synthesis approach, 10% of light ends are recirculated for process heating - this methodology is comparable to the one used by Schmidt et al. [141] and Peters et al. [147].

Through stoichiometry, it is calculated that the flows of reactants and products for the chemical reaction is similar to the MeOH synthesis and is also represented by equation 7. An integrated plant approach with similar assumptions to MeOH synthesis is considered for this pathway as well, and the overall process flow along with key parameters are presented in the Figure 35.

Product-slate of the non-biogenic pathway is assumed to be similar to the product slate of biogenic GFT pathway and is represented by Figure 26 on page 58. To reiterate, a product split between jet fuel, diesel, and light ends production is taken to be 75%, 25% and 25% respectively. However, Peters et al. [147] makes a distinction between high-temperature and low-temperature FT synthesis, the latter having a better yield of longer chain hydrocarbons such as jet fuel. This idea is also put forward by [95, 149] in which jet fuel yield is categorically improved by means of temperature and catalyst selection. That being exclaimed, the distinction in process temperatures is ignored for this simplistic analysis and similar distribution to the GFT (max jet) pathway, as iterated above, is assumed to be the product slate of FT synthesis as well.

The overall process efficiency is also highly dependent on the electrolysis efficiency and is calculated to be in the range of 48.4%-53% - with improvements linked to the improvements in the electrolyser efficiency. This is equivalent to the overall process energy requirement of 1.9-2.08 MWh.

Non-Biogenic Pathways and Development of Energy Model



Figure 35: The process flow of Fischer-Tropsch pathway with integrated hydrogen electrolysis and carbon capture along with key parameters

Source: Author-calculated values based on [31, 36, 71, 73, 81, 82, 85, 95, 122, 132, 140, 141, 143, 143–146, 150]

6.2.3. Electrolyser Technology Selection

Hydrogen can be easily produced from clean water and electricity using electrolysers. The hydrogen gas produced from renewable electricity is referred to as 'green hydrogen'. The green hydrogen can be directly used in multiple applications, such as: electricity production, seasonal storages, heating, transport and can also serve as a feedstock for liquid and gaseous fuels production. Given the properties of hydrogen, combustion in a turbine or engine as well as electricity generation in a fuel-cell are technically feasible. Conveniently, the hydrogen generated can also substitute natural gas in the existing gas networks or could be transported by Liquid Organic Hydrogen Carriers (LOHC) such as dibenzyltoluene (H0-DBT) and perhydrodibenzyltoulene (H18-DBT), or through cryogenic liquid hydrogen (LH₂) at -253 degree Celsius [85]. For this analysis, the production of hydrogen is used either as a feedstock for SAF production or used directly in hydrogen aviation.

Due to the reliance of e-SAF pathways and hydrogen-based aviation on hydrogen supply, the electrolyser technology is deemed as a key variable for cost and technical parameters. Three technologies are identified over the course of the study having promising deployments over the modelling period. These are: alkaline electrolyser cell (AEL), proton exchange membrane electrolyser cell (PEM), and solid oxide electrolyser cell (SOEC).

Each of these technologies offer distinctive advantages and suffers from clear disadvantages, therefore, a distinction among these technologies needs to be made and a balance approach regarding the future system expansion is paramount for a cost-effective supply of the future hydrogen demand. In pursuit of this, the table below provides a summary of the considered technical parameters of the key electrolyser technologies developed through the review of multiple scientific sources [85, 139, 140, 145, 150–155].

Table 13: Comparison of Electrolyser Technologies

Source: Summary of findings from [85, 139, 140, 145, 150-155] and author's own assessment

Parameter	AEL	PEM	SOEC
Operating Tempera- ture	Low (<100 °C)	Low (<100 °C)	High (>800 °C)
Operating Pressure	1-200 bar	1-350 bar	1-5 bar
Electrolyte	20-30% NaOH/KOH	Perfluoro-sulfonic acid	ZrO_2 doped with Y_2O_3
Cell Separator	Diaphragm	Electrolyte membrane	Electrolyte membrane
Efficiency	~70%	~60%	~80%

Non-Biogenic Pathways and Development of Energy Model

Parameter	AEL	PEM	SOEC
Availability	Commercially available	Commercially available	Currently in R&D stage
Lifetime	Longer lifetime	Shorter lifetime com- pared to AEL	Short lifetime due to ma- terial degradation
Production Capacity	High	Significantly lower pro- duction capacity com- pared to AEL	Significantly lower pro- duction capacity com- pared to AEL
Startup Time	Long	Short startup time com- pared to AEL	Relatively longer startup time
Load Flexibility	Low load change flexibil- ity	Suitable for start-stop op- eration	Due to long startup time, not suitable for start-stop operation
Coupling with Inter- mittent RE Supply	No	Yes	No
Investment Cost	Lower	Higher CAPEX compared to AEL	Highest system cost
Operation Cost	Relatively higher	Relatively lower due to high direct current	Relatively lower due to higher efficiency
Hydrogen Purity	Lower hydrogen purity due to the presence of alkaline solution	Good hydrogen purity	Good hydrogen purity
TRL	8-9	7-8	5

From Table 13, it is evident that AEL and PEM technology are clearly ahead of the SOEC technology, thereby for the future system design only AEL and PEM electrolyser are considered. Moreover, it is observable that there is no clear winner between AEL and PEM technologies, as both of the technologies offer certain advantages in terms of cost, flexibility, or ease-of-integration. Therefore, a 50%-50% technology split is assumed between AEL and PEM and PEM electrolyser installations.

The electrolysers are not modelled as a standalone unit, rather an integrated plant approach with a coupled fuel production facility is assumed. This can be avoided with a robust hydrogen supply network, where the electrolyser capacity can be placed closed to RE sources. Given the lack of certainty regarding hydrogen supply infrastructure, at this stage, an integrated plant approach offers the most pragmatic option.

6.2.4. Carbon Capture Technology Selection

Carbon capture (CC) technology is ranked as the limiting factor for various non-biogenic SAF pathways, as the TRL of the whole pathway is severely impacted with inclusion of low TRL of CC technologies [141, 155]. However, pursuant to the source of CO₂, some CC technologies exhibit extremely high TRLs due to highly matured industrialization. For this study, carbon capture using mono ethanolamine (MEA) amine washing is selected, due to its high maturity, commercial readiness, and deployment at scale [150]. Schmidt et al. also

assumes a similar approach due to technological maturity and ranks TRL of amine washing at 9 [141].

It may be noted that, amine washing can only be coupled with high concentration, point CO_2 -sources like of which can be found in steel, cement, or petrochemical industry. This is due to the fact that, cost of CC is directly corelated with the CO_2 concentration, and less concentrated source require more energy and consumables which negatively affects their economic performance [147]. Due to which, point sources are in high demand and there is a serious concern regarding their future availability. But given the urgency of decarbonization of the aviation sector and limited options towards decarbonization, a case regarding the priority of the aviation sector for point carbon sources can be made. In Christensen (2017) estimates regarding the future availability of point sources are presented. It is estimated that, in Germany, there will be approx. 295 Mt of CO_2 released from point sources in 2030, reducing to 225 Mt of CO_2 by 2040 [143]. In cases where the fuel production through concentrated sources for the 'hard-to-abate' sector is prioritized, the availability of CO_2 should not be a concerning factor.

It is probable that, direct air capture (DAC) may have matured by that time and perhaps be commercially and economically usable at-scale. However, given the current TRL of 6 for DAC [141], this study ignores all the pathways involving DAC and only CC with amine washing of concentrated sources are taken into consideration. The CC plant is integrated and coupled with the fuel production facility as illustrated in Figure 34 and Figure 35.

6.3. Alternate Aviation

In line with the technology distribution of the forecasted aviation demand, it is clear that energy production for hydrogen and electric aviation must be taken into consideration. For this reason, in the modelling period from 2035 onwards, standalone capacity for electrolysers for hydrogen production and airplane charging infrastructure is modelled. For the hydrogen-based aviation, similar aspects regarding the technology selection are taken into consideration, as described in section 6.2.3 and a similar electrolysis technology split of 50-50 between AEL and PEM electrolysers is assumed. The process flows are established using stoichiometric calculations and estimates from Christensen (2017) [143] and Zhou et al. [132] are represented in Figure 36. For electric aviation, direct coupling between electric planes and the RE supply network is envisaged. A charging efficiency of 95% is assumed with electric supply from renewable energy installations.

Non-Biogenic Pathways and Development of Energy Model



Figure 36: The process flow of hydrogen production along with key parameters

Source: Based on estimates from Christensen [143] and Zhou et al. [132] and stoichiometric calculations



Figure 37: The process flow of electric aviation charging along with key parameters

Source: Assumed values

6.4. Energy Modelling Framework

In contrast to the biogenic approach, a direct approach to calculate the system requirements for e-SAF and alternate aviation is not possible. This is due to the fact that, there exists an interconnection between fuel production and electricity production from RE sources. Due to the inherent intermittencies and complexities associated with the RE supply, an energy model-based approach needs to be followed to optimize the system installations. Moreover, effects from the nature of demand and SAF technologies also play a vital role in the selection of technology for electricity production and are directly affected by the availability of the solar and wind resources in the region. In case these intermittencies are ignored, a suboptimal process design may be put forward – leading to unnecessary costs in the future.

For this analysis, a linear optimization energy model based on the urbs framework is used [18]. In the model, various processes including biogenic, non-biogenic and alternate aviation pathways are modelled and considerations are made regarding cost, technology, economics, resource constraints, time-dependent demand profile, and the interplay between the available feedstocks and energy supply. This integrated approach helps in scheduling the installations and operations of these processes in an optimized manner over the entire modelling period between 2025 and 2050.

In order to develop this model, apart from the already established values additional technoeconomic parameters are required and are presented in the next section. Certain key parameters are used as probable ranges to understand the sensitivity of the model to these parameters and provide a clearer understanding of the underlying dynamics of the energy model.

6.5. Major Techno-Economic Modelling Parameters

6.5.1. Conversion Technology Capital and Operation Costs

Capital costs of the technology are a function of the production volumes, and "economy of scale" effects can be observed with increased production volumes. According to Malina et al. [156] for every order of magnitude increase in the production capacity, the cost of production for fuel is reduced by 50%. This is extremely important as large facilities would help relieve the economic pressure for the selected technologies. Hence, wherever possible, cost estimate for a large-scale production facility is assumed. In addition to this, as the costs are provided from various reference time and sources, in order to have a consistent cost estimate, the reference values are adjusted for annual inflation of 1.5% p.a. from their respective years to 2025 (start of modelling period). A 1.5% per year inflation is calculated to be the indicative average inflation over the last 20 years in Germany.

Apart from highly mature biogenic technologies, for e-SAF technologies, hydrogen production and renewable power plants, an annual system cost reduction of 1% p.a. is assumed. The tables below provide the summary of the CAPEX and OPEX for various technologies used for the energy modelling purposes. For the biogenic pathways, as the yield increase and efficient land usage is not accounted for by the model, it is assumed that the prices for the biogenic feedstocks will remain constant – adjusted for the inflation with the respective discounting factor.

Table 14: Summary of CAPEX and OPEX for HEFA process

Parameter	Value [Unit]	Sources
HEFA: Feedstock Price		
Rapeseed Oil Price	1,200 [€/ton]	[157]
Rapeseed Oil Price	115 [€/MWh]	Calculated based on calorific value from [125, 158]
HEFA: CAPEX and OPEX		
Total CAPEX	137 [Million €]	[122]
Production Capacity	230 [Million Liters per annum]	[122]
Production Capacity	184,000 [ton per annum]	Based on gravimetric calcula- tions
Production Capacity	2,187,556 [MWh per annum]	Based on LHV
Production Capacity	250 [MW]	Calculated
CAPEX	548,612 [€/MW]	[122]
Fixed OPEX	13.69 [Million €/annum]	[159]
Fixed OPEX	54,801 [€/MW/a]	[159]
Variable OPEX	10.72 [€/MWh]	[159]

Source: References provided in the table

Table 15: Summary of CAPEX and OPEX for ATJ process

Source: References provided in the tables

Parameter	Value [Unit]	Sources
ATJ: Feedstock Price		
Bioethanol Price	1,327 [€/ton]	[160, 161]
Bioethanol Price	178.87 [€/MWh]	Calculated based on calorific value from [125, 126, 158]
ATJ: CAPEX and OPEX		
Total CAPEX	355 [Million €]	[122]
Production Capacity	230 [Million Liters per annum]	[122]
Production Capacity	184,000 [ton per annum]	Based on gravimetric calcula- tions
Production Capacity	2,187,555 [MWh per annum]	Based on LHV
Production Capacity	249.72 [MW]	Calculated
CAPEX	1,421,586 [€/MW]	[122]
Fixed OPEX	23.46 [Million €/annum]	[159]
Fixed OPEX	93,945 [€/MW/a]	[159]
Variable OPEX	12.51 [€/MWh]	[159]

Table 16: Summary of CAPEX and OPEX for GFT process

Source: References provided in the tables

Parameter	Value [Unit]	Sources
GFT: Feedstock Price		
Biomass Price	40.00 [€/MWh]	[162]
GFT: CAPEX and OPEX		
Total CAPEX	585 [Million €]	[122]
Production Capacity	230 [Million Liters per annum]	[122]
Production Capacity	184,000 [ton per annum]	Based on gravimetric calcu- lations
Production Capacity	2,187,555 [MWh per annum]	Based on LHV
Production Capacity	249.72 [MW]	Calculated
CAPEX	2,342,614 [€/MW]	[122]
Fixed OPEX	50.83 [Million €/annum]	[159]

Non-Biogenic Pathways and Development of Energy Model

Parameter	Value [Unit]	Sources
Fixed OPEX	203,547 [€/MW/a]	[159]
Variable OPEX	7.15 [€/MWh]	[159]

Table 16 provides the CAPEX and OPEX for biogenic technologies. As these technologies are already mature, the system cost improvement for these technologies is not considered. Therefore, the costs listed above remain consistent for the entire modelling period and are only adjusted by the discounting factor for later installations. For non-biogenic pathways, due to an integrated plant approach, the CAPEX includes the cost of the SAF production plant as well electrolyser and carbon capture plant. The carbon capture technology is selected to be amine washing due to a concentrated CO₂ source. In addition to this, a small hydrogen storage is also included for operational purposes.

The tables below provide a detailed list of cost assumptions for non-biogenic pathways for the year 2025 and 2050. For the modelling purposes, cost estimations are taken at 5-yr intervals to correspond with the intertemporal range in the energy model. A system cost improvement of 1% per annum is considered as these technologies are still in development and potential for cost reduction still exists, especially for electrolysers. Due to the 50-50 split between AEL and PEM electrolyser, average values of costs and other techno-economic parameters such as efficiency and lifetime are considered. Moreover, a SAF plant output of 200MW of jet fuel is taken as the reference point for the calculation of unitary values; this is equivalent to approx. 132,000 ton of jet fuel per annum [141].

Table 17: Summary of CAPEX of non-biogenic technologies for 2025-2050

Source: Author estimates based on [36, 132, 141, 143, 147]

Parameter	[Unit]	Methanol Pathway	FT Pathway
Technical key data			
Electricity input	[MWhe/MWh _{Fuel}]	1.94 (2025) 1.69 (2050)	2.04 (2025) 1.78 (2050)
Overall efficiency (Elec→Fuel)	[%]	52% (2025) 59% (2050)	49% (2025) 56% (2050)
CAPEX			
Electrolysis (50% AEL, 50% PEM)	[Million €/MW _{Fuel}]	0.90 (2025) 0.54 (2050)	0.90 (2025) 0.54 (2050)
H2 storage (Process)	[Million €/MW _{Fuel}]	0.09 (2025) 0.01 (2050)	0.94 (2025) 0.11 (2050)

Non-Biogenic Pathways and Development of Energy Model

Parameter	[Unit]	Methanol Pathway	FT Pathway
CO2 supply	[Million €/MW _{Fuel}]	0.27 (2025) 0.16 (2050)	0.28 (2025) 0.16 (2050)
Synthesis & conditioning	[Million €/MW _{Fuel}]	0.64 (2025) 0.35 (2050)	0.63 (2025) 0.34 (2050)
Total	[Million €/MW _{Fuel}]	1.91 (2025) 1.06 (2050)	2.75 (2025) 1.16 (2050)

On the similar lines, the costs for hydrogen production for the year 2025 till 2050 in 5-yr increments are established and are tabulated in Table 18.

Table 18: Summary of CAPEX for electrolyser in 2025-2050

Source: Author estimates based on [36, 132, 141, 143, 147]

Parameter	Value [Unit]	
Technical key data		
Electricity input	1.49 (2025) 1.30 (2050) [MWh _e /MWh _{Hydrogen}]	
Overall efficiency (Elec→H ₂)	67% (2025) 77% (2050) ^[%]	
Life	9.78 (2025) 15.85 (2050) [Years]	
CAPEX		
Electrolysis (50% AEL, 50% PEM)	0.90 (2025) 0.54 (2050) [Million €/MW _{Hydrogen}]	
H2 storage (process, short-term)	0.94 (2025) 0.11 (2050) [Million €/MW _{Hydrogen}]	
Total	1.84 (2025) 0.65 (2050) [Million €/MW _{Hydrogen}]	

The variable costs for e-SAF and hydrogen production are calculated based on a 90% capacity factor of the electrolyser which is equivalent to approx. 8000 full-load hours [36, 147]; this is highly infeasible with direct coupling of intermittent RE supply with the plant. Though, with a diverse and robust grid supplied by RE, a grid-connected plant will be able to achieve this capacity factor. That being said, this is a question of operational behavior of the plant, and is dependent on a plethora of factors which cannot be fully included in this analysis due to its limited scope.

Table 19: Key parameters for OPEX calculation for e-SAF pathways and hydrogen electrolysers

Source: Author-calculated values based on the listed references

Parameter	Value [Unit]	Sources
Annual Fixed OPEX	3% [% of CAPEX]	[155]
Electrolyser Replacement	9.78 (2025) [Year] 15.85 (2050)	[132]
Electrolyser Replacement	26.60% [% of Electrolyser CAPEX]	[155]
Catalyst Replacement (MeOH and FT plants)	3 [Year]	[155]
Catalyst Replacement (MeOH and FT plants)	1% [% of CCU CAPEX]	[155]

Based on the values listed in Table 19, the operational costs for MeOH synthesis, FT synthesis and hydrogen production are calculated and tabulated in the following table.

Table 20: Summary of OPEX of non-biogenic technologies for 2025-2050Source: Author estimates based on [36, 132, 141, 143, 147, 155]

Parameter	[Unit]	Methanol Pathway	FT Pathway
Fixed OPEX	[Million €/MW _{Fuel} /a]	0.06 (2025) 0.03 (2050)	0.08 (2025) 0.03 (2050)
Variable OPEX Components			
Electrolyser Replacement (life depender	nt) [Million €/MW _{Fuel}]	0.24 (2025) 0.14 (2050)	0.24 (2025) 0.14 (2050)
Electrolyser Replacement (Amortized)	[Million €/MW _{Fuel} /a]	0.03 (2025) 0.01 (2050)	0.03 (2025) 0.01 (2050)
Electrolyser Replacement (Amortized)	[€/MWh _{Fuel}]	3.99 (2025) 1.70 (2050)	3.99 (2025) 1.70 (2050)
Catalyst Replacement (life dependent)	[Million €/MW _{Fuel}]	0.003 (2025) 0.002 (2050)	0.003 (2025) 0.002 (2050)
Catalyst Replacement (Amortized)	[Million €/MW _{Fuel} /a]	0.001 (2025) 0.001 (2050)	0.001 (2025) 0.001 (2050)
Catalyst Replacement (Amortized)	[€/MWh _{Fuel}]	0.13 (2025) 0.07 (2050)	0.13 (2025) 0.08 (2050)
Water Cost	[€/MWh _{Fuel}]	0.25 (2025) 0.25 (2050)	0.25 (2025) 0.25 (2050)
Total Variable OPEX	[€/MWh _{Fuel}]	4.37 (2025) 2.02 (2050)	4.38 (2025) 2.02 (2050)

6.5.2. Renewable Power Plant CAPEX and OPEX

In order to run the aviation energy supply systems in an environmentally-compliant manner, completely decarbonized electricity supply is indispensable. For this reason, only supply from onshore-, offshore wind parks, and solar PV plants is considered. The current estimates for the system costs are referenced from recent reports published by IRENA [163] and EU [164] and adjusted to 2025-values using an annual inflation of 1.5% p.a. and a subsequent system cost reduction factor of 1% p.a. These values are then extrapolated till 2050 to derive the estimates for each 5-yr interval in the modelling period. The table below summarizes the CAPEX and OPEX estimates for RE power plants used to develop the energy model. The renewable energy installations are based on the targets put forward by the German government and are already discussed in-detail in section 2.3.

Table 21: Summary of OPEX of electrolysers for 2025-2050

Source: Author estimates based on [36, 132, 141, 143, 147, 155]

Parameter	Electrolysers [Unit] (50% AEL, 50% PEM)
Fixed OPEX	0.06 (2025) 0.02 (2050) [Million €/MW _{Hydrogen} /a]
Variable OPEX Components	
Electrolyser Replacement (life dependent)	0.24 (2025) 0.14 (2050) [Million €/MW _{Hydrogen}]
Electrolyser Replacement (Amortized)	0.03 (2025) 0.01 (2050) [Million €/MW _{Hydrogen} /a]
Electrolyser Replacement (Amortized)	3.99 (2025) 1.70 (2050) [€/MWh _{Hydrogen}]
Water Cost	0.56 (2025) 0.56 (2050) [€/MWh _{Hydrogen}]
Total Variable OPEX	4.55 (2025) 2.26 (2050) [€/MWh _{Hydrogen}]

Table 22: CAPEX and OPEX for solar PV, offshore- and onshore wind power plants, 2025-2050, including system cost improvements

Source: Based on reference values from [163, 164]

	CAPEX	Fixed OPEX	Var. OPEX
	[€/MW]	[€/MW/a]	[€/MWh]
Wind Onshore	1,406,509 (2025)	43,331 (2025)	0.18 (2025)
	1,094,012 (2050)	33,703 (2050)	0.14 (2050)
Wind Offshore	3,240,256 (2025)	77,995 (2025)	0.40 (2025)
	2,520,340 (2050)	60,666 (2050)	0.31 (2050)
Solar PV	601,428 (2025)	7,799 (2025)	- (2025)
	467,803 (2050)	6,067 (2050)	- (2050)

6.5.3. Plant Life Assumptions

Kozhemyatov et al. [165] presents the findings from an operational refinery. They evaluate that the lifetime of various equipment operating under excessive pressure lie in the range of 25-38 years. Meanwhile, the largest and relatively expensive equipment such as Columns, Pressure Vessels and Heat Exchangers easily reach an average service life of more than 30 years in such conditions. Although, Pavlenko et al. [122] and Bann et al. [159] have assumed a lifetime of various production facilities to be 20 years, it is suspected that the assumption is too conservative, leading to unnecessary CAPEX at later stages in the modelling period. Despite this, their claim is corroborated by the *"Handbook of Petroleum Processing"* as the engineering and design parameters of these facilities are set at 20 years [145], after which they are expected to be dismantled and sold. Even though it is probable that the SAF production plants may work beyond its design life, due to the findings of above-mentioned sources, the plant life is assumed to be 20 years.

For all renewable power plants, industry-accepted lifetime of 25 years are taken as the reference value and are corroborated by the EU commission estimates [164].

6.5.4. Energy Storage

On one side, due to the intermittency introduced by incorporating renewable electricity generation, and on other side, the fixed nature of the aviation demand; there exists a significant integration challenge. It is observed during various simulation runs that the model is extremely sensitive to the power and storage capacity of the storage and care must be taken in order to develop an optimum system.

6.5.4.1. Jet fuel Bunkering

In addition to the integration challenges, there also exist legislative requirements for conventional fuel storages in Germany. The EU Council Directive 2009/119/EC along with the German Petroleum Stockholding Act 2012 (Erdölbevorratungsgesetz – ErdölBevG) sets the minimum requirements for stockholding of conventional fossil fuels including aviation fuels. The laws stipulate a minimum stockpiling of 90 days within a 365 days period [166, 167]. Therefore, this 90-day requirement is also used as a modelling parameter for the maximum allowable limit of liquid fuel storage. Conventional fuel storage techniques are assumed in the modelled as there exists little to no perceivable difference in the properties of SAF produced from biogenic- & non-biogenic pathways and conventional jet fuel. The expected reduction in jet fuel demand will lead to surplus bunkering capacity which can be made available for storage use, hence the cost for deploying new storage for jet fuel is not explicitly modelled.

6.5.4.2. Hydrogen Storage

For hydrogen, currently there exist no clear guidelines or regulatory requirements regarding its storage. Therefore, a proxy with the natural gas storage is developed. For natural gas storages under the EU legislative framework, 30 days of high demand storage is required [168, 169]. In accordance with the legislations and on the similar lines with the fuel bunkering, for the hydrogen storage a 30-day maximum limit is set in the energy model. That aside, the selection of the storage technology for hydrogen is extremely difficult, as there exists no clearly defined industrial guidelines or practices, and due to the nascency of the sector multiple technology options concurrently exist – each offering certain advantages and disadvantages.

After reviewing the published research on hydrogen storage technologies by Reuß et al., Geburtig et al., Andersson et al., Abdin et al., Dickel, Runge et al., and Hurskainen et al. [85, 152, 170–174], it is concluded that due to the requirements of relatively longer time period for storage and the accompanying economic concerns, Liquid Organic Hydrogen Carrier (LOHC) storage provides the best compromise between various options to store hydrogen; the cost of storage, storage efficiency, and lack of high pressure and leakage are the key deciding factors to opt for LOHC storage. It may be noted that the LOHC technology does not offer relatively high energy density in comparison with other option [174], but due to stationary applications, the size of the storage is not a concerning factor.

With the innate concerns regarding the availability of critical raw materials for LOHC technology [175], traditional options like hydrogen liquification (LH₂) and compressed hydrogen
Non-Biogenic Pathways and Development of Energy Model

storage (CGH₂) are also analyzed. Conversely, due to the extreme costs for infrastructure for liquification and compression [172], energy requirements [85], and high pressure raising safety concerns [171], LH₂ and CGH₂ storage are not considered in this analysis. It is worth mentioning that the LOHC technology is still under-development with no current large-scale storage installations [174], however the emergent hydrogen demand and accompanying storage demand for this model is expected to play a significant role after 2035, with larger demand forecasted between 2045 and 2050. Therefore, it is assumed that the technology would be sufficiently developed to be used in this application.

As the status regarding long-term seasonal storage for hydrogen and pipeline infrastructure is still unclear, the inclusion of the storage in the energy model is necessary for decoupling supply and demand. With emergence of dedicated infrastructure of hydrogen storage, similar to natural gas, such as caverns and under-ground pipeline storage [176], the demand for standalone units may reduce. However, this is not considered for this model and only LOHC is assumed as a dedicated hydrogen storage technology. A 500 tons of hydrogen capacity per day and a plant life of 20 years are used a reference system values [172], along with that a 1% annual system cost improvement is assumed. The table below summarizes the techno-economic estimates for 2025-2050 used to develop the energy model.

Table 23: LOHC hydrogen storage techno-economic parameters, 2025-2050

Parameter	Value [Unit]					
CAPEX						
Materials	130.75 (2025) 101.70 (2050) [€/MWh _{H2}]					
Reactor	3,504.17 (2025) 2,725.62 (2050) [€/MWh _{H2}]					
Storage	78.45 (2025) 61.03 (2050) [€/MWh _{H2}]					
Total CAPEX	3,713.38 (2025) 2,888.35 (2050) [€/MWh _{H2}]					
OPEX						
OPEX	4% [% CAPEX /a]					
OPEX	148.54 (2025) 115.53 (2050) [€/MWh _{H2} /a]					
Losses						
Losses	4% [% of round-trip efficiency]					

Source: Author-calculated based on reference values from [152, 172, 174, 177] and assumptions

95

Non-Biogenic Pathways and Development of Energy Model

Parameter	Value [Unit]
Electricity requirement as additional loss	3% [% of round-trip efficiency]
Overall loss	7% [% of round-trip efficiency]
Energy Consumption	
Electrical	0.02 [MWh _e /MWh _{H2}]
Heat	0.27 [MWh _{th} /MWh _{H2}]
Energy Production	
Electrical	0 [MWhe/MWh _{H2}]
Heat	0.27 [MWh _{th} /MWh _{H2}]

The hydrogenation and dehydrogenation process requires electrical input for pumps and auxiliaries and is modelled as an energy loss for the round-trip efficiency of the process. The energy consumption of 65 KJ/mol during the hydrogenation of the LOHC material is assumed to fully recuperated during the dehydrogenation process and no additional heat energy is supplied to the system. This is, however, a gross estimation of the energetic process as the heat input and output occur at different temperatures, but incorporating the heat released with the district heating system can reduce the energy penalty of this process [152].

6.5.4.3. Electricity Storage

The model is observed to be extremely sensitive to the electrical energy storage parameters, especially during periods of high sustained demand and lack of RE supply. For this reason, allowance for up to 12 hours of battery storage is allowed in the model to counter the periods with lack of renewable generation. This is exacerbated by the fact that the energy model lacks any dispatchable electricity supply and only solar PV, offshore and onshore wind are used as the primary sources – the production of which does not necessarily align with the modelled demand. However, most modelled scenarios do not use the allowed quota and only deploy a few hours of battery storage under the cost optimization criteria.

The lithium-ion batteries are used as the reference electrical storage technology in this model due to their flexibility and ability to be deployed with decentralized power generation [178, 179]. Moreover, large scale pumped hydro-storage is practically infeasible in Germany due to lack of new sites, environmental concerns and existing potential being fully exhausted [180]. Similar to LOHC, the concerns regarding critical raw materials exists [175] and high investment costs are a persistent problem. However, with technological

improvements, development of newer chemistries and second-life batteries [181], these concerns can be ameliorated to an acceptable level. Based on these reasons, batterybased storage is considered as a more pragmatic option for electrical energy storage in Germany.

For energy modelling purposes, latest estimates by NREL [182] for 2025 till 2050 are used as benchmark values and are presented in Table 24 for reference. Furthermore, based on the assumptions by NREL, a fixed OPEX of 2.5% of CAPEX per annum, a system life of 15 years, and a round-trip efficiency of 85% are assumed for the battery techno-economic parameters. The values are adjusted for inflation from the reference data and are presented in terms of 2025 values.

Table 24: Battery CAPEX and OPEX assumptions, 2025-2050

Source: Referenced from NREL publication [182] and extrapolated to 2025 values

	Energy Components Cost	Power Components Cost	Fixed O&M
Year	[€/MWh]	[€/MW]	[€/MW/a]
2025	275,536	275,536	6,888
2050	142,212	248,871	6,222

As the penetration of electric planes increases into the aviation market, a more innovative approach to energy storage can be deployed. For example, aviation-to-grid technology of-fers the ability to use parked planes as stationary batteries [183]. This can in turn substantially reduce the material limitations as multi-purpose use of existing batteries will be utilized. That being said, these technologies are still under development and no infrastructure for electric aviation exists at the time of writing this thesis. For this reason, such technologies are not considered in this model.

6.5.5. Carbon Pricing

Carbon pricing plays a crucial role in internalizing the cost of the emissions and provides a market-based measure (MBM) to reduce GHG emissions. The carbon price is multiplied by the carbon intensity of each pathway and included as an environmental cost in the energy model. For the reference value, the current CO_2 price of $80 \in$ per ton in the EU ETS market is adopted. However, based on the forecast published by the German government under the Kopernikus Projekte [184], it is forecasted that the carbon price would rise to $160+ \in$ per ton by 2030. Moreover, according to the German Environment Agency (Umweltbundesamt) the true societal cost of climate change lies in the range of $180-730 \in$ per ton_{CO2eq} and recommends it as the carbon price [185]. In addition to that, non-compliance of GHG emissions under the German Emissions Protection Law (BImSchG) Section 37c

carries a penalty of $0.60 \in \text{per kg}_{CO2eq}$ or $600 \in \text{per ton}_{CO2eq}$ [186]. For these reasons, a common CO₂ price of $600 \in \text{per ton}_{CO2eq}$ is considered as the theoretical maximum carbon price in the model and various price points between $80-600 \in \text{per ton}_{CO2eq}$ are modelled as various scenarios to observe the development of various technologies. More details regarding scenarios are provided in 6.7.

6.5.6. Hydrocarbons and Co-Products Price Estimates

Due to technological and economic reasons such as resources availability, depletion of easily accessible sites, and further reduction in permitting and drilling licenses, it is assumed that the fossil fuel and its related products will increase in price. In line with the assumptions made by Zhou et al. [132], an assumption of 1.5 times (linear) increase in fossil products' prices till 2050 is made. It is important to elaborate that this is not an unreasonable assumption for the model. Based on historical values, the crude oil in June 2008 has already traded at a value of \$140 per barrel, juxtaposed with the current crude oil price of \$80 per barrel (July 2023) [187], this equates to a price factor of 1.75 times; which is greater than the current assumption of 1.5 times in the model. Nevertheless, it is merely meant to be an assumption, as the long-term price forecasts for commodities are merely a speculation and can be significantly divergent from the market movements especially for longer time-frames such as 25-30 years, i.e., the modelling period.

Apart from unrefined crude oil, various refined products have different market prices due to their commercial application, however, these prices are indexed on the crude oil prices and largely represent similar price fluctuations. Therefore, price multipliers are also applicable to refined products such as jet fuel, diesel, and light ends. Various multipliers are used to assess the sensitivity of the model to the fossil prices and its impact on the technology selection. This is elaborated further in section 6.7.

Lights ends consist of gaseous and liquid fractions which condense at the top of the distillation column at a lower temperature; these include Propane, Butane, Gasoline, and Naphtha. However, for the sake of simplification and lack of concrete proportions of these light ends for each of the considered pathway, an assumption is made that the light ends are combined to form Naphtha which then can be sold to the market. The prices and reference dates for jet fuel/kerosene, diesel and naphtha are tabulated below.

Table 25: Reference prices for jet fuel, diesel and naphtha, July 2023

Source: References listed in the table

Fuel	Price [Unit]	Source (Reference date)
Jet fuel/Kerosene	68.00 [€/MWh]	[188, 189] (20/07/2023)
Diesel	91.41 [€/MWh]	[190] (24/07/2023)
Naphtha	42.14 [€/MWh]	[191] (24/07/2023)

Apart from hydrocarbons, oxygen gas is also produced in various pathways as a co-product during electrolysis of water. In order to improve the economics of the electrolysis process, it is assumed that the oxygen gas is sold on the market at a price of 0.15 €/kg for the entire modelling period [132, 155].

6.5.7. Economic Parameters

The cost of capital varies significantly based on the country, novelty of the project, and prevalent interest rates, and reflects the perceived risks by the investors [192]. The weighted average cost of capital or WACC takes into account the cost of debt and equity, along with the Debt-Equity structure of the project given by the D/E ratio, and the tax rate in the project country [193, 194]. For the development of the energy model, a reference value of 7% WACC is assumed on the basis of the reference values by IEA for market-based revenues in Europe [194].

The discount factor is used to discount the future cash flows to account for the investments and operation costs occurring at a later stage in the modelling timeline and represents them as present values to develop a consistent comparison between various scenarios. The selection of an appropriate discount rate is crucial, as too high discount rates can negatively gauge the future benefits of the project [195], and too low estimates may not fully capture the general inflationary behavior in the economy. The report published by The European Council for an Energy Efficient Economy (eceee) & Ecofys in 2015 recommends a discount factor of 4% per annum for Europe [195]. However, due to the recent spikes in inflation a slightly higher discount factor of 5% is selected for this energy model. Same discount factor is selected by Peters et al. [147] for the development of their modelling estimates.

In order to convert the costs provided in terms of US Dollar (USD/\$), a conversion factor 0.85 €/\$ is assumed.

6.6. Water Consumption

Water serves as the primary feedstock for e-SAF pathways, therefore there is a general apprehension in public regarding the water consumption by e-fuel production. Although, a detailed assessment of water consumption for various pathways is not carried out in this analysis, nevertheless, the reports published by German Environment Agency [81, 82] provide estimates for the water intensity of various pathways considered in this analysis. According to the report, the water consumption of MeOH and FT synthesis pathway is 1-3 orders of magnitude (10^{x}) less than the water consumed in the biogenic pathways. Furthermore, the report calculates the water intensity of MeOH and FT synthesis as 4.1 L_{H20}/L_{Jet fuel} and 3.7 L_{H20}/L_{Jet fuel} respectively. For context, the water consumption of HEFA pathway with rapeseed oil is estimated 7680 L_{H20}/L_{Jet fuel}, and for the ATJ with sugar beet the water intensity exceeds 2200 L_{H20}/L_{Jet fuel} [81, 82].

Due to the simplistic nature of the analysis, the water consumption during the cultivation process is not considered, and the cost impact of this is assumed to be included in the market price of the biogenic feedstocks. However, the water consumption as a feedstock for non-biogenic pathways and hydrogen production is considered. The consumed amount is based on stoichiometric calculations and is provided in the process flow of the respective pathways, these are already presented in the previous sections. For water cost, $2 \notin /m^3$ is considered based on the estimates by Marchese et al. [155].

6.7. Definition of Scenarios

In order to assess the sensitivity of the model to various techno-economic parameters and develop an understanding of the underlying dynamics of the key variables, various scenarios for the energy model are developed. These scenarios are based on key variables including fuel technology type, optimization value for the energy model, CO₂ budget, carbon price, aviation demand forecast, and fossil fuel prices for jet fuel and co-products. For each demand forecast, 23 + 1 scenarios are modelled. The reference scenario (Ref) for each demand forecast assumes continuation of status quo with only fossil fuel-based aviation. A detailed table of the modelling constraints is provided in Table 26. The "x" in the scenario name is used as a general placeholder for demand cases i.e., base, low, and high demand forecast, representing different values for each demand case respectively.

In total 72 scenarios are modelled, accounting for all demand cases, key variables, and reference scenarios. It is evaluated that the scenario "x_23" is the most probable scenario, as it encapsulates the general trends in the market, based on the regional policies, costs of fuel and emissions, and studied constraints for Germany.

Variables↓	Scenario→	Ref	x_1	x_2	x_3	x_4	x_5	x_6	x_7	x_8	x_9	x_10	x_11
Technology	All Technologies (Fossil, Biofuels, Efuels)		х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х
type	Fossil only	Х											
	E-Fuels only												
	Cost minimization	Х	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Optimization value	Cost minimization with CO2 budget												
	CO2 minimization			Х									
CO2 budget	No Targets	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
CO2 budget	2020 Cap												
Aviation Demand	Base Low High	Used as prefix for the scenario names for "base", "low" and "high" demand scenarios, replaces "x" in the header for the corresponding demand case											
	80	Х	Х	Х					Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
	160				Х								
CO2 Plice [€/ton]	200					Х							
[e/ton]	600						Х						
	100 (2025)→600 (2050)							Х					
	0.5								Х				
Fossil-based	1	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х					
products' price	1.5									Х			
[multiple of	1.75										Х		
2023 values]	2											Х	
	1 (2025)→ 1.5 (2050)												Х

Table 26: Detailed description of energy modelling scenarios

Variables↓	Scenario→	x_12	x_13	x_14	x_15	x_16	x_17	x_18	x_19	x_20	x_21	x_22	x_23
	All Technologies											x	
Technology	(Fossil, Biofuels, Efuels)											^	
type	Fossil only												
	E-Fuels only	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х		Х
	Cost minimization	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х		
Optimization	Cost minimization with											Y	Y
value	CO2 budget											^	^
	CO2 minimization												
CO2 budget	No Targets	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х		
CO2 budget	2020 Cap											Х	Х
	Base	Used as prefix for the scenario names for "base", "low" and "high" demand scenarios, replaces "x" in the header for the corresponding demand case											
Aviation	Low												
Demand	High												
	80	Х					Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	
	160		Х										
CO2 Price	200			Х									
[€/ton]	600				Х								
	100 (2025)→600 (2050)					Х							Х
	0.5						Х						
Fossil-based	1	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х						Х	
products' price	1.5							Х					
[multiple of	1.75								Х				
2023 values]	2									Х			
	1 (2025)→ 1.5 (2050)										Х		Х

"There is too much bad news to justify complacency. There is too much good news to justify despair"

Donella Meadows (Co-author: The Limits to Growth, 1972)

7.1. Total Costs

For all demand forecasts, in general, the total costs are observed to increase for all scenarios, however pertinent to various different factors. In the cases where the fossil prices and CO_2 prices are modelled to increase, the costs scale upwards and downwards due to the costs of fuel supply and the associated environmental costs. New investments in SAF production technologies are observed only in scenarios with high fuel costs, with high environmental costs and/or with a limit on emissions – in such cases new technologies are deployed to produce SAF from less carbon intensive sources which are observed to be costlier than conventional jet fuel. Alternatively, in cases where carbon pricing and fuel prices are modelled to be lower than the status quo, pre-disposed reliance on fossil fuel is witnessed. Extreme costs are observed for emission restrained scenarios (x_2) due to overnight costs of upfront investments and over deployment of SAF production and renewable energy capacity.

For base_1 scenario, the cost reduces due to the introduction of alternate technologies which are more energy efficient than kerosene combustion – as the energy demand reduces, the CAPEX and OPEX to meet this reduced demand is also minimized. However, as already established, SAF production technologies are more expensive, thereby the energy savings do not directly translate into cost savings and is clearly observable in the unitary analysis. This cost reduction is also observed for low and high demand scenarios.

It is observable in Figure 38, that the price variations with and without biofuels have little to no impact on the costs. In fact, various price points between "e-fuels only" and "all technologies" scenarios have identical total costs. This is due to the fact that even with availability of biofuels, the model under cost optimization predominantly opts for e-SAF production. This is attributed to the limited potential of the biofuel technologies and relatively higher emissions in comparison to e-fuels.

In all cases, investments and revenues are observable, especially at later stages of the modelling period, due to the penetration of hydrogen and electric aviation technologies from 2035 onwards, and the revenues generated from the sale of their associated co-products.

		Total Costs [Billion €]							
	-200	0	200	400	600	800	1000		
Status quo	— base_ref		209	9.4					
New technologies	base_1	N	205	5.8					
Low Emissions	base_2		mm		N E	608.0			
	base_3	N		259.0					
CO2 price	base_4	N		285.3					
variations	base_5				498.3	3			
	base_6			299.6					
	base_7	N	🛛 138.8						
Esseil writes	base_8	N	V//	272.1					
	< base_9			304.4					
variations	base_10			333.	1				
	base_11		22	26.7					
	base_12		205	5.8					
CO2 price	base_13	N		259.0					
variations	- base_14	N		285.3					
(E-fuels only)	base_15			aadqaaa	ZZZ 503.0)			
	base_16			299.6					
	base_17		2 138.8						
Fossil price	base_18	N	111	272.1					
variations	base_19			304.4					
(E-fuels only)	base_20			🖾 335.2	2				
	base_21		22	26.7					
Carbon Budget	base_22		V / 10	267.3					
Combined	base_23			347	7.2				
⊠ Invest	Fixed Variat	ole ∎Fuel	⊠ Envir	onmental	Reve	enue			

Figure 38: Base demand - Total costs for modelled scenarios (2025-2050)

Fossil fuel costs are observable in all cases, this is attributed to the low availability of costeffective SAF production options between 2025 and 2040, afterwards abundance of RE capacity makes it economically viable to install dedicated or supplemental SAF production capacity, especially in cases where RE supply can be spilled over from hydrogen production and direct electrification.

Under low and high demand scenarios, the demand scales down and up respectively, thereby the total costs are also observed to scale in proportion to the demand – detailed cost structure for low and high demand scenarios are appended in Appendix E-1 and Appendix F-1.



7.2. Cost and Carbon Intensity

Figure 39: Cost- and carbon intensities of base, low, and high demand scenarios

The cost and carbon intensities are calculated by the ratio of total- costs and emissions with the total energy demand of the respective scenario for the entire modelling horizon (2025-2050). This unitary analysis reveals that the costs and emissions scale proportionally to the aviation demand, and corroborates that the model is unbiased towards technology selection. From Figure 39 it can also be deduced that the cost intensity and carbon intensity are inversely correlated, in other words, the decarbonization of the aviation sector requires CAPEX and OPEX for the underlying infrastructure including fuel conversion plants, RE generation and energy storage – reflected by the increase in the cost intensity. All of the modelled scenarios highlight an increase in the cost per unit of aviation fuel with respect to the reference case, apart from x_7 and x_17 scenarios where the fossil prices are modelled to be below the current levels.

In addition to this, it can be observed that, even under CO_2 minimized cases (x_2), the aviation sector does not fully decarbonize. This is attributed to the limited biogenic and nonbiogenic SAF production capacity, especially between 2025-2035, and the need for blending of fossil jet fuel with some of the biogenic pathways. The x_23 scenarios illustrate different carbon intensities for the same cost point; this is identified as a function of proportions of carbon-neutral e-fuels and carbon-emitting fossil fuels in the overall energy mix of the respective scenario. Moreover, CO_2 budget with cost optimization scenarios (x_22 and x_23) provide an interesting insight into the effects of carbon neutral technologies. From Figure 39 it is evident that even at comparable cost intensities, the varied demand scenarios approach the SAF production in different manners, reflected by their carbon intensities. In low demand cases, where the CO₂ cap allows for a higher fraction of fossil fuel in the end-energy supply, the model under cost-optimization criteria limits the production of SAFs and the fraction of more sustainable technologies is gradually increased only in relation to the demand expansion. This again corroborates the analysis that, <u>the overall cost of SAF</u> production is higher than the conventional aviation fuel and any decarbonization, under the status quo would lead to price hikes.

7.3. Total Energy Mix and Renewable Generation

The Figure 40 corroborates the findings above, by illustrating the fractions of cheaper but carbon-intensive jet fuel and the expensive but less carbon-intense b-SAF and e-SAF in the total energy mix of the scenarios. It is clear that, all scenarios are heavily reliant on fossil energy, and the shift to other technologies only occur with external impetuses – in terms of costs or necessitated demand. Moreover, the figure also reflects a clear preference towards electrification, either for jet fuel production or alternate aviation; the scale of which is highly dependent on the cost impetus i.e., during fossil price and CO_2 price increases. Therefore, in order to have an early decarbonization, a level-playing field must be established between fossil fuels and SAFs.

One approach to achieve this goal is by internalizing the environmental cost into the price of fossil fuels, thereby providing an incentive to decarbonize. However, it is important to note that internalizing environmental costs into the aviation fuel price would lead to increased cost for end-energy users – and would also reflect in the air fare. Another approach would be to accelerate the development of e-fuel technologies and renewable generation, which could result in a price reduction of e-SAFs, making them more competitive with fossil fuels.

The pathways related to biogenic SAF presented limited opportunities for Germany for the modelled scenarios; the deployment of which only occurred in most emission-restrictive scenarios, and are associated with higher cost intensity, thereby making them practically infeasible. Out of which only GFT pathway showed any significant deployment, which is also the pathway that scored the highest in the biogenic pathway assessment, due to its energy substitution potential and lowest carbon emissions. Pathways based on rapeseed oil and sugar beet are largely ignored by the model.



Figure 40: Base demand - Total energy mix of the modelled scenarios, 2025-2050

One more aspect observed with the primary energy distribution is the increase in the overall energy demand compared to the reference case. It may be noted that the aviation demand is identical for all the illustrated scenarios in Figure 40, even with that the overall energy consumption increases; this is due to the lower fuel conversion efficiency of the conversion pathways. Therefore, with the increase of SAFs in the final energy mix, more energy needs to be generated to offset the low conversion efficiency inherent to the pathways. This is also one of the primary factors associated with the higher cost intensity of the modelled scenarios. The behaviors described above are likewise observed in lower and higher demand forecast with proportional changes in the final energy mix. The detailed graphs for these demand cases are provided in Appendix E-2 and Appendix F-2.

The breakdown of electricity generation by source (see Figure 41) indicates a correlation between the economic parameter and generation technology; with higher energy costs preferentially more offshore wind capacity is deployed. It is determined that the correlation exists due to the coupling of intermitted electricity generation with SAF production plants with high availability. Therefore, it makes sense to couple technologies which are comparable or similar in terms of their annual capacity factor (ACF) to minimize costs. At second

place, solar PV is deployed; this is associated with the relatively lower levelized cost of electricity (LCOE) of solar PV, however, the comparably lower ACF limits the potential to a certain extent for a cost-optimal operation of the whole system. With the offsetting of electricity from solar PV, the cost of SAF can be optimized, especially during summer months, where there can be an over-production of electricity. Thirdly, onshore wind lies in the middle of these two extremes, i.e., better ACF than solar PV and lower prices than offshore wind. Despite this, the model deploys onshore wind in cases where the capacity of offshore wind is exhausted and/or the fossil and CO₂ price are lower. Similar conclusions are also valid for lower and higher demand scenarios and detailed graphs are appended as Appendix E-3 and Appendix F-3 for reference.



■Offshore windpark ■Onshore windpark ■Solar PV

Figure 41: Base demand - Breakdown of renewable electricity supply, 2025-2050

Curtailment is also observed with increased electrification of the aviation sector, however for this model, curtailment of RE is largely associated with solar PV generation and occurs after 2045, hereafter abundant and cheap solar PV capacity is available. Curtailment is deemed to be necessary, otherwise, the storage requirement for this amount of energy exorbitantly increases the LCOE and ultimately the SAF costs. It may be noted that the

model functions in a vacuum; with the coupling of the aviation energy demand with other energy sectors, the curtailment can be resolved. For example, the excess energy may be used to produce fuels for marine and road transport, or exported to neighboring countries, or perhaps even be used to produce green hydrogen.

7.4. Dynamics of SAF Production and Renewable Installations

The total energy requirements for the entire period discussed in previous sections generally overlook the dynamics of how the SAF production infrastructure and the associated RE supply develops over the modelling period. As the urbs energy model already provides high-resolution data at a 5-yr interval between 2025 and 2050, it is relatively easily to understand these dynamics. Thus, Figure 42 and Figure 43, along with Appendix E-4, Appendix E-5, Appendix F-4, and Appendix F-5 aim at illustrating the intrinsic subtleties of how the end-energy mix is developed in tandem with aviation energy demand forecasts presented in Figure 25 on pg. 56. The resulting observations bolster the already established analysis and provide some additional insights; these are discussed successively.

From the figures it is self-evident that the scenarios with either high fossil- and CO₂ price or a CO₂-cap incentivize an early adoption of SAFs in the aviation energy mix. Otherwise, most scenarios operate till 2035 with minimal contribution of SAFs due to costs concerns under cost minimization cases. Moreover, the dependency of the conventional jet fuel appears to continue throughout the modelling period; this is an artifact of the modelling parameters as the jet fuel infrastructure is assumed to have a life of 30 years. In fact, 2045 onwards the SAF production capacity is sufficient to meet the forecasted aviation demand.

Between 2035-2040, the demand for the jet fuel peaks during this period and gradually reduces due to the introduction of electric and hydrogen planes. Hence, the rise in SAF production capacity directly offsets the fossil jet fuel. Another factor to observe is the reduction or outright disappearance of the biogenic SAF pathways after 2040 (see Figure 42). As the technology cost improves for conversion plants and the RE generation, coupled with the reduction in fuel demand, the production of SAF from biogenic pathways does not make economic sense and is therefore excluded due to cost minimization by the model. It is worth mentioning that the capacity reduction only occurs after the technical life of the plant and assets already installed are optimized to reduce CAPEX.



Figure 42: Base demand - Timeline of SAF production capacities by technology at 5-yr intervals, 2025-2050



Base Demand – Renewable Installed Capacity – 2025-2050

Figure 43: Base demand - Timeline of solar PV, onshore- and offshore wind capacities at 5-yr intervals, 2025-2050

Notably, there exists a clear trend in the conversion technology for e-SAF production (see Figure 42); the methanol synthesis route is preferred against the FT route due to the higher SAF fraction in the product-slate and a miniscule energy efficiency advantage. However, with high fossil cost, there is an observable expansion of the FT capacity, especially after 2045. This is attributed to the fact that FT synthesis produces relatively higher fraction of diesel and with the sale of co-products, especially at higher price points, the process economics becomes more favorable for FT synthesis. Though, this is only possible with abundance of cheap RE to offset the efficiency penalty of this pathway. Moreover, in case of a holistic energy model where other demand sectors may be considered, the FT route would make more sense, as the diesel produced can help simultaneously decarbonize the road and sea transport. Notwithstanding to the previous statement, from the aviation demand perspective, the methanol synthesis route offers a more effective approach and is evident from the distribution of e-SAF technology.

At large, the introduction of e-SAF appears in tandem with the use of electric and hydrogen planes after 2035. It is determined that the additional capacity of the RE generation, especially during periods of high availability is spilled over to run the SAF production plants to improve the capacity utilization of these plants. This behavior emerges from the underlying assumptions in the model, as the direct electrification and hydrogen production can only be operated with renewable electricity, meanwhile jet fuel could also be sourced from biogenic or even fossil sources.

Another aspect revealed by comparing Figure 42 and Figure 43 is that the RE capacity is significantly higher than the fuel production capacity. This is understandably linked with two technical parameters i.e., conversion efficiency of the SAF pathways and the ACF of renewable technologies. On one side, the SAF pathways sport an overall efficiency of approx. 50% which directly necessitates double energy input than the fuel output. Secondly, the ACF of the RE technologies also negatively affects the capacity requirements.

It is clearly evident in the scenarios predominantly based on technology with a higher ACF, such as offshore wind, comparably lower RE capacity is installed. Meanwhile in scenarios with significant solar PV contribution, extensive solar PV capacity is necessary to compensate for the lower ACF, especially in a region like Germany. For these reasons, the model is predisposed to install offshore wind to optimize the overall ACF of the entire pathway. Furthermore, 2040 is observed to be an inflection point, thereafter the reduction in technology cost of solar PV offsets these concerns to a certain extent and significant installations can be observed. However, the sector largely remains dependent on the offshore wind sector due to the nature of aviation energy demand and SAF production plants.

7.5. Storage Requirements

Storage is deemed an essential part of the energy supply due to dependency on intermittent renewable energy. It is observed that, in the absence of sufficient storage capacity the model either fails or exorbitant renewable capacity installation takes place – which is reflected on the price of SAF. However, even with relatively higher constraints allowed in the assumption in terms of storage capacity and power, the deployed storage capacity is substantially lower for all demand cases and scenarios, apart from CO_2 minimization (x_2) which requires extensive RE and coupled storage capacity to meet the aviation demand; this is determined to be infeasible with regards to economic concerns.

For batteries, a maximum limit of up to 12 hours of storage capacity at peak annual power demand is set. In spite of this, all demand cases settle for a 2 to 5 hours of storage, with most scenarios having a battery storage of only 3.5 hours. For hydrogen storage, a storage limit of up to 30 days (720 hours) is established in the model parameters. However, the deployed capacity is observed to be substantially lower; all demand cases and scenarios settle for an LOHC-based hydrogen storage in the range of 20 to 60 hours, with a median value of 25.5 hours. This determination and optimization by the model not only address the concerns regarding the cost of storage but also prevents strain on the supply of critical raw materials used to produce these storage technologies.

SAF storage is not considered as a critical parameter, due to a 90-day, legally-mandated fuel storage capacity in Germany; and with the reduction of aviation fuel demand after 2035, it is expected that this capacity would be sufficient to provide a reserve for SAF production from biogenic and non-biogenic SAF pathways. Moreover, this abundant capacity can also provide an opportunity for better integration of RE sources. For example, during periods of excess RE capacity, SAF can be produced and stored – allowing for optimal system sizing and operational costs.

For reference, detailed graphs for storage parameters for all scenarios for base, low, and high demand forecast are provided in Appendix D-5, Appendix E-6 and Appendix F-6 respectively.



Figure 44: Base demand - Scenario-wise breakdown of co-products: diesel, naphtha, and oxygen, 2025-2050

7.6. Co-products

The co-production of diesel, naphtha and oxygen is unavoidable with the modelled technologies. Therefore, these co-products are sold to the market to generate additional revenue streams to improve the economics of the processes; this is presented as a negative cost called 'Revenue' in Figure 38. The production of co-products is directly dependent on the technology mix; hence, the volume of co-products also scales proportionally with respect to the demand case (see Appendix E-6 and Appendix F-6). Therefore, it is a legitimate concern that if these co-products can be easily integrated and sold in their respective markets.

From the statistics regarding German diesel consumption, approx. 390 TWh of diesel is consumed annually [196]. Even under most optimistic scenarios, the total diesel co-production falls below 400 TWh for the 25-year period. Therefore, it is concluded that integrating the diesel supply into the German market will not pose a challenge. Especially, with tightening emission standards, diesel from more sustainable sources would enjoy a sizeable demand.

As for the oxygen gas, the global demand is expected to double in the next ten years from 70 Bn USD to 158 Bn USD – this growing market is primarily driven by the industrial sector such as steel making and metal cutting, chemical industry applications, petrochemical, water treatment, pulp and paper processing [197]. Based on this, given the global dynamics and push towards sustainability, sale of co-products should not present a challenge, especially in the short- to medium-term.

7.7. Identified Short-Comings and Limitations

As elaborated multiple times before, the energy model is built upon simplistic assumptions due to time constraints in this thesis. Despite the time limitations, efforts were made to present the most accurate representation of the aviation market within these constraints. Throughout the analysis, several shortcomings in the energy model have been identified, stemming from certain modeling decisions and simplifications. It is essential to acknowledge these limitations as they may impact the reliability and generalizability of the model's findings.

Firstly, the modeling framework, urbs, imposes restrictions on the scaling of technology. urbs relies on linear optimization of cost and environmental emissions, assuming that technologies scale linearly. In reality, technologies often exhibit economies of scale, impacting CAPEX and OPEX. The linear nature of the model results in cost estimates being assessed at a specific scale and then multiplied to achieve the required system size, potentially leading to inaccuracies.

Secondly, due to the scope limitation, only the aviation market is modeled in isolation from the broader German energy market. Changes in demand within the aviation sector could influence other energy supply streams in Germany, altering price signals and technology selection. This interconnection is overlooked in the model, with analysis focusing solely on energy supply and demand relevant to aviation. The demand forecasting model, while pragmatic, relies on limited variables and timeseries, potentially causing significant under-or overestimation of future demand. Moreover, the demand forecast assumes continuation of the status quo in terms of energy efficiency, flight efficiency, and generally an incremental development of the aviation energy demand – this is clearly a continuation bias.

Thirdly, due to the isolated analysis, the interaction between various primary energy carriers is not considered. For instance, the assumption that hydrogen generation is directly consumed by the aviation sector neglects potential optimal utilization of electrolyser capacity to generate additional revenues based on energy market price fluctuations. An integrated approach could also facilitate the development of scenarios for additional generation export, enhancing economic incentives for such projects.

Moreover, the environmental impacts of technologies are not fully internalized due to the reliance on reference values from scientific papers, international, and global agencies. These values may not accurately represent the emission intensity of pathways in Germany. Specific values for Germany are crucial to ensure accurate environmental impact assessments.

Finally, the CAPEX and OPEX of modeled technologies are simplified and may not accurately reflect the installation- and operating costs in Germany. While efforts were made to use German and European estimates, global or international estimates were considered where data was lacking. The simplified cost structures do not fully encompass all expenses associated with project development, including but not limited to, land acquisition, project development costs, engineering and design, environmental studies, project financing, and insurance.

Conclusions

8. Conclusions

"Nothing in life is to be feared, it is only to be understood" - Marie Skłodowska-Curie (1867-1934)

With the increasing concerns regarding climate change, dove-tailed with the push for sustainability from the public and governments alike, it is inevitable that a decarbonization of aviation sector would be realized by 2050. The extent of this decarbonization is a grave concern and is reliant on a plethora of factors, which are pedantically assessed within the scope of this thesis for Germany. The scope entails analyzing the fuel demand of the German aviation sector, which is used as a proxy for the aviation demand in the country. The predication model based on MRA forecasts a gradual increase of the aviation demand in Germany based on various techno-economic parameters, with the 2050-levels being 20% to 170% higher than the baseline level in 2019.

Even though the sector is forecasted to grow, this does not necessarily translate into a prorata increase in the aviation energy demand. The introduction of more efficient combustion technologies and alternative propulsion, namely, hydrogen and electric aviation, would bring about a substantial reduction in the overall energy demand - enabling fuel and emissions savings. Despite this, the earliest introduction of hydrogen and electric aviation is expected to occur at the end of 2030s, and a significant shift in the aviation propulsion is only forecasted to come into play after 2045. It is worth mentioning that these projections are highly optimistic as there is no currently available commercial-ready solution for any alternate propulsion technology. Therefore, there still remains a significant demand for kerosene-based aviation fuel; this is the fundamental reason SAF are projected as a certain strategy to decarbonize the 'hard-to-abate' aviation industry.

The production of SAF possess its own challenges in terms of regulatory, resources, societal, economics, and certainly, technical aspects. The most-developed SAF production options lie in the realm of biogenic pathways. Despite having matured technologies and already established supply-chain for feedstocks, the biogenic pathways offer limited opportunities for a land-constraint country like Germany. These opportunities are further stifled by the regulatory framework amid concerns regarding their impact on the environment and competition with feed and fodder production. Even under most-favorable conditions, for Germany, the biogenic pathways, namely, HEFA, ATJ, and GFT, are restrained due to their

Conclusions

low conversion efficiencies, mandated blending with fossil jet fuel and higher cost of SAF production relative to fossil fuel. This directly hampers their ability to offset conventional jet fuel in any substantial manner; the maximum identified potential for the period 2025-2050 remains below 12%, with maximum annual substitution observed to be reaching 19% due to the forecasted reduction in kerosene demand in 2050.

Attributable to mandated substitution of jet fuel under EU law, with clearly defined targets till 2050; it is clear that these targets have to be met. For this reason, SAF produced from non-biogenic pathways proposes a technically-viable alternative to fossil jet fuel in Germany. Although the conversion technology of the SAF production, namely, MeOH and FT synthesis can be deployed at industrial-scale, the production of hydrogen and carbon capture for feedstock from sustainable and economical sources remains a challenge. In addition to this, the overall conversion efficiency of these processes is approx. 50%, necessitating additional energy input which further increases the cost of e-SAF.

In order to keep the non-biogenic pathways in compliance with REDII, it is only possible to produce carbon and hydrogen feedstocks from RE-supplied processes. This requires substantial expansion of the RE infrastructure including generation, transmission, and storage. When analyzed within the framework of German RE targets, there is ample capacity available to meet the additional demand expected from decarbonized aviation. Delving further into the analysis reveals a characteristic harmony between offshore wind and e-SAF production, owing to the inherent nature of the demand and higher ACF of offshore wind. For economic reasons, it makes more sense to couple technologies with similar availability to avoid unnecessary system capacity and storage – prompting reduced CAPEX and OPEX and ultimately reduced SAF price.

Nonetheless, this analysis does not include other energy demand vectors, and with ongoing decarbonization of industry, residential, transport sector, it is fair to conclude that proposed target may not be sufficient to accommodate all demand vectors including aviation. This limit is most apparent for offshore wind as only a limited capacity expansion plan is put-forward by the German government. Supplementing offshore wind with onshore wind and solar PV is not only essential to ensure sufficient capacity, but also for the reason of better economics due to lower technology cost. Even though, it is expected that hydrogen and electric aviation along with combustion improvement would significantly reduce the direct energy consumption of aviation, however, due to additional conversion processes involved, the forecasted energetic gain is either substantially reduced or even more energy is required. On one hand, this increased demand puts pressure on the already-contested RE supply, on the other hand offers an opportunity to integrate RE in a better manner by storing electricity as fuel during periods of high availability and avoid curtailment.

In conclusion, the decarbonization of aviation in Germany requires expansion of the RE supply along with installation of e-SAF production facilities. This necessitates significant infrastructure investments and higher technology-related operating costs – indicative of an increase cost of energy for the aviation sector. In fact, the degree of decarbonization is directly correlated with increased costs, and no scenario is observed where decarbonization would lead to a reduction in the energy cost for the aviation sector. An aggressive decarbonization strategy would result in a fuel cost increase of 250%, with a more moderate, and perhaps a probable approach resulting in a cost increase of approx. 100%.

Even with increased cost, in the short- and medium-term fossil fuel is expected to remain the primary energy supply for aviation, unless a breakthrough in fuel production, renewable electricity generation or storage technology is made leading to substantial cost savings or efficiency improvements. Furthermore, option regarding SAF import from regions with more favorable techno-economic conditions cannot be discounted, however would negatively impact the energy autarky of Germany.

References

- [1] UNFCCC. Adoption of Paris Agreement. FCCC/CP/2015/L.9/Rev.1, https://un-fccc.int/resource/docs/2015/cop21/eng/l09r01.pdf (12 December 2015).
- [2] Gonçalves VK. Climate Change and International Civil Aviation Negotiations. *Contexto Int* 2017; 39: 443–458.
- [3] European Parliament. Directive (EU) 2018/2001 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 11 December 2018 on the promotion of the use of energy from renewable sources (recast) (Text with EEA relevance.), http://data.europa.eu/eli/dir/2018/2001/oj/eng (2018, accessed 8 June 2023).
- [4] IEA. Aviation. *IEA*, https://www.iea.org/energy-system/transport/aviation (2022, accessed 26 September 2023).
- [5] Pearce R. Analysis: Aviation could consume a quarter of 1.5C carbon budget by 2050. *Carbon Brief*, https://www.carbonbrief.org/aviation-consume-quarter-carbonbudget/ (2016, accessed 2 November 2023).
- [6] ICAO. A40-18: Consolidated statement of continuing ICAO policies and practices related to environmental protection — Climate change, https://www.icao.int/environmental-protection/Documents/Assembly/Resolution_A40-18_Climate_Change.pdf (2019).
- [7] ICAO. ICAO 9963 : Report of the independent experts on the medium and long term goal for aviation fuel burn reduction from technology, https://global.ihs.com/doc_detail.cfm?document_name=ICAO%209963&item_s_key=00571760 (2010, accessed 12 May 2023).
- [8] ICAO. Climate Change, https://www.icao.int/environmental-protection/Pages/climate-change.aspx (2023, accessed 10 May 2023).
- [9] EASA. Carbon Offsetting and Reduction Scheme for International Aviation (COR-SIA). EASA Eco, https://www.easa.europa.eu/eco/eaer/topics/market-basedmeasures/corsia#background (2023, accessed 9 May 2023).
- [10] Bundesministerium für Digitales und Verkehr (BMDV). ICAO State Action Plan for CO2 Emissions Reduction - Germany. Third Edition, https://bmdv.bund.de/SharedDocs/EN/publications/icao-state-action-plan-co2emissions-germany.html (September 2018, accessed 31 May 2023).
- [11] ICAO. Resolution A41-22: Consolidated statement of continuing ICAO policies and practices related to environmental protection — Carbon Offsetting and Reduction Scheme for International Aviation (CORSIA), https://www.icao.int/environmentalprotection/CORSIA/Documents/Resolution_A41-22_CORSIA.pdf (2022).
- [12] European Commission. Use of international credits, https://climate.ec.europa.eu/euaction/eu-emissions-trading-system-eu-ets/use-international-credits_en (2023, accessed 28 September 2023).

- [13] European Commission. Revision for phase 4 (2021-2030), https://climate.ec.europa.eu/eu-action/eu-emissions-trading-system-eu-ets/revision-phase-4-2021-2030_en (2023, accessed 28 September 2023).
- [14] European Commission. Emissions cap and allowances, https://climate.ec.europa.eu/eu-action/eu-emissions-trading-system-eu-ets/emissions-cap-and-allowances_en (2023, accessed 28 September 2023).
- [15] EASA. CORSIA map. *EASA*, https://www.easa.europa.eu/en/corsia-map (accessed 27 September 2023).
- [16] European Environment Agency. EEA member countries and cooperating countries — European Environment Agency, https://www.eea.europa.eu/data-and-maps/figures/eea-member-countries-5 (accessed 27 September 2023).
- [17] HoussameH, kais-siala, Buchenberg P, et al. tum-ens/pyGRETA: Multiple Updates. Epub ahead of print 20 April 2022. DOI: 10.5281/zenodo.6472409.
- [18] Dorfner J, Schoenleber K, Dorfner M, et al. tum-ens/urbs: urbs v1.0.1. Epub ahead of print 2019. DOI: 10.5281/ZENODO.3265960.
- [19] Eisenmann C, Köhler K, Schulz A, et al. *Verkehr in Zahlen 2022/2023*. Kraftfahrt-Bundesamt, https://elib.dlr.de/192648/ (2022).
- [20] Eurostat. People on the move Chapter 3.3: Travelling by plane. *People on the move*, https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/cache/digpub/eumove/bloc-3c.html?lang=en (2019, accessed 29 September 2023).
- [21] European Commission. Alternative fuels used for aviation | European Alternative Fuels Observatory, https://alternative-fuels-observatory.ec.europa.eu/transportmode/aviation/alternative-fuels-for-aviation (accessed 23 May 2023).
- [22] Bundesverband der Deutschen Luftverkehrwirtschaft (BDL). BDL Climate Protection Report 2020, https://www.bdl.aero/en/publication/climate-protection-report/ (2020, accessed 29 September 2023).
- [23] Siemons A, Schneider L, Wissner N, et al. Options for regulating the climate impacts of aviation. 2021.
- [24] DIN. DIN EN 16258:2013-03, Methode zur Berechnung und Deklaration des Energieverbrauchs und der Treibhausgasemissionen bei Transportdienstleistungen (Güter- und Personenverkehr); Deutsche Fassung EN_16258:2012. Beuth Verlag GmbH. DOI: 10.31030/1894795.
- [25] Bundesministerium für Digitales und Verkehr (BMDV). BMDV PtL roadmap Sustainable aviation fuel from renewable energy sources for aviation in Germany (Englisch), https://www.bmdv.bund.de/SharedDocs/DE/Anlage/G/ptl-roadmapenglisch.html (accessed 8 June 2023).
- [26] EASA. European Aviation Environmental Report 2022. European Union Aviation Safety Agency, https://www.easa.europa.eu/eco/sites/default/files/2023-02/230217_EASA%20EAER%202022.pdf (2023, accessed 12 June 2023).
- [27] EASA. Fit for 55 and ReFuelEU Aviation. *EASA*, https://www.easa.europa.eu/en/light/topics/fit-55-and-refueleu-aviation (accessed 10 May 2023).

- [28] Jaan Soone (European Parliamentary Research Service). RefuelEU Aviation initiative: Sustainable aviation fuels and the 'fit for 55' package. Briefing PE 698.900, European Parliament, https://www.europarl.europa.eu/Reg-Data/etudes/BRIE/2022/698900/EPRS_BRI(2022)698900_EN.pdf (December 2022, accessed 22 May 2023).
- [29] Atmosfair. Hauptseite Deutsch atmosfair fairfuel, https://fairfuel.atmosfair.de/de/hauptseite-deutsch/ (accessed 13 June 2023).
- [30] IEA. *The Future of Hydrogen: Seizing Today's Opportunities*, https://www.iea.org/reports/the-future-of-hydrogen (June 2019, accessed 3 October 2023).
- [31] Deutsche Energie-Agentur dena. E-Kerosene for Commercial Aviation, From Green Hydro- gen and CO2 from Direct Air Capture – Volumes, Cost, Area Demand and Renewable Energy Competition in the United States and Europe from 2030 to 2050, https://www.dena.de/fileadmin/dena/Publikationen/PDFs/2022/STUDY_E-Kerosene_for_Commercial_Aviation.pdf (2022).
- [32] IRENA. Making the breakthrough: Green hydrogen policies and technology costs. Abu Dhabi: International Renewable Energy Agency, https://www.irena.org/-/media/Files/IRENA/Agency/Publication/2020/Nov/IRENA_Green_Hydrogen_breakthrough_2021.pdf?la=en&hash=40FA5B8AD7AB1666EEC-BDE30EF458C45EE5A0AA6 (2021).
- [33] Kountouris I, Langer L, Bramstoft R, et al. Power-to-X in energy hubs: A Danish case study of renewable fuel production. *Energy Policy* 2023; 175: 113439.
- [34] ICAO. *ICAO Environmental Report 2022*, https://www.icao.int/environmental-protection/Pages/envrep2022.aspx (2022, accessed 7 June 2023).
- [35] Prussi M, Panoutsou C, Chiaramonti D. Assessment of the Feedstock Availability for Covering EU Alternative Fuels Demand. *Appl Sci* 2022; 12: 740.
- [36] Dieterich V, Buttler A, Hanel A, et al. Power-to-liquid *via* synthesis of methanol, DME or Fischer–Tropsch-fuels: a review. *Energy Environ Sci* 2020; 13: 3207–3252.
- [37] German BMWK-Federal Ministry for Economics Affairs and Climate Action. Overview of the Easter Package, https://www.bmwk.de/Redaktion/EN/Downloads/Energy/0406_ueberblickspapier_osterpaket_en.html (2022, accessed 17 August 2023).
- [38] Federal Statistical Office Germany. Energy: Gross electricity production in Germany 2019-2022, https://www.destatis.de/EN/Themes/Economic-Sectors-Enterprises/Energy/Production/Tables/gross-electricity-production.html (2023, accessed 3 October 2023).
- [39] Bundesnetzagentur (BNetzA). SMARD | SMARD Market data, https://www.smard.de/en (accessed 17 August 2023).
- [40] Dr. Harry Wirth. Aktuelle Fakten zur Photovoltaik in Deutschland Fraunhofer ISE. Fraunhofer ISE, https://www.ise.fraunhofer.de/de/veroeffentlichungen/studien/aktuelle-fakten-zur-photovoltaik-in-deutschland.html (27 September 2023, accessed 3 October 2023).

- [41] Amme J, Kötter E, Janiak F, et al. Der Photovoltaik- und Windflächenrechner -Methoden und Daten. Epub ahead of print 7 October 2021. DOI: 10.5281/ZE-NODO.4731921.
- [42] Lütkehus I, Salecker H, Adlunger K. *Potenzial der windenergie an land: Studie zur ermittlung des bundesweiten flächen-und leistungspotenzials der windener-gienutzung an land*. Umweltbundesamt, 2013.
- [43] Risch S, Maier R, Du J, et al. Potentials of Renewable Energy Sources in Germany and the Influence of Land Use Datasets. *Energies* 2022; 15: 5536.
- [44] Tröndle T, Pfenninger S, Lilliestam J. Home-made or imported: On the possibility for renewable electricity autarky on all scales in Europe. *Energy Strategy Rev* 2019; 26: 100388.
- [45] Federal Statistical Office Germany. Production of Biofuels, https://www.destatis.de/EN/Themes/Economic-Sectors-Enterprises/Energy/Production/Tables/biofuels.html (accessed 23 June 2023).
- [46] Fachagentur Nachwachsende Rohstoffe e.V. (FNR. Anbau und Verwendung nachwachsender Rohstoffe in Deutschland, https://statistik.fnr.de/index.php (accessed 22 June 2023).
- [47] Federal Statistical Office Germany. Floor area total according to types of use in Germany, https://www.destatis.de/EN/Themes/Economic-Sectors-Enterprises/Agriculture-Forestry-Fisheries/Land-Use/Tables/areas-new.html (2022, accessed 14 June 2023).
- [48] World Bank. World Bank Open Data. Agricultural land (% of land area) Germany (AG.LND.AGRI.ZS), https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/AG.LND.AGRI.ZS?end=2020&locations=DE&start=2020&view=map (accessed 14 June 2023).
- [49] Federal Statistical Office Germany. Arable land after the main groups and crops, https://www.destatis.de/EN/Themes/Economic-Sectors-Enterprises/Agriculture-Forestry-Fisheries/Field-Crops-Grassland/Tables/arable-land-after-the-main-groupsand-crops.html (2022, accessed 14 June 2023).
- [50] Asam S, Gessner U, Almengor González R, et al. Mapping Crop Types of Germany by Combining Temporal Statistical Metrics of Sentinel-1 and Sentinel-2 Time Series with LPIS Data. *Remote Sens* 2022; 14: 2981.
- [51] Majer S, Müller-Langer F, Thrän D, et al. Biomass potentials and competition for biomass utilisation - Short study in the context of the scientific supervision, support and guidance of the BMVBS in the sectors Transport and Mobility with a specific focus on fuels and propulsion technologies, as well as energy and climate. Leipzig: Deutsches Zentrum für Luft- und Raumfahrt e.V. (DLR) Institut für Verkehrsforschung, https://bmdv.bund.de/SharedDocs/EN/Documents/MKS/mksshort-study-biomass-potentials-and-competition-for-biomass-utilisation.pdf? blob=publicationFile (17 July 2013, accessed 21 June 2023).
- [52] Thrän D, Bunzel K, Seyfert U, et al. *Global and Regional Spatial Distribution of Bio*mass Potentials - Status quo and options for specification,

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/338549017_Global_and_Regional_Spatial_Distribution_of_Biomass_Potentials_-_Status_quo_and_options_for_specification (January 2011).

- [53] Brosowski A, Thrän D, Mantau U, et al. A review of biomass potential and current utilisation – Status quo for 93 biogenic wastes and residues in Germany. *Biomass Bioenergy* 2016; 95: 257–272.
- [54] Woortman DV. The production of microalgae derived, functional additives for jet fuel, food and cosmetics. Technische Universität München, https://mediatum.ub.tum.de/?id=1540057 (2020, accessed 7 June 2023).
- [55] Dyk S, Saddler J. Progress in Commercialization of Biojet /Sustainable Aviation Fuels (SAF):, https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/Progress-in-Commercialization-of-Biojet-Sustainable-Dyk-Saddler/abefb4baf57e39ec87c25494a303d9747530c8e3 (2021, accessed 26 June 2023).
- [56] Holladay J, Abdullah Z, Heyne J. Sustainable Aviation Fuel: Review of Technical Pathways. DOE/EE--2041, 1660415, 8292.
- [57] Blakey S, Rye L, Wilson CW. Aviation gas turbine alternative fuels: A review. *Proc Combust Inst* 2011; 33: 2863–2885.
- [58] SANDBERG, Kati, ; NORTIO, Jenni, ; KIISKI, Ulla. JET FUEL COMPOSITION. WO2023031512 (A1), https://worldwide.espacenet.com/publicationDetails/biblio?FT=D&date=20230309&DB=EPODOC&locale=&CC=WO&NR=2023031512A1&KC=A1&ND=1# (2023).
- [59] Rumizen MA. Qualification of Alternative Jet Fuels. *Front Energy Res* 2021; 9: 760713.
- [60] Shahriar MF, Khanal A. The current techno-economic, environmental, policy status and perspectives of sustainable aviation fuel (SAF). *Fuel* 2022; 325: 124905.
- [61] D02 Committee. Specification for Aviation Turbine Fuel Containing Synthesized Hydrocarbons. ASTM International. DOI: 10.1520/D7566-22.
- [62] Zhang L, Butler TL, Bin Yang\ast. Recent Trends, Opportunities and Challenges of Sustainable Aviation Fuel. Wiley, 2020, pp. 85–110.
- [63] Said Z, Nguyen TH, Sharma P, et al. Multi-attribute optimization of sustainable aviation fuel production-process from microalgae source. *Fuel* 2022; 324: 124759.
- [64] IATA. Sustainable Aviation Fuel: Technical Certification. Factsheet 2, https://www.iata.org/contentassets/d13875e9ed784f75bac90f000760e998/saftechnical-certifications.pdf (accessed 7 June 2023).
- [65] Airbus. ZEROe Zero emission Airbus, https://www.airbus.com/en/innovation/lowcarbon-aviation/hydrogen/zeroe (2021, accessed 17 May 2023).
- [66] Airbus. Sustainable Aviation Fuel | Decarbonisation | Airbus, https://www.airbus.com/en/sustainability/respecting-the-planet/decarbonisation/sustainable-aviation-fuel (2022, accessed 5 October 2023).
- [67] Ansell PJ. Review of sustainable energy carriers for aviation: Benefits, challenges, and future viability. *Prog Aerosp Sci* 2023; 141: 100919.

- [68] Ficca A, Marulo F, Sollo A. An open thinking for a vision on sustainable green aviation. *Prog Aerosp Sci* 2023; 141: 100928.
- [69] Bullerdiek N, Neuling U, Kaltschmitt M. A GHG reduction obligation for sustainable aviation fuels (SAF) in the EU and in Germany. J Air Transp Manag 2021; 92: 102020.
- [70] Mawhood R, Gazis E, De Jong S, et al. Production pathways for renewable jet fuel: a review of commercialization status and future prospects: Renewable jet fuel technologies: commercialisation status and future prospects. *Biofuels Bioprod Biorefining* 2016; 10: 462–484.
- [71] Kaltschmitt M, Themelis NJ, Bronicki LY, et al. (eds). *Renewable Energy Systems*. New York, NY: Springer New York. Epub ahead of print 2013. DOI: 10.1007/978-1-4614-5820-3.
- [72] Tanzil AH, Brandt K, Wolcott M, et al. Strategic assessment of sustainable aviation fuel production technologies: Yield improvement and cost reduction opportunities. *Biomass Bioenergy* 2021; 145: 105942.
- [73] Atsonios K, Li J, Inglezakis VJ. Process analysis and comparative assessment of advanced thermochemical pathways for e-kerosene production. *Energy* 2023; 278: 127868.
- [74] Neuling U, Kaltschmitt M. Aviation biofuels: an economic and environmental assessment with an outlook on cost reduction potentials. Epub ahead of print 2019. DOI: 10.34726/61.
- [75] Michaga MFR, Michailos S, Hughes KJ, et al. Techno-economic and life cycle assessment review of sustainable aviation fuel produced via biomass gasification. In: *Sustainable Biofuels*. Elsevier, pp. 269–303.
- [76] Shehab M, Moshammer K, Franke M, et al. Analysis of the Potential of Meeting the EU's Sustainable Aviation Fuel Targets in 2030 and 2050. *Sustainability* 2023; 15: 9266.
- [77] Barthel S. Germany plans to 'further reduce' use of crop-biofuels | Argus Media, https://www.argusmedia.com/en//news/2326842-germany-plans-to-further-reduceuse-of-cropbiofuels (2022, accessed 12 June 2023).
- [78] Reuters. German plans to end crop-based biofuels would hit farmers, cut rapeseed output. *Reuters*, 25 January 2023, https://www.reuters.com/business/energy/german-plans-end-crop-based-biofuels-would-hit-farmers-cut-rapeseed-output-2023-01-25/ (25 January 2023, accessed 14 June 2023).
- [79] European Commission. HORIZON 2020 WORK PROGRAMME 2014-2015, https://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/data/ref/h2020/wp/2014_2015/annexes/h2020-wp1415-annex-g-trl_en.pdf (2014).
- [80] CAAFI. CAAFI Fuel Readiness Level (FRL), https://www.caafi.org/information/pdf/FRL_CAAFI_Jan_2010_V16.pdf (2009).
- [81] Schmidt P, Weindorf W, Roth A, et al. *Power-to-liquids: Potentials and Perspectives for the Future Supply of Renewable Aviation Fuel*. German Environment Agency, https://books.google.de/books?id=20YnzgEACAAJ (2016).

- [82] Batteiger V, Schmidt P, Weindorf W, et al. *Power-to-Liquids A scalable and sustainable fuel supply perspective for aviation*. German Environment Agency, 2022.
- [83] Robinius M, Otto A, Heuser P, et al. Linking the Power and Transport Sectors—Part 1: The Principle of Sector Coupling. *Energies* 2017; 10: 956.
- [84] Robinius M, Otto A, Syranidis K, et al. Linking the Power and Transport Sectors— Part 2: Modelling a Sector Coupling Scenario for Germany. *Energies* 2017; 10: 957.
- [85] Runge P, Sölch C, Albert J, et al. Economic Comparison of Electric Fuels Produced at Excellent Locations for Renewable Energies: A Scenario for 2035. SSRN Electron J. Epub ahead of print 2020. DOI: 10.2139/ssrn.3623514.
- [86] Buchenberg P, Addanki T, Franzmann D, et al. Global Potentials and Costs of Synfuels via Fischer–Tropsch Process. *Energies* 2023; 16: 1976.
- [87] ICAO. ICAO document CORSIA Sustainability Criteria for CORSIA Eligible Fuels, https://www.icao.int/environmental-protection/CORSIA/Documents/CORSIA_Eligible_Fuels/ICAO%20document%2005%20-%20Sustainability%20Criteria%20-%20November%202022.pdf (2022).
- [88] ICAO. ICAO document CORSIA Default Life Cycle Emissions Values for CORSIA Eligible Fuels, https://www.icao.int/environmental-protection/CORSIA/Documents/CORSIA_Eligible_Fuels/ICAO%20document%2006%20-%20Default%20Life%20Cycle%20Emissions%20-%20June%202022.pdf (2022).
- [89] Bealu Z. Process Simulation and Optimization of Alternative Liquid Fuels Production A techno-economic assessment of the production of HEFA Jet Fuel. Master's Thesis, University of Kaiserslautern, https://elib.dlr.de/117806/ (2017).
- [90] Grisales Díaz VH, Olivar Tost G. Ethanol and isobutanol dehydration by heat-integrated distillation. *Chem Eng Process Intensif* 2016; 108: 117–124.
- [91] Zech K, Naumann K, Müller-Langner F, et al. Drop-In-Kraftstoffe für die Luftfahrt Studie im Rahmen des Auftrags Wissenschaftliche Begleitung, Unterstützung und Beratung des BMVI in den Bereichen Verkehr und Mobilität mit besonderem Fokus auf Kraftstoffe und Antriebstechnologien sowie Energie und Klima für das Bundesministerium für Verkehr und digitale Infrastruktur (BMVI) AZ Z14 / SeV / 288.3 / 1179 / UI40, Ausschreibung vom 19. 12. 2011, https://elib.dlr.de/121388/ (October 2014, accessed 21 June 2023).
- [92] De Jong S, Hoefnagels R, Faaij A, et al. The feasibility of short-term production strategies for renewable jet fuels - a comprehensive techno-economic comparison: The Feasibility of Short-term Production Strategies for Renewable Jet Fuels - A Comprehensive Techno-economic Comparison. *Biofuels Bioprod Biorefining* 2015; 9: 778– 800.
- [93] Geleynse S, Brandt K, Garcia-Perez M, et al. The Alcohol-to-Jet Conversion Pathway for Drop-In Biofuels: Techno-Economic Evaluation. *ChemSusChem* 2018; 11: 3728–3741.
- [94] Moretti C, López-Contreras A, De Vrije T, et al. From agricultural (by-)products to jet fuels: Carbon footprint and economic performance. Sci Total Environ 2021; 775: 145848.

- [95] Fagerström A, Grahn D, Lundberg S, et al. Large scale bio electro jet fuel production integration at CHP-plant in Östersund, Sweden. B 2407. IVL Svenska Miljöinstitutet, https://ivl.diva-portal.org/smash/record.jsf?pid=diva2%3A1552218&dswid=3445 (2021, accessed 31 July 2023).
- [96] EUROCONTROL. Eurocontrol Forecast Update 2023-2029, https://www.eurocontrol.int/sites/default/files/2023-03/eurocontrol-seven-year-forecast-2023-2029spring-2023.pdf (31 March 2023, accessed 29 May 2023).
- [97] Pripp AH. Why the p-value is significant. *Tidsskr Den Nor Legeforening*, https://tidsskriftet.no/en/2015/09/why-p-value-significant-0 (2015, accessed 17 October 2023).
- [98] Dahiru T. P VALUE, A TRUE TEST OF STATISTICAL SIGNIFICANCE? A CAU-TIONARY NOTE. Ann Ib Postgrad Med 2008; 6: 21–26.
- [99] ICAO. Developing a Long Term Air Traffic Demand Forecast Model, https://www.icao.int/sustainability/Documents/RTK%20ranking/ICAO_LTF_MODEL_DOC.pdf (2013 2012, accessed 29 May 2023).
- [100] Hanson D, Toru Delibasi T, Gatti M, et al. How do changes in economic activity affect air passenger traffic? The use of state-dependent income elasticities to improve aviation forecasts. *J Air Transp Manag* 2022; 98: 102147.
- [101] Hansman R, Ishutkina M. Analysis of the Interaction Between Air Transportation and Economic Activity: A Worldwide Perspective.
- [102] Gallet C, Doucouliagos H. The income elasticity of air travel: A meta-analysis. *Ann Tour Res* 2014; 49: 141–155.
- [103] Cigliano JM. Price And Income Elasticities for Airline Travel: The North Atlantic Market. Bus Econ 1980; 15: 17–21.
- [104] Nolan B, Roser M, Thewissen S. GDP Per Capita Versus Median Household Income: What Gives Rise to Divergence Over Time? *LIS Work Pap*, https://ideas.repec.org//p/lis/liswps/672.html (2016, accessed 18 October 2023).
- [105] Bundesministerium für Digitales und Verkehr (BMDV). Gleitende Langfrist-Verkehrsprognose im Auftrag des BMDV – "Prognose 2022, https://bmdv.bund.de/SharedDocs/DE/Anlage/K/prognose-berichtgleitende-langfrist-verkehrsprognose.pdf?__blob=publicationFile (1 March 2023, accessed 30 May 2023).
- [106] Eurostat. GDP and main components (output, expenditure and income), https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/databrowser/product/page/NAMQ_10_GDP__custom_6376762 (2023, accessed 29 May 2023).
- [107] Airlines For America. A4A Passenger Airline Cost Index (PACI), https://www.airlines.org/dataset/a4a-quarterly-passenger-airline-cost-index-u-s-passenger-airlines/ (2023, accessed 18 October 2023).
- [108] Kharina A, Rutherford D. White Paper: Fuel efficiency trends for new commercial jet aircraft: 1960 to 2014, https://theicct.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/ICCT_Aircraft-FE-Trends_20150902.pdf (3 September 2015, accessed 30 May 2023).

- [109] Statista. Aviation industry aircraft fleet age 2020. *Statista*, https://www.statista.com/statistics/751440/aviation-industry-aircraft-fleet-age-by-region/ (accessed 18 October 2023).
- [110] Kozuba J, Ojciec M. Overview of historical and future trends of commercial aircraft fuel efficiency. *Acta Avion J* 2019; 12–17.
- [111] Church J. Comparing the Consumer Price Index with the gross domestic product price index and gross domestic product implicit price deflator. *Mon Labor Rev.* Epub ahead of print 30 March 2016. DOI: 10.21916/mlr.2016.13.
- [112] Federal Statistical Office Germany. Consumer price index, https://www.destatis.de/EN/Themes/Economy/Prices/Consumer-Price-Index/_node.html (2023, accessed 19 October 2023).
- [113] DFS Deutsche Flugsicherung GmbH. Air traffic in Germany Mobility Report 2019, https://www.dfs.de/homepage/en/media/publications/mobilitaetsbericht2019-enweb.pdf?cid=9p4 (31 March 2020, accessed 23 May 2023).
- [114] Mukhopadhaya J, Graver B. Performance analysis of regional electric aircraft. International Council on Clean Transportation, https://theicct.org/publication/global-aviation-performance-analysis-regional-electric-aircraft-jul22/ (2022, accessed 19 October 2023).
- [115] Barke A, Thies C, Melo SP, et al. Comparison of conventional and electric passenger aircraft for short-haul flights – A life cycle sustainability assessment. *Procedia CIRP* 2022; 105: 464–469.
- [116] Barke A, Bley T, Thies C, et al. Are Sustainable Aviation Fuels a Viable Option for Decarbonizing Air Transport in Europe? An Environmental and Economic Sustainability Assessment. *Appl Sci* 2022; 12: 597.
- [117] Scott M. Analysing the costs of hydrogen aircraft, https://policycommons.net/artifacts/3857150/analysing-the-costs-of-hydrogen-aircraft/4663105/ (2023, accessed 19 October 2023).
- [118] Rendón MA, Sánchez R. CD, Gallo M. J, et al. Aircraft Hybrid-Electric Propulsion: Development Trends, Challenges and Opportunities. J Control Autom Electr Syst 2021; 32: 1244–1268.
- [119] Staack I, Sobron A, Krus P. The potential of full-electric aircraft for civil transportation: from the Breguet range equation to operational aspects. *CEAS Aeronaut J* 2021; 12: 803–819.
- [120] Sahoo S, Zhao X, Kyprianidis K. A Review of Concepts, Benefits, and Challenges for Future Electrical Propulsion-Based Aircraft. *Aerospace* 2020; 7: 44.
- [121] Michl J. Aviation Starting all over Again DEKRA Solutions Magazine. DEKRA Solutions - Magazine, https://www.dekra-solutions.com/2022/03/aviation-startingall-over-again/?lang=en (2022, accessed 20 October 2023).
- [122] Pavlenko N, Searle S, Christensen A. The cost of supporting alternative jet fuels in the European Union, https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/The-cost-of-supporting-alternative-jet-fuels-in-the-Pavlenko-Searle/3036adb9322e6d914a6ceef4386ec9b0ee0afbbb (2019, accessed 28 June 2023).

- [123] Tao L, Milbrandt A, Zhang Y, et al. Techno-economic and resource analysis of hydroprocessed renewable jet fuel. *Biotechnol Biofuels* 2017; 10: 261.
- [124] Pearlson M, Wollersheim C, Hileman J. A techno-economic review of hydroprocessed renewable esters and fatty acids for jet fuel production. *Biofuels Bioprod Biorefining* 2013; 7: 89–96.
- [125] Fachagentur Nachwachsende Rohstoffe e. V. (FNR). Basisdaten: Biokraftstoffe, https://basisdaten.fnr.de/bioenergie/biokraftstoffe (accessed 26 June 2023).
- [126] Gravalos I, Gialamas T, Koutsofitis Z, et al. Energetic Study on Animal Fats and Vegetable Oils Using Combustion Bomb Calorimeter, https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/Energetic-Study-on-Animal-Fats-and-Vegetable-Oils-Gravalos-Gialamas/1f68566c43e7517cf93f949de7fb008b296605ad (2008).
- [127] Thuneke K, Remmele E. Production and utilisation of rapeseed oil fuel in Germany. *Fuels* 2007; 383–388.
- [128] Pechstein J, Neuling U, Gebauer J, et al. Alcohol-to-Jet (AtJ). In: Kaltschmitt M, Neuling U (eds) *Biokerosene: Status and Prospects*. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer, pp. 543–574.
- [129] Pavlenko N, Searle S. Assessing the sustainability implications of alternative aviation fuels. Int Counc Clean Transp, https://theicct.org/sites/default/files/publications/Alternative-aviation-fuel-sustainability-mar2021.pdf (2021).
- [130] Van Den Oever AEM, Costa D, Cardellini G, et al. Systematic review on the energy conversion efficiency of biomass-based Fischer-Tropsch plants. *Fuel* 2022; 324: 124478.
- [131] Leibbrandt NH, Aboyade AO, Knoetze JH, et al. Process efficiency of biofuel production via gasification and Fischer–Tropsch synthesis. *Fuel* 2013; 109: 484–492.
- [132] Zhou Y, Searle SY, Pavlenko N. Current and future cost of e-kerosene in the United States and Europe, https://api.semanticscholar.org/CorpusID:247359065 (2022).
- [133] Capaz R, Posada J, Seabra J, et al. Life Cycle Assessment of Renewable Jet Fuel from ethanol: an analysis from consequential and attributional approaches, https://www.researchgate.net/publication/326274832_Life_Cycle_Assessment_of_Renewable_Jet_Fuel_from_ethanol_an_analysis_from_consequential_and_attributional_approaches (2018).
- [134] Hannon JR, Lynd LR, Andrade O, et al. Technoeconomic and life-cycle analysis of single-step catalytic conversion of wet ethanol into fungible fuel blendstocks. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* 2020; 117: 12576–12583.
- [135] O'Connell A, Kousoulidou M, Lonza L, et al. Considerations on GHG emissions and energy balances of promising aviation biofuel pathways. *Renew Sustain Energy Rev* 2019; 101: 504–515.
- [136] Zhao X, Taheripour F, Malina R, et al. Estimating induced land use change emissions for sustainable aviation biofuel pathways. *Sci Total Environ* 2021; 779: 146238.
- [137] Canabarro NI, Silva-Ortiz P, Nogueira LAH, et al. Sustainability assessment of ethanol and biodiesel production in Argentina, Brazil, Colombia, and Guatemala. *Renew Sustain Energy Rev* 2023; 171: 113019.

- [138] Collis J, Duch K, Schomäcker R. Techno-economic assessment of jet fuel production using the Fischer-Tropsch process from steel mill gas. *Front Energy Res* 2022; 10: 1049229.
- [139] Roode-Gutzmer QI, Kaiser D, Bertau M. Renewable Methanol Synthesis. *ChemBio-Eng Rev* 2019; 6: 209–236.
- [140] Meurer A, Kern J. Fischer–Tropsch Synthesis as the Key for Decentralized Sustainable Kerosene Production. *Energies* 2021; 14: 1836.
- [141] Schmidt P, Batteiger V, Roth A, et al. Power-to-Liquids as Renewable Fuel Option for Aviation: A Review. *Chem Ing Tech* 2018; 90: 127–140.
- [142] Methanol synthesis Fraunhofer UMSICHT. Fraunhofer Institute for Environmental, Safety and Energy Technology UMSICHT, https://www.umsicht.fraunhofer.de/en/press-media/press-releases/2022/methanol-synthesis.html (accessed 10 November 2023).
- [143] Christensen A. CO2-Based Synthetic Fuel: Assessment of Potential European Capacity and Environmental Performance, https://policycommons.net/artifacts/3802653/co2-based-synthetic-fuel/4608481/ (2017, accessed 9 August 2023).
- [144] Prohaska T, Irrgeher J, Benefield J, et al. Standard atomic weights of the elements 2021 (IUPAC Technical Report). *Pure Appl Chem* 2022; 94: 573–600.
- [145] Treese SA, Pujadó PR, Jones DSJ (eds). Handbook of Petroleum Processing. Cham: Springer International Publishing. Epub ahead of print 2015. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-14529-7.
- [146] Cabrera E, De Sousa JMM. Use of Sustainable Fuels in Aviation—A Review. Energies 2022; 15: 2440.
- [147] Peters R, Wegener N, Samsun RC, et al. A Techno-Economic Assessment of Fischer–Tropsch Fuels Based on Syngas from Co-Electrolysis. *Processes* 2022; 10: 699.
- [148] Lacerda De Oliveira Campos B, John K, Beeskow P, et al. A Detailed Process and Techno-Economic Analysis of Methanol Synthesis from H2 and CO2 with Intermediate Condensation Steps. *Processes* 2022; 10: 1535.
- [149] Winther Mortensen A, Wenzel H, Dalgas Rasmussen K, et al. Nordic GTL: A prefeasibility study on sustainable aviation fuel from biogas, hydrogen and CO2. SDU Livscykluscenter, https://findresearcher.sdu.dk/ws/portalfiles/portal/155625931/Nordic_aviation_fuel_production_28_10_2019_final.pdf (2019, accessed 31 July 2023).
- [150] Trinh J, Harahap F, Fagerström A, et al. What Are the Policy Impacts on Renewable Jet Fuel in Sweden? *Energies* 2021; 14: 7194.
- [151] Parra D, Patel MK. Techno-economic implications of the electrolyser technology and size for power-to-gas systems. *Int J Hydrog Energy* 2016; 41: 3748–3761.
- [152] Reuß M, Grube T, Robinius M, et al. Seasonal storage and alternative carriers: A flexible hydrogen supply chain model. *Appl Energy* 2017; 200: 290–302.

- [153] Ganzer C, Mac Dowell N. A comparative assessment framework for sustainable production of fuels and chemicals explicitly accounting for intermittency. *Sustain Energy Fuels* 2020; 4: 3888–3903.
- [154] Li W, Tian H, Ma L, et al. Low-temperature water electrolysis: fundamentals, progress, and new strategies. *Mater Adv* 2022; 3: 5598–5644.
- [155] Marchese M, Marocco P, Lanzini A, et al. Economic appraisal of Power-to-Liquid Fischer-Tropsch plants exploiting renewable electricity, green hydrogen, and CO ₂ from biogas in Europe. *E3S Web Conf* 2022; 334: 02002.
- [156] Malina R, Wollersheim C, Carter N, et al. HEFA and F-T jet fuel cost analyses. Laboratory for Aviation and the Environment (MIT), https://www1.eere.energy.gov/bioenergy/pdfs/malina_caafi_workshop.pdf (27 November 2012).
- [157] ycharts. Rapeseed Oil Price, https://ycharts.com/indicators/rapeseed_oil_price (accessed 20 July 2023).
- [158] TFZ Bayern. Bioethanol, https://www.tfz.bayern.de/biokraftstoffe/bioethanol/index.php (accessed 19 July 2023).
- [159] Bann SJ, Malina R, Staples MD, et al. The costs of production of alternative jet fuel: A harmonized stochastic assessment. *Bioresour Technol* 2017; 227: 179–187.
- [160] Chemanalyst. Ethanol Prices, Price, Pricing, Monitor | ChemAnalyst, https://www.chemanalyst.com/Pricing-data/ethanol-13 (accessed 20 July 2023).
- [161] globalpetrolprices. Ethanol prices around the world, 13-Nov-2023. GlobalPetrolPrices.com, https://www.globalpetrolprices.com/ethanol_prices/ (accessed 20 July 2023).
- [162] Christian Letalik. Energy from Biomass a multilateral, sustainable and reliable Alternative to Oil, Gas and Coal -- Basic Informations, Profitability and Best Practise Examples in the Sector of Bioenergy, https://www.german-energy-solutions.de/GES/Redaktion/DE/Publikationen/Praesentationen/2019/191212-ir-bosnien-und-serbien-praes1.pdf?__blob=publicationFile&v=1 (accessed 20 July 2023).
- [163] IRENA. *Renewable Power Generation Costs in 2021*. ISBN 978-92-9260-452-3, Abu Dhabi: International Renewable Energy Agency, 2022.
- [164] Directorate-General for Energy (European Commission), E3 Modelling, Ecofys, et al. *Technology pathways in decarbonisation scenarios*. LU: Publications Office of the European Union, https://data.europa.eu/doi/10.2833/994817 (2020, accessed 20 November 2023).
- [165] Kozhemyatov KY, Bulauka YA. Analysis of equipment life cycle at oil refinery. *IOP Conf Ser Mater Sci Eng* 2019; 687: 066038.
- [166] Council Directive 2009/119/EC of 14 September 2009 imposing an obligation on Member States to maintain minimum stocks of crude oil and/or petroleum products, http://data.europa.eu/eli/dir/2009/119/oj/eng (2009, accessed 21 November 2023).
- [167] Gesetz über die Bevorratung mit Erdöl und Erdölerzeugnissen (Erdölbevorratungsgesetz - ErdölBevG), https://www.gesetze-im-internet.de/erd_lbevg_2012/index.html (2013).
- [168] Regulation (EU) 2017/1938 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 25 October 2017 concerning measures to safeguard the security of gas supply and repealing Regulation (EU) No 994/2010 (Text with EEA relevance.), http://data.europa.eu/eli/reg/2017/1938/oj/eng (2017, accessed 21 November 2023).
- [169] Regulation (EU) 2017/1938 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 25 October 2017 concerning measures to safeguard the security of gas supply and repealing Regulation (EU) No 994/2010 (Text with EEA relevance)Text with EEA relevance, http://data.europa.eu/eli/reg/2017/1938/2022-07-01/eng (2022, accessed 21 November 2023).
- [170] Geburtig D, Preuster P, Bösmann A, et al. Chemical utilization of hydrogen from fluctuating energy sources – Catalytic transfer hydrogenation from charged Liquid Organic Hydrogen Carrier systems. *Int J Hydrog Energy* 2016; 41: 1010–1017.
- [171] Andersson J, Grönkvist S. Large-scale storage of hydrogen. *Int J Hydrog Energy* 2019; 44: 11901–11919.
- [172] Abdin Z, Tang C, Liu Y, et al. Large-scale stationary hydrogen storage via liquid organic hydrogen carriers. *iScience* 2021; 24: 102966.
- [173] Dickel R. *Blue hydrogen as an enabler of green hydrogen: the case of Germany*. Oxford Institute for Energy Studies, https://ora.ox.ac.uk/objects/uuid:211eb724f206-40c8-a665-271650c15644 (2020, accessed 21 November 2023).
- [174] Hurskainen M. Liquid organic hydrogen carriers (LOHC): Concept evaluation and techno-economics, https://cris.vtt.fi/ws/portalfiles/por-tal/27082284/VTT_R_00057_19.pdf (2019).
- [175] European Commission. Directorate General for Internal Market, Industry, Entrepreneurship and SMEs. Study on the EU's list of critical raw materials (2020): critical raw materials factsheets. LU: Publications Office, https://data.europa.eu/doi/10.2873/92480 (2020, accessed 21 November 2023).
- [176] Kruck O, Crotogino F, Prelicz R, et al. Overview on all known underground storage technologies for hydrogen. Proj HyUnder–Assessment Potential Actors Relev Bus Cases Large Scale Seas Storage Renew Electr Hydrog Undergr Storage Eur Rep D; 3.
- [177] Southall E, Lukashuk L. Analysis of Liquid Organic Hydrogen Carrier Systems : Properties of liquid organic hydrogen carriers, operation conditions and catalytic materials employed. *Johns Matthey Technol Rev* 2022; 66: 271–284.
- [178] Behabtu HA, Messagie M, Coosemans T, et al. A Review of Energy Storage Technologies' Application Potentials in Renewable Energy Sources Grid Integration. Sustainability 2020; 12: 10511.
- [179] Huang W-C, Zhang Q, You F. Impacts of battery energy storage technologies and renewable integration on the energy transition in the New York State. Adv Appl Energy 2023; 9: 100126.
- [180] Steffen B. Prospects for pumped-hydro storage in Germany. *Energy Policy* 2012; 45: 420–429.

- [181] Shokrzadeh S, Bibeau E. Sustainable integration of intermittent renewable energy and electrified light-duty transportation through repurposing batteries of plug-in electric vehicles. *Energy* 2016; 106: 701–711.
- [182] Cole W, Karmakar A. Cost Projections for Utility-Scale Battery Storage: 2023 Update. NREL/TP-6A40-85332, National Renewable Energy Laboratory, https://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy23osti/85332.pdf (2023, accessed 10 August 2023).
- [183] Guo Z, Zhang J, Zhang R, et al. Aviation-to-Grid Flexibility Through Electric Aircraft Charging. *IEEE Trans Ind Inform* 2022; 18: 8149–8159.
- [184] Görlach B, Pahle DM, Sitarz J, et al. The EU-ETS Price Through 2030 and Beyond: A closer look at drivers, models and assumptions, https://ariadneprojekt.de/media/2023/01/Ariadne-Documentation_ETSWorkshopBruessel_December2022.pdf (2022, accessed 22 November 2023).
- [185] Örtl E. Methodological Convention 3.0 for the Assessment of Environmental Costs -Cost Rates. Unweltbundesamt, https://www.umweltbundesamt.de/en/publikationen/methodological-convention-30-for-the-assessment-of (2018, accessed 22 November 2023).
- [186] BImSchG Gesetz zum Schutz vor schädlichen Umwelteinwirkungen durch Luftverunreinigungen, Geräusche, Erschütterungen und ähnliche Vorgänge, https://www.gesetze-im-internet.de/bimschg/BJNR007210974.html (2023, accessed 22 November 2023).
- [187] Trading Economics. Crude oil 2023 Data 1983-2022 Historical 2024 Forecast -Price - Quote - Chart, https://tradingeconomics.com/commodity/crude-oil (accessed 31 July 2023).
- [188] IATA. Jet Fuel Price Monitor, https://www.iata.org/en/publications/economics/fuelmonitor/ (accessed 20 July 2023).
- [189] Index Mundi. Jet Fuel Monthly Price (Euro per Gallon) Commodity Prices Price Charts, Data, and News - IndexMundi, https://www.indexmundi.com/commodities/?commodity=jet-fuel&months=240¤cy=eur (accessed 6 June 2023).
- [190] European Commission. Weekly Oil Bulletin, https://energy.ec.europa.eu/data-andanalysis/weekly-oil-bulletin_en (2023, accessed 24 July 2023).
- [191] Naphtha in Euro und Dollar | Naphthapreis | Aktueller Naphthakurs. *finanzen.net*, https://www.finanzen.net/rohstoffe/naphthapreis (2023, accessed 24 July 2023).
- [192] Steffen B. Estimating the cost of capital for renewable energy projects. *Energy Econ* 2020; 88: 104783.
- [193] Agustin Roth. *Trends and evolution of the Costs of Capital in RE Financing AURES II.* Eclareon GmbH, http://aures2project.eu/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/9_AURES_II_5RW_eclareon_WACC_financing.pdf (October 2020).
- [194] IEA. The cost of capital in clean energy transitions Analysis, https://www.iea.org/articles/the-cost-of-capital-in-clean-energy-transitions (17 December 2021, accessed 23 November 2023).
- [195] Hermelink DAH, Jager D de. *The crucial role of discount rates in European Commission energy system modelling*. BUIDE16021, Brussels: The European Council for an

Energy Efficient Economy (eceee) & Ecofys, https://www.eceee.org/static/media/uploads/site-2/policy-areas/discount-rates/evaluating-our-future-report.pdf (19 October 2015).

- [196] Diesel fuel gross domestic sales Germany 2022. Statista, https://www.statista.com/statistics/1293858/diesel-fuel-gross-domestic-sales-germany/ (accessed 30 November 2023).
- [197] Industrial Oxygen Market, https://www.futuremarketinsights.com/reports/industrialoxygen-market (accessed 30 November 2023).
- [198] UNFCCC. The Kyoto Protocol Status of Ratification, https://unfccc.int/process/thekyoto-protocol/status-of-ratification (2023).
- [199] UNDP. The Bali Action Plan: Key Issues In The Climate Negotiations Summary For Policy Makers, http://content-ext.undp.org/aplaws_assets/2512309/2512309.pdf (2008).
- [200] UNFCCC. Copenhagen Accord, https://unfccc.int/resource/docs/2009/cop15/eng/I07.pdf (2009).
- [201] UNFCCC. Report of the Conference of the Parties serving as the meeting of the Parties to the Kyoto Protocol on its sixth session, https://unfccc.int/resource/docs/2010/cmp6/eng/12a02.pdf (2010).
- [202] UNFCCC. The Doha Climate Gateway, https://unfccc.int/process/conferences/thebig-picture/milestones/the-doha-climate-gateway (2023).
- [203] Ministère de l'Europe et des Affaires étrangères. COP21: The key points of the Paris Agreement. France Diplomacy - Ministry for Europe and Foreign Affairs, https://www.diplomatie.gouv.fr/en/french-foreign-policy/climate-and-environment/the-fight-against-climate-change/2015-paris-climate-conferencecop21/cop21-the-paris-agreement-in-four-key-points/ (accessed 9 May 2023).
- [204] European Commission. Reducing emissions from aviation, https://climate.ec.europa.eu/eu-action/transport-emissions/reducing-emissions-aviation_en (2023, accessed 9 May 2023).
- [205] EASA. EU Emissions Trading System. EASA Eco, https://www.easa.europa.eu/eco/eaer/topics/market-based-measures/eu-emissions-trading-system (accessed 9 May 2023).
- [206] NLR. Destination 2050: a route to net zero european aviation. NLR-CR-2020-510, https://www.destination2050.eu/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/Destination2050_Report.pdf (February 2021, accessed 9 May 2023).
- [207] IATA. Developing Sustainable Aviation Fuel (SAF), https://www.iata.org/en/programs/environment/sustainable-aviation-fuels/ (accessed 17 May 2023).
- [208] European Parliament. Fit for 55: Parliament and Council reach deal on greener aviation fuels, https://www.europarl.europa.eu/news/en/pressroom/20230424IPR82023/fit-for-55-parliament-and-council-reach-deal-on-greeneraviation-fuels (2023).
- [209] Federal Statistical Office Germany. Anbauflächen, Hektarerträge und Erntemengen ausgewählter Anbaukulturen im Zeitvergleich,

https://www.destatis.de/DE/Themen/Branchen-Unternehmen/Landwirtschaft-Forstwirtschaft-Fischerei/Feldfruechte-Gruenland/Tabellen/liste-feldfruechtezeitreihe.html (accessed 22 June 2023).

[210] Wille J. Ukraine-Krieg könnte Ernährungskrise auslösen – Umweltministerin will Nutzung von Biosprit aus Getreide begrenzen, https://www.fr.de/wirtschaft/dochlieber-teller-statt-tank-91516150.html (2022, accessed 14 June 2023).

Appendix A: History

Appendix A-1: Major milestone towards the development of the sustainable aviation sector in Europe

Source: Adapted from [62], with additions and modifications referenced in the table

Year	Organization	Name of the Agree- ment/Event	Ratifying Member Nations	Nature of the Agreement	Event
1947	ICAO		191		Formation of ICAO as a specialized agency of UN for planning and development of international aviation
1981	ICAO	Chicago Convention	191	Non-binding	Aircraft Engine Emission
1992	UNFCCC		154	Non-binding	Formation of UNFCCC
1992	UNFCCC	Kyoto Protocol	Current: 192 Annex I: 38 + EU Annex II: 21 + EU US and Canada are prominent countries that have not ratified (or withdrew) from this agree- ment [198]	Legally binding	Commitment to reduce greenhouse gas emissions set under Berlin Mandate (1995)
2005	EU	Directive 2003/87/EC of the European Parliament and the European Coun- cil EU Emission Trading System (EU ETS)	Original Kyoto Protocol signa- tories of EU, with additional member later added in Annex B	Legally binding	Launch of Phase-I (2005-2007)
2007	UNFCCC	COP13 - Bali Action Plan [199]	114	Legally binding	The Bali Action Plan is centered on four main building blocks i.e., mitigation, adaptation, technology, and fi- nancing with: Measurable, reportable, and verifiable mitigation commit- ments or actions from all developed countries; Nationally appropriate commitments from developing countries.

Year	Organization	Name of the Agree- ment/Event	Ratifying Member Nations	Nature of the Agreement	Event
2008	EU	EU ETS	Original Kyoto Protocol signa- tories of EU, with additional member later added in Annex B	Legally binding	Launch of Phase II (2008-2012)
2009	UNFCCC	COP15 - Copenhagen Accord	114	Non-binding	Agreement to hold the global temperature below 2 de- grees Celsius [200]
2010	UNFCCC	COP16 – Cancun	196	Non-binding	Establishment of approaches to achieve carbon reduc- tion in anthropogenic activities and establishing the "standardized baseline" [201]
2012	UNFCCC	COP18 – Doha Amend- ment [202]	196	Legally binding	Regulate 2013-2020 Amendments to the Kyoto Protocol New Market Mechanisms
2013	EU	EUETS	Original Kyoto Protocol signa- tories of EU, with additional member later added in Annex B	Legally binding	Launch of Phase III (2012-2013)

Year	Organization	Name of the Agree- ment/Event	Ratifying Member Nations	Nature of the Agreement	Event
2015	UNFCCC	COP21 – Paris Agree- ment	196	Legally binding (2016 onwards)	Milestone agreement to reduce GHG emissions by 2025- 2030, and keep global warming limited to 1.5-2 degrees Celsius in accordance with the IPCC recommendations. Major emitters, like China and EU submitted ambitious commitments [203].
2016	ICAO	Carbon Offsetting and Reduction Scheme for In- ternational Aviation (CORSIA)	119	Pilot phase (2021-2023) Phase I (2024-2026) Second phase (2027-2035)	Global market-based carbon offsetting measure Airline are required to monitor emissions on all interna- tional routes and; offset emissions from routes included in the scheme by purchasing eligible emission units [9, 204]
2018	EU	EU ETS	Original Kyoto Protocol signa- tories of EU, with additional member later added in Annex B	Legally binding	Launch of fourth phase (2021-2030); Linear reduction factor of 2.2% per year is applied to the aviation cap 2021 onwards (modified to 4.2% under Fit for 55 package); Only EU Aviation Allowances (EUAAs) and EU Allow- ances (EUAs) are eligible for compliance [205]
2020	EU	EU Green Deal	EU member states	Legally binding	No net emissions of GHG by 2050 with economic growth decoupled from resource use.
2021	EU	Fit for 55 Package and ReFuelEU Aviation	EU member states	Legally binding	To reduce the GHG emission to 55% compared to 1990 level by 2030; Binding SAF targets, starting with 2% in 2025 and reach- ing 5% in 2030 [27]

Year	Organization	Name of the Agree- ment/Event	Ratifying Member Nations	Nature of the Agreement	Event
2021	Consortium of Airlines in Eu- rope (A4E, ACI-Europe, ASD, CANSO, ERA)	Destination 2050	Airlines in EU, EFTA, and UK	Industry-led commitments	Presenting a road map to net-zero emissions from the aviation sector [206]
2021	Airbus [65]	ZEROe	-	Product	Announcement of the development of world's first hydro- gen powered commercial aircraft to be operational by 2035; Fuel used: Liquid Hydrogen
2021	IATA and ICAO [207]	Long-term aspirational goal (LTAG)	IATA members and ICAO member states	Guidelines (not legally binding)	Achieving long-term net-zero aviation by offsetting car- bon through: 65% with the use Sustainable Aviation Fuel (SAF); 13% will be accounted by new technology including elec- tric aviation and hydrogen; 3% through efficiency improvements in terms of Infra- structure and operations; 19% is expected to be achieved by offsetting and carbon capture technologies.
2023	EU	Fit for 55 Package and ReFuelEU Aviation	EU member states	Legally binding (provisional agreement) [208]	2% of jet fuel must be sustainable as of 2025, with in- creasing share every five years i.e., 6%, 20%, 34% and 42% in year 2030, 2035, 2040 and 2045 respectively; With a target of 70% sustainable jet fuel by 2050; Green status accepted for Hydrogen and fuel produced from cooking oil or waste gases; Feed and food crop-based fuels will not be acceptable al- ternatives; A specific proportion of the jet fuel (1.2% in 2030, 2% in 2032, 5% in 2035 and 35% in 2050) must comprise syn- thetic fuels like e-kerosene. 2025 onwards flights will boast an EU environmental per- formance label

Appendix B: Feedstock Data

Appendix B-1: Germany's primary crops used for the production of biofuels in terms of total production (top) and specific yield in tons per sq. km (bottom) for years 2020-2022

Source: Data published by the federal statistics office [209], potential usage as reported by [210]

		Potential us-	Total Production			
Crop	Classification	age for X	['	1000 Tons]		
		pathway	2020	2021	2022	
Wheat	Food and Energy Crop	Bioethanol	22,172.1	21,459.2	22,587.3	
Rye and winter cereal mix-	Food and Energy	Piecthanol	2 5 1 2 1	2 225 6	2 122 2	
tures	Crop	Divelhanoi	3,515.4	3,325.0	3,132.3	
Sugar beet without seed production (including etha- nol production)	Food and Energy Crop	Bioethanol	28,618.1	31,954.4	28,201.4	
Winter rape	Energy Crop	Biodiesel	3,522.2	3,496.6	4,281.2	
Spring rape and turnip rape seeds	Energy Crop	Biodiesel	5.1	8.0	13.7	

Сгор	Classification	Potential us- age for X	Yield [Tons per Sq. Km]			
		pathway	2020	2021	2022	Average
Wheat	Food and Energy Crop	Bioethanol	782	730	758	757
Rye and winter cereal mix- tures	Food and Energy Crop	Bioethanol	552	527	532	537
Sugar beet without seed production (including etha- nol production)	Food and Energy Crop	Bioethanol	7,415	8,177	7,117	7,570
Winter rape	Energy Crop	Biodiesel	369	351	396	372
Spring rape and turnip rape seeds	Energy Crop	Biodiesel	155	211	204	190

Appendix B-2: Amounts of agricultural raw materials used for biofuel production in Germany, in tons (2015-2020)

Source: Published by Fachagentur Nachwachsende Rohstoffe e.V. (FNR) [46]

Energy Car-	Feedataak	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	
rier	reeusiock	Values in tons						
	Rapeseed oil	2,230,000	2,040,000	1,850,000	1,970,000	2,060,000	1,910,000	
Biodiesel	Palm oil	121,000	132,000	231,000	68,100	72,300	47,000	
	Soya oil	69,500	165,000	264,000	272,000	398,000	438,000	
Piecthanal	Grains	1,740,000	1,990,000	1,940,000	1,810,000	1,730,000	2,180,000	
Dioethanoi	Sugar beet	3,170,000	2,310,000	1,700,000	1,480,000	890,000	1,270,000	
Total		7,330,000	6,630,000	5,980,000	5,600,000	5,150,000	5,850,000	

Appendix B-3: Breakdown of technical potential of forestry biomass constituents in Germany

Source: Adopted from [51, 52]

	Technical potential		
	[Mio. t _{air-dry} /annum]	[PJ/annum]	
Fuel wood, used round wood, bark	12.8	246	
Logging residue > 7cm Ø	5.8	111	
Logging residue < 7cm Ø	2.8	53	
Unused annual growth	5.1	101	

Appendix B-4: Agricultural yield of various crops used for the production of bioethanol (top) and biodiesel (bottom) in Germany, along with specific yield for various feedstocks

Source: Published by Fachagentur Nachwachsende Rohstoffe e.V. (FNR) [125]

Biofuel	Raw Materials	Yield	'ield Biofuel yield		Biomass required per liter of fuel
		[t/ha (wet)]	[liters/t (dry)]	[l/ha]	[kg/l]
Bioethanol	Corn maize	9.90	400	3,960	2.50
Bioethanol	Wheat	7.70	380	2,926	2.60
Bioethanol	Rye	5.40	420	2,268	2.40
Bioethanol	Sugar beet	70.00	110	7,700	9.10
Bioethanol	Sugar cane	73.00	88	6,424	11.40
Bioethanol	Straw	7.00	342	2,394	2.90
Biodiesel	Rape seed	3.90	455	1,775	2.20
Biodiesel	Palm oil	20.00	222	4,440	4.50
Biodiesel	Soya	2.90	222	644	4.50
Biodiesel	Jatropha	2.50	244	610	4.10

Appendix B-5: Second generation feedstocks sustainable technical and unused potential in Germany

Source: Synthesized data from [51-53]

Туре	Technical Potential	Avai	Available Potential	
	[PJ/ar	nnum]		
		Low	High	
Forestry Biomass	265.0	58.4	134.1	
Straw	36.8	8.1	18.6	
Biodegradable and green waste	23.0	5.1	11.6	
Waste and industrial wood	58.0	12.8	29.3	
Total	382.8	84.3	193.7	

Appendix C: Pathways Assessment

Scenario Name	Low demand	Base demand	High demand
HEFA_1	0.98%	0.82%	0.67%
HEFA_2	3.16%	2.64%	2.16%
HEFA_3	3.25%	2.71%	2.23%
HEFA_4	10.52%	8.78%	7.20%
HEFA_5	0.98%	0.82%	0.67%
HEFA_6	3.16%	2.64%	2.16%
HEFA_7	3.25%	2.71%	2.23%
HEFA_8	10.52%	8.78%	7.20%
ATJ_1	11.36%	9.48%	7.77%
GFT_1	2.37%	1.98%	1.62%
GFT_2	4.38%	3.66%	3.00%
GFT_3	2.37%	1.98%	1.62%
GFT_4	4.38%	3.66%	3.00%
GFT_5	5.44%	4.54%	3.72%
GFT_6	10.07%	8.40%	6.89%
GFT_7	5.44%	4.54%	3.72%
GFT_8	10.07%	8.40%	6.89%

Appendix C-1: Energy substitution potential for biogenic pathways [%]

Appendix C-2: Total SAF produced by biogenic pathway including blending of conventional jet fuel - [tons]

Scenario Name	Low demand	Base demand	High demand
HEFA_1	27,568,520	27,568,520	27,568,520
HEFA_2	89,192,271	89,192,271	89,192,271
HEFA_3	91,710,969	91,710,969	91,710,969
HEFA_4	278,180,738	293,521,331	296,392,302
HEFA_5	5,513,704	5,513,704	5,513,704
HEFA_6	17,838,454	17,838,454	17,838,454
HEFA_7	18,342,194	18,342,194	18,342,194
HEFA_8	59,342,392	59,342,392	59,342,392
ATJ_1	64,056,267	64,056,267	64,056,267
GFT_1	13,347,336	13,347,336	13,347,336
GFT_2	24,717,288	24,717,288	24,717,288
GFT_3	6,673,668	6,673,668	6,673,668
GFT_4	12,358,644	12,358,644	12,358,644
GFT_5	30,651,454	30,651,454	30,651,454
GFT_6	56,761,951	56,761,951	56,761,951
GFT_7	15,325,727	15,325,727	15,325,727
GFT_8	28,380,975	28,380,975	28,380,975

Scenario Name	Low demand	Base demand	High demand
HEFA_1	1,160,388,811	1,374,563,026	1,706,964,571
HEFA_2	1,148,810,201	1,362,984,416	1,695,385,961
HEFA_3	1,148,336,958	1,362,511,173	1,694,912,718
HEFA_4	1,076,868,005	1,286,150,719	1,617,636,826
HEFA_5	1,160,388,811	1,374,563,026	1,706,964,571
HEFA_6	1,148,810,201	1,362,984,416	1,695,385,961
HEFA_7	1,148,336,958	1,362,511,173	1,694,912,718
HEFA_8	1,109,818,912	1,323,993,127	1,656,394,672
ATJ_1	1,071,257,392	1,285,431,606	1,617,833,152
GFT_1	1,142,632,387	1,356,806,602	1,689,208,147
GFT_2	1,123,094,033	1,337,268,248	1,669,669,793
GFT_3	1,142,632,387	1,356,806,602	1,689,208,147
GFT_4	1,123,094,033	1,337,268,248	1,669,669,793
GFT_5	1,112,896,645	1,327,070,859	1,659,472,405
GFT_6	1,068,027,844	1,282,202,058	1,614,603,604
GFT_7	1,112,896,645	1,327,070,859	1,659,472,405
GFT_8	1,068,027,844	1,282,202,058	1,614,603,604

Appendix C-3: Total emission of the period 2025-2050 for biogenic pathways based on various demand scenarios in [tons_{CO2eq}]

Appendix C-4: GHG reduction of biogenic pathways compared with only fossil-based jet fuel in [tons_{CO2eq}]

Scenario Name	Low demand	Base demand	High demand
HEFA_1	5,179,904	5,179,904	5,179,904
HEFA_2	16,758,514	16,758,514	16,758,514
HEFA_3	17,231,757	17,231,757	17,231,757
HEFA_4	88,700,710	93,592,211	94,507,649
HEFA_5	5,179,904	5,179,904	5,179,904
HEFA_6	16,758,514	16,758,514	16,758,514
HEFA_7	17,231,757	17,231,757	17,231,757
HEFA_8	55,749,804	55,749,804	55,749,804
ATJ_1	94,311,324	94,311,324	94,311,324
GFT_1	22,936,328	22,936,328	22,936,328
GFT_2	42,474,682	42,474,682	42,474,682
GFT_3	22,936,328	22,936,328	22,936,328
GFT_4	42,474,682	42,474,682	42,474,682
GFT_5	52,672,071	52,672,071	52,672,071
GFT_6	97,540,872	97,540,872	97,540,872
GFT_7	52,672,071	52,672,071	52,672,071
GFT_8	97,540,872	97,540,872	97,540,872

Appendix D: Base Demand Results

Appendix D-5: Base demand - Storage parameters for 2050 in terms of capacity, power, and E/P ratio



Energy Storage - Base Demand (2050)

■Battery ■LOHC ■Bunkering

Appendix E: Low Demand Results

Appendix E-1: Low demand - Total costs for modelled scenarios (2025-2050)



□Invest □Fixed □Variable □Fuel □Environmental □Revenue

Appendix E-2: Low demand - Primary energy mix, 2025-2050



145



Appendix E-3: Low demand - Breakdown of renewable electricity supply, 2025-2050

■Offshore windpark ■Onshore windpark ■Solar PV



Appendix E-4: Low demand - Timeline of SAF production capacities by technology at 5-yr intervals, 2025-2050



Appendix E-5: Low demand - Timeline of solar PV, onshore- and offshore wind capacities at 5-yr intervals, 2025-2050

148

Appendix E-6: Low demand - Storage parameters for 2050 in terms of capacity, power, and E/P ratio

Capacity [GWh] Power [GW] E/P Ratio [hours] 10 100 1000 10000 100000 0 20 30 40 50 10 100 1000 10000 1 10 1 Status quo low_ref New technologies low 1 909 12.9 15.640 39 Low Emissions low 2 15.640 909 15.9 low_3 12.1 15.640 909 297 3.6 low 4 12.1 1,068 CO2 price variations low 5 909 11.9 15,640 low 6 909 11.9 15.640 low 7 15,640 909 14.5 44 low 8 15,640 909 12.1 low 9 909 Fossil price variations 12.1 15,640 4.4 low 10 12.1 15,640 909 40 low 11 15,640 909 12.1 3.6 low 12 12.9 15,640 909 560 39 909 low 13 12.1 15.640 3.6 CO2 price variations low 14 12.1 15.640 36 909 25 (E-fuels only) low_15 __11.9 15,640 909 low 16 15.640 909 11.9 3.3 low 17 14.5 15,640 4.4 909 low 18 12.1 15.640 909 Fossil price variations low 19 12.1 15,640 909 278 (E-fuels only) 25 1 1 low 20 12.1 15.640 39 909 low 21 12.1 15,640 909 Carbon Budget low 22 12.3 15,640 909 468 4.3 42 Combined low 23 11.9 15,640 273 909 3.3 25

Energy Storage - Low Demand (2050)

Battery

■LOHC ■Bunkering



Appendix E-7: Low demand - Scenario-wise breakdown of co-products: diesel, naphtha, and oxygen, 2025-2050

Appendix F: High Demand Results

Appendix F-1: High demand	Total costs for modelled scenarios (2025-2050)	
---------------------------	--	--



■Invest ■Fixed ■Variable ■Fuel ■Environmental ■Revenue

Appendix F-2: High demand - Primary energy mix, 2025-2050



Primary Energy Sources - High Demand (2025-2050)

■Fossil_jet ■Biomass □Bioethanol_fallow ■Rapeseed_oil_fallow ■Rapeseed_oil_export □Electricity



Appendix F-3: High demand - Breakdown of renewable electricity supply, 2025-2050

■Offshore windpark

Onshore windpark

Solar PV



Appendix F-4: High demand - Timeline of SAF production capacities by technology at 5-yr intervals, 2025-2050



Appendix F-5: High demand - Timeline of solar PV, onshore- and offshore wind capacities at 5-yr intervals, 2025-2050

High Demand – Renewable Installed Capacity – 2025-2050

Appendix F-6: High demand - Storage parameters for 2050 in terms of capacity, power, and E/P ratio

Energy Storage - High Demand (2050)



Battery DL

■LOHC ■Bunkering



Appendix F-7: High demand - Scenario-wise breakdown of co-products: diesel, naphtha, and oxygen, 2025-2050